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DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY

In this annual report, the following expressions shall have the
following meanings unless the context requires otherwise:

“AGM”

“Articles of

Association”

“associate(s)”

“Audit Committee”
“Board”
113 BVI”

“Canggang BVI”

“Canggang
Company”

“Canggang HK”

“Canggang
Railway Line”

“Chengyu
Company”

“CG Code”

the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company to be held on 18 June 2025

the amended and restated articles of
association of the Company adopted on 18
June 2024 and as amended, supplemented
and otherwise modified from time to time

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the
Listing Rules

the audit committee of the Company
the board of directors of the Company
the British Virgin Islands

Canggang Railway International Company
Limited (RBEKEEKRERAT), a limited
liability company incorporated under the laws
of the BVI on 29 October 2018 and a wholly-
owned subsidiary of our Company

Cangzhou Canggang Railway Co., Ltd.* (&
MEBEBLAR D T) (previously known as
Huanghua Jinghai Logistics Co., Ltd. (EEx
BYIRAMRAT), a limited liability company
established under the laws of the PRC on 22
October 2009 and a wholly-owned subsidiary

of our Company

Canggang Railway (Hong Kong) Limited (878
IR (EB)BR D), a limited liability company
incorporated in Hong Kong on 5 December
2018 and a wholly-owned subsidiary of our
Company

a local freight railway line in Cangzhou,
Hebei Province, which connects Cangzhou
and Bohai New Area which contains Port
Huanghua, from Cangzhou Station (&4Nik) to
Gangkou Station (7 0 3f)

Chengyu Railway Co., Ltd.* (AMHEEFH
BAERSELT), a limited liability company
established under the laws of the PRC on
22 November 2004 which is 97.5% indirectly
owned by Mr. Liu Yongliang and 2.5% owned
by Mr. Yi. Weiming

corporate governance code contained in
Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules
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DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY
BERLkAR

“China” or “PRC”

“Controlling

Shareholder(s)”

“Company”

“Deed of Non-
competition”

“Director(s)”

“Greenport BVI”

” o«

“Group”, “our

GI’OUp”, “We”

or “us”

“HK$” and “HK
cents”

“Hong Kong”

“Jinghai BVI”

06

Canggang Railway Limited e

the People’s Republic of China excluding
for the purposes of this annual report only,
Hong Kong, the Macau Special Administrative
Region of the People’s Republic of China and
Taiwan

has the meaning ascribed to it under
the Listing Rules and unless the context
requires otherwise, refers to the controlling
shareholders of the Company, namely Jinghai
BVI and Mr. Liu Yongliang

Canggang Railway Limited (CRB#HEERA
F]) (stock code: 2169), an exempted company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands with
limited liability on 19 October 2018

a deed of non-competition dated 16 June,
2020 and entered into by the Controlling
Shareholders in favor of the Company
(for itself and as trustee for each of its
subsidiaries from time to time) regarding the
non-competition undertaking

the director(s) of the Company

Greenport Railway Limited, a limited liability
company incorporated under the laws of the
BVI on 12 October 2018 and wholly owned by
Mr. Yi Weiming

the Company and its subsidiaries from time
to time, or where the context so requires in
respect of the period before the Company
became the holding company of our present
subsidiaries, the entities which carried on the
business of the present Group at the relevant
time

Hong Kong dollars and cents respectively, the
lawful currency of Hong Kong

The Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
of the PRC

Jinghai Group Investment Limited (RiE%&
EREBRDF), a limited liability company
incorporated under the laws of the BVI on
12 October 2018 and wholly owned by Mr. Liu
Yongliang

Annual Report 2024
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“Jinghai
International”

“Listing”

“Listing Date”

“Listing Rules”

“Main Board”

“Model Code”

“Nomination
Committee”

“Prospectus”

“Puji Global”

“Puji HK”

“Reporting Period”

“Remuneration
Committee”

“RMB”

DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY

Hebei Jinghai International Logistics
Development Co., Ltd.* (At ZBEMRYIR
BRAEMRAT), a limited liability company
established under the laws of the PRC on
20 July 2017 which is owned as to 51% by
our Company and 49% by Tianjin Xinlian
International Shipping Agency Co., Ltd.* (kK
REBHEREENREBMRATE), an Independent
Third Party

the Shares were listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange

23 October 2020, since which the Shares of
the Company have been listed on the Stock
Exchange

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange

the stock exchange (excluding the option
market) operated by the Stock Exchange
which is independent from and operated in
parallel with the GEM of the Stock Exchange

the model code for securities transactions
by directors of listed issuers as set out in
Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules

the nomination committee of the Company

the prospectus of the Company dated 12
October 2020

Puji Global Limited (BBARERBRAT), a
limited liability company incorporated under
the laws of the BVI on 18 October 2018 which
is wholly-owned by the Company

sz

Puji Railway Global Holdings Limited (&
EEEIRKIZERERAE), a limited liability
company incorporated in Hong Kong on 28
December 2018 which is wholly-owned by Puiji
Global

the year ended 31 December 2024

the remuneration committee of the Company

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC
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DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY
BERAR

“Share(s)”

“Shareholder(s)”

“Stock Exchange”

“subsidiary(ies)”

“WFOE”

u%u

ordinary share(s) of HK$0.0025 each in the
share capital of the Company

the shareholder(s) of the Company

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

has the meaning ascribed to it in sections 15
of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of
the Laws of Hong Kong)

Cangzhou Railway Logistics Services
Company Limited* (EMNEEWRERRAT), a
limited liability company established under he
laws of the PRC on 14 February 2019 which is
wholly owned by Canggang HK

per cent
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Liu Yongliang
2k =
Chairman

BEFETE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | hereby present the annual report of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

2024 was an important year for the Group to stride towards its
established objectives and make an innovative development.
Throughout the year, adhering to a “Railway+” strategy-led and
market-oriented approach with efficiency as the core, and centering
on three main principles of market development, management
innovation and strategic development, the management of the
Company actively expanded markets, strictly monitored safety
management and deepened the contracting system reform. It
continued to tap into potential and enhance efficiency, made
scientific development planning and actively promoted project
construction. As such, a generally stable level of rail freight
transportation volume was maintained, achieving satisfactory
operating results.

2024 was a challenging year for the Group. Due to the volatile
international political and economic situation, the severe economic
downturn in some domestic industries, and a cyclical fluctuation
of market demand for conventional energy sources, the coal price
continued to decline with weak end-user demand. In response
to the changes in the market structure, the management of the
Company held several market analysis seminars and adjusted
the marketing strategy in a timely manner. The marketing team
adhered to the principle of overseas expansion, and maintained
a close connection with upstream and downstream customers,
to aggressively develop new supply of goods. In terms of freight
organization, we have increased our efforts in organizing iron
ore fines shipment to the west, actively expanded the supply
chain business of gravel transportation and sales, and introduced
more non-coal goods from Shuohuang Railway. By taking such
measures, the Company has basically maintained a stable level of
transportation volume.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EEETITRBE
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EEEITRBE

The marketing team seriously implemented the principles of
“overseas expansion” and “extensive investigation and research”
as instructed by the management, and carried out multiple visits
to upstream markets, including Shaanxi, Inner Mongolia, Ningxia,
Xinjiang and Gansu. These efforts aimed to engage with key
customers to promote and publicize the competitive advantages
of “Canggang Railway Line - Port Huanghua”, gather market
information, understand customer needs and explore new market
opportunities. Through our efforts, we achieved significant growth in
certain areas during the Reporting Period. In particular, rail freight
transportation of gravel reached 2.3 million tonnes, representing a
year-on-year increase of 43.8% or 0.7 million tonnes. Rail freight
transportation of ore fines totalled 3.3 million tonnes, a year-on-
year increase of 77.5% or 1.5 million tonnes. In addition, rail freight
transportation of semi-coke reached 1.3 million tonnes, marking
a year-on-year increase of 72.1% or 0.6 million tonnes. However,
during the Reporting Period, rail freight transportation of coal,
coke and oil products declined to 7.1 million tonnes, a year-on-
year decrease of 29.7% or 3.0 million tonnes. This reduction in
transportation volumes was largely offset by the significant increase
in the transportation volumes of gravel, ore fines and semi-coke.

We continued to implement the Group’s strategic plan and
worked closely with stakeholders to improve the quality of our
transportation services in Cangzhou City. In strict compliance with
the Notice of the General Office of the State Council on Issuing
the Work Plan for Promoting the Development of Multimodal
Transportation and Optimizing the Transportation Structure (2021-
2025) (BB AEEANNBIEELABERREBLARERNESE
TERZE (2021-2025%F)HEA) ), we have increased the volume of
bulk cargoes transported by rail and sea with an aim to protect the
environment. In line with the government’s plans, we have actively
engaged in the construction of the collecting and dispatching
system of the railway connecting to Port Huanghua, which further
solidified the Group’s unique position in collecting and dispatching
cargoes at Port Huanghua.

We continued to capitalize on different opportunities in the market
and managed to achieve admirable results. Our management team’s
extensive experience and profound knowledge in the transportation
and logistics industry have helped us identify and secure business
opportunities in the rail freight transportation market and have been
essential to the sustainable development of our business.

Please refer to the “BUSINESS REVIEW” section of this annual
report for the details of the Group’s performance and market
initiatives in 2024.

The rail freight transportation as our core business recorded a
relatively stable performance during the Reporting Period. We
have completed transportation of 15.4 million tonnes of cargo for
the Reporting Period, which was decreased by 3.1% or 0.5 million
tonnes from 15.9 million tonnes of cargo for the year ended 31
December 2023.
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In 2024, all employees of the Company worked together to achieve
the Company’s business objectives and responded effectively
to various risks and challenges. The Company’s marketing team
paid multiple visits to upstream markets such as Inner Mongolia,
Shaanxi, Ningxia and Xinjiang to reach out to key customers
for publicizing the advantages of the logistics channel of Port
Huanghua where our business locate and collecting market
information, so as to secure business opportunities for supply
of goods. Meanwhile, our marketing team strengthened service
awareness by implementing an account manager system, assigning
dedicated personnel for key customers and providing customized
logistics solutions, with a view to attracting suppliers and securing
customers by the provision of high quality services. Through our
efforts, we completed rail freight transportation of 3.3 million
tonnes of iron ore fines westbound during the Reporting Period,
representing a year-on-year increase of 77.5% or 1.5 million
tonnes and hitting a record for the Company; completed rail freight
transportation of 2.3 million tonnes of gravel during the Reporting
Period, representing a year-on-year increase of 43.8% or 0.7 million
tonnes; and completed rail freight transportation of 1.3 million
tonnes of semi-coke during the Reporting Period, representing a
year-on-year increase of 72.1% or 0.6 million tonnes. However, the
rail freight transportation volume of coal, coke and oil products was
7.1 million tonnes during the Reporting Period, representing a year-
on-year decrease of 29.7% or 3.0 million tonnes. Such decrease in
the transportation volume was substantially offset by the significant
increase in the transportation volume of gravel, ore fines and semi-
coke.

For the Reporting Period, the Group recorded total revenue of
RMB258.9 million, representing a decrease of 25.8% or RMB90.1
million from RMB349.0 million for 2023, mainly attributable to
a decrease of RMB21.1 million in the revenue from rail freight
transportation service and a decrease of RMB69.0 million in the
revenue from ancillary services. Our revenue from rail freight
transportation service decreased to RMB222.4 million as compared
to RMB243.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2023; and
revenue from ancillary services decreased from RMB105.5 million
for the year ended 31 December 2023 to RMB36.5 million for the
Reporting Period, which was due to the decrease in revenue from
construction services and road freight transportation resulting from
the market downturn during the Reporting Period. Our profit for the
year amounted to RMB55.1 million, representing a decrease of 5.9%
as compared to the year ended 31 December 2023, which was
primarily due to the reduction in rail freight transportation and the
decrease in average freight rates as well as the significant decline in
construction services resulting from the market downturn.

As a token of the Group’s gratitude for the support of our
Shareholders, the Board recommended the payment of a final
dividend of RMBO0.6 cent per share for the year ended 31 December
2024 (2023: RMBO0.6 cent per share). Subject to the approval of
the Shareholders in the AGM, the final dividend will be payable on
or around Wednesday, 9 July 2025 to Shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company on Friday, 27
June 2025.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EETEEHRS

We will keep our promise during the global offering of the Shares
to strengthen our market position by construction of additional
branch lines and new Special Service Lines connecting directly to
the factories and premises, improving our technology for higher
efficiency and safety of transportation. | believe our business
strategies will unswervingly lead the Group to achieve more brilliant
results in business development and other aspects. At the same
time, | have great confidence that our people will maintain their
professionalism to perform our services to keep our Group moving
forward.

Last but not least, | would like to express my sincerest appreciation
to the management team and all fellow colleagues for their
extraordinary commitment and cohesive teamwork. They are one of
our most valuable assets contributing to our success.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to
express my deepest gratitude to all of our Shareholders, customers
and other valued stakeholders for their unwavering support. We are
fully committed to upholding our position in Cangzhou as one of the
top enterprises and we aspire to strive for excellence and create
value for our stakeholders.

Liu Yongliang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group is an established and expanding local railway operator
based in Hebei Province. With our Canggang Railway Line, we have
continued to provide our customers with comprehensive services
and one-stop solutions for our freight transportation, extended
our leading position in rail freight transportation business, and
continued to maintain our leading market position in Hebei Province.
To build on this foundation, we are preparing to further expand our
railway to enhance our services to our existing customers and to
attract potential customers.

The year of 2024 was a pivotal year for the Company, marked
by a commitment to staying open-minded, embracing change,
overcoming challenges and developing with innovation despite
extremely complex and challenging market conditions. Over the
past year, the production and operations of the Company have
been under tremendous pressure and challenges due to a variety
of unfavorable factors, including prolonged decline in coal prices,
profound shifts in the market structure, the sluggish recovery of the
national macro-economy and weak end-user demand. In response
to these challenging conditions, the management of the Company
adhered to the “Railway+” strategy as a guide, closely focusing on
market development with a market-oriented and efficiency-centered
manner. We convened a number of market analysis seminars to
thoroughly analyze the market situation and formulate targeted
response measures. By adopting our business direction and
adjusting marketing strategies in a timely manner, we successfully
stabilized our operations under difficult market conditions and
maintained a healthy development trend.

The marketing team guided by the principles of “overseas
expansion” and “extensive investigation and research” as instructed
by the management, carried out multiple visits to upstream markets,
including Shaanxi, Inner Mongolia, Ningxia, Xinjiang and Gansu.
These efforts aimed to engaged with key customers to promote and
publicize the competitive advantages of “Canggang Railway Line —
Port Huanghua”, gather market information, understand customer
needs and explore new market opportunities. As a result of our
efforts, we achieved significant growth in certain areas during the
Reporting Period. In particular, rail freight transportation of gravel
reached 2.3 million tonnes, representing a year-on-year increase of
43.8% or 0.7 million tonnes. Rail freight transportation of ore fines
totalled 3.3 million tonnes, a year-on-year increase of 77.5% or
1.5 million tonnes. In addition, rail freight transportation of semi-
coke reached 1.3 million tonnes, marking a year-on-year increase of
72.1% or 0.6 million tonnes. However, during the Reporting Period,
rail freight transportation of coal, coke and oil products declined to
7.1 million tonnes, a year-on-year decrease of 29.7% or 3.0 million
tonnes. This reduction in transportation volumes was largely offset
by the significant increase in the transportation volumes of gravel,
ore fines and semi-coke.

During the Reporting Period, we completed a total transportation of
15.4 million tonnes of cargo, representing a decrease of 3.1% or 0.5
million tonnes compared to 15.9 million tonnes for the year ended
31 December 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWmE D

As at 31 December 2024, we operated one local railway, the
Canggang Railway Line. One of our business strategies is to
construct an additional branch line to expand our business scale,
including the expansion of our geographic presence and business
to the Comprehensive Industrial Park in Bohai New Area. We
have obtained the approval from the Development and Reform
Commission of Hebei Province in relation to the construction of
the new branch line in January 2024 and have commenced its
construction at the end of 2024.

We are also in the process of upgrading and renovating the relevant

infrastructure of our Canggang Railway Line to enhance safety and
increase the overall capacity of our railway operations.

Revenue

B E2024F12831H » XA A KL —Fib 7
HiE o REE HRMEF —EHEKKRKIE
BEFLIHUBEREKAE  SEEHRMO
BHEEHENEREREYBESRSEXE
EoZRMEM2024F 1B EEFIEMET
ST BBRRERENRE  YR2024F KA
BT o

BMTEEARRBHABRNEBEER - U
ReEREENTEZERERAERD -

W
For the year ended 31 December

BZE12A31ALEE
2024 2023
2024 20234

RMB in thousands, other than percentages

ARETFT  BDEES

Rail freight transportation #HiKEE 222,443 85.9% 243,523 69.8%
Ancillary services & B AR 7%
Loading and unloading gl 27,473 10.6% 25,748 7.4%
Road freight transportation BEREE 939 0.4% 5,462 1.5%
Construction, maintenance and EER - RERMES
repair 6,963 2.7% 70,209 20.1%
Others Hib 1,116 0.4% 4,106 1.2%
Subtotal PNET 36,491 14.1% 105,525 30.2%
Total BEt 258,934 100% 349,048 100%

Our revenue decreased by 25.8% or RMB90.1 million from
RMB349.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to
RMB258.9 million for the Reporting Period. The decrease
was primarily due to the decrease in revenue from rail freight
transportation of RMB21.1 million and ancillary businesses of
RMB69.0 million.

Our revenue from rail freight transportation decreased by 8.7%
or RMB21.1 million from RMB243.5 million for the year ended 31
December 2023 to RMB222.4 million for the Reporting Period,
mainly due to the reduction in the transportation of coal resulting
from a decrease in market demand for coal in 2024, but the impact
of the reduction in the transportation of coal was partially offset by
the higher degree of growth of the transportation of gravel, ore fines
and semi-coke.

14 Canggang Railway Limited e Annual Report 2024

KM EE E2023F12831BLEEER
AR #349.08 & TR 225.8% 5 A B #90.1
AERTEREHANARK2589H5E T £
EHNEREBRERVARB21I18E T
FEHBEBRERL ARBE9.068E T °

AP Ay 8 3% 5 B W % A AL £20235F12831H
LEFEFENARB2435BB T THRE7THHAR
HMOI1EBRAEZREHANARK2248E
Tt FERR2024FEZERTHERBIH
FE 2 HRESHLD  BYAR  EAHBNE
MEEANEREESRER  BoBEETHERES
BOERNSTE -



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Our revenue from ancillary businesses decreased by 65.4% or
RMB69.0 million from RMB105.5 million for the year ended 31
December 2023 to RMB36.5 million for the Reporting Period.
This decrease in revenue from ancillary businesses was primarily
attributable to the decline in revenue from construction services
(our revenue from construction, maintenance and repair was
RMB7.0 million for the Reporting Period, representing a decrease
of RMB63.2 million from RMB70.2 million for the year ended 31
December 2023, which was mainly because we undertook the
construction of a special railway line for our customer of RMB62.4
million for the year ended 31 December 2023) and revenue from
road freight transportation during the Reporting Period as a result of
the market downturn.

Operating expenses

Our operating expenses include staff costs, outsourcing service
charges and other labor costs, cargo logistics, depreciation,
fuel used, repairs and maintenance, general and administration
expenses, impairment loss on trade receivables and other
expenses. Operating expenses decreased by 20.8% or RMB50.7
million from RMB244.3 million for the year ended 31 December
2023 to RMB193.6 million for the Reporting Period. This decrease
in operating expenses was primarily due to a decline in the
construction business during the Reporting Period, which resulted
in a reduction in other expenses, outsourcing service charges and
other labor costs totalling RMB36.3 million. During the Reporting
Period, our operating expenses decreased by approximately
RMB14.0 million due to a reduction in rail freight transportation
and the implementation of initiatives by the Company to reduce
manpower, expenditure and consumption while enhancing
efficiency.

To improve the Company’s liquidity, we have maintained strict
control over outstanding receivables with our senior management
regularly reviewing overdue balances to mitigate our credit risk.
As a result of these efforts, the recovery of our trade receivables
was satisfactory, with a reversal of impairment of trade receivables
amounting to RMBO0.1 million. Additionally our trade and bills
receivables increased by 13.9% or RMB9.9 million from RMB71.4
million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to RMB81.3 million for
the Reporting Period.

Other income, net

Our other income, net increased by 752.1% or RMB36.1 million
from RMB4.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to
RMB40.9 million for the Reporting Period, primarily due to the
income generated from trading business and the increase in fair
value gains on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
during the Reporting Period, compared with the corresponding
period last year.

Segment result and segment margin

For our rail freight transportation, the segment result was RMB105.7
million and RMB93.4 million and the segment margin was 43.4%
and 42.0%, for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2024,
respectively. The decrease in segment result and segment margin
was primarily due to the reduction in rail freight transportation and
the decrease in average freight rates.

RN i

HEERWFEREE2023F12A31HLEEERN
ARM105.58 B TR 265.4%5 A K #69.0
BEREREHANVARYEI65BE T © HEY
EBUNERLETEHRBEHRBARTELS
RERERRB WS (B E2023F128318 1k
FEERER RERHEBWUZARET70.2H
B REHRERARKTOEET BT
ARM63.2HE L TEFRRAEZEE20235F12
BA31ALEERMEAETEF—EARKG62.4
BETNERERASIERAZ) NMBEREEK
HRADFTE -

KEREX

KW ELHETEFEIRNER - INEBREE
FEMEBE ORA - EEYR - ITE -~ AR
B HEBRRE  —BRRITHEX BEZER
FIERESEEUREMREY - KERIHES
2023F12A31A L FEFENARE24438E T
THE20.8%FARMES0.7TAETEREHAMN
AR¥1936EE T - KERMITHREERR
EHANHNREREETBREEMESX - /M
BREEREMEE IRETEGHFAD ARYS36.3
BEL, REHAEREREEN RO URK
AEETHEEN HXRESERAFERLE
THEFROAREYN14.08E T ©

BUEARTNRBESIR  ROERWE
EWFHEESBEES SREEBISTE
HmRAEs RMERKEERR - £BE
H o BEZRWRERFERRL  EZEWRK
EREREARK0IEET o RIRER
A AEENEZERRERERZEEAR
81 3EET » WEE2023F12A31HLFE
MARBT1ABETEMI3.9%HARKIIT

i —

=T °

HabWg A BEE

R EAR A FREREZE2023F128318 1
FENARMBISEETIEM752.1% R AR
B.IHELEZEREHANAREELI09HE T
FEEANBFEPRNELZFRBAMEL  E5%
BUAREBEZEAFETENEREEN
DNFEW IR -

DPEEBER D EFHE

FEREEMS » B E£2023%F K2024F12A
BIHLEFENDHEED N AARE105.78
BEARARMISAHEE L MaBFBEXAS
Bl 543.4%K%42.0% c DEPEB R D HRE =R
THREIEZHNREREERLUREYFIIE
BEEREAH -

REBHBERAT o 2024F F5H 15



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWmE D

For our ancillary businesses, the segment result amounted to
RMB10.9 million and loss of RMB18.1 million and the segment
margin amounted to 10.3% and -49.7%, for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2024, respectively. The decrease in segment
result and segment margin was mainly attributable to the significant
decline in the construction services business as a result of market
downturn. Further, less revenue was generated from our road
freight transportation business, which has high fixed cost due to the
depreciation of vehicles.

Finance costs

Our finance costs increased by 19.0% or RMB4.7 million from
RMB24.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to RMB29.6
million for the Reporting Period, mainly due to the increase in
borrowing.

Income tax expense

Our income tax expense decreased by 17.4% or RMB4.5 million
from RMB26.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2023
to RMB21.6 million for the Reporting Period mainly due to the
decrease in profit. Our effective tax rate decreased by 2.7% from
30.8% for the year ended 31 December 2023 to 28.1% for the
Reporting Period, which was mainly because the fair value gains on
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are not taxable.

Profit for the year and net profit margin

As a result of the foregoing, our profit for the year decreased by
5.9% or RMB3.5 million from RMB58.6 million for year ended 31
December 2023 to RMB55.1 million for the Reporting Period. Our
net profit margin increased from 16.8% for the year ended 31
December 2023 to 21.3% for the Reporting Period. The increase in
net profit margin was mainly due to lower operating expenses and
fair value gains on financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had net current assets of
approximately RMB127.0 million (2023: net current assets of
approximately RMB82.3 million). The Group continued to maintain
a strong financial position. During the Reporting Period, our cash
and cash equivalent increased by RMB43.6 million to RMB156.0
million as at 31 December 2024 from RMB112.4 million as at 31
December 2023, which was mainly due to our increase in loan
financing. With our steady cash generated from operations and the
banking facilities available to the Group, we have adequate financial
resources to meet our working capital needs as well as to fund our
budgeted construction and upgrade plans in 2025 and 2026.

As at 31 December 2024, our interest-bearing borrowings amounted
to RMB521.8 million, of which RMB364.6 million was long-term
borrowing. We had unutilized credit facilities from banks and other
financial institutions of RMB45.0 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The gearing ratio, which is calculated by dividing total debt
(being bank and other loans) by total equity as at the end date
of the respective year and multiplying the result by 100%, was
approximately 64.7% as at 31 December 2024 (2023: 63.6%). The
increase was mainly attributable to the increase in the closing
balance of bank and other loans.

Pledge of assets

As at 31 December 2024, RMB7.0 million property, plant and
equipment (2023: RMB7.3 million) were pledged for our bank loans.
Also, our property, plant and equipment with carrying amount of
approximately RMB190.2 million (2023: RMB127.9 million) were
pledged for our other loans.

As at 31 December 2024, a certain portion of our right-of-use assets
with carrying amount of approximately RMB103.6 million (2023:
RMB112.4 million) were pledged for our bank loans, and no right-of-
use assets (2023: nil) were pledged for our other loans.

Contingent liabilities
As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any contingent
liabilities.

Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in the PRC with most of the transactions
denominated and settled in RMB. It is expected that the Group will
not be subject to any material adverse effects arising from exchange
rate fluctuation except for a few listing compliance transactions
as well as the settlement of dividend and demand deposits in
Hong Kong dollars. The Group currently does not have any foreign
currency hedging policies. Nevertheless, the Group will continue to
monitor foreign exchange risk exposure and will take appropriate
action when needed.

Capital Expenditure

During the Reporting Period, we have invested RMB77.7 million for
our capital expenditure which were mainly related to upgrading and
renovating the relevant infrastructure of our Canggang Railway Line.
We financed our capital expenditure through the proceeds from the
global offering of the Company, cash generated from operations and
banking facilities.

Capital Commitments

As at 31 December 2024, our outstanding capital commitments
in respect of property, plant and equipment amounted to
approximately RMB61.2 million (2023: RMB2.1 million). Save as
disclosed in this annual report, we did not have any other material
capital commitment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWmE D

Save as disclosed in this annual report and the Prospectus, there
were no significant investments held by the Group during the
Reporting Period, nor was there any material acquisition or disposal
of subsidiaries, associates and joint venture during the Reporting
Period. Save as disclosed in this annual report and the Prospectus,
there was no other plan for significant investments or additions of
capital assets as at 31 December 2024.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities (including treasury
shares as defined in the Listing Rules) during the Reporting Period.
As at 31 December 2024, the Company did not hold any treasury
shares.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Group did not have any
other material subsequent event after the Reporting Period and up
to the date of this annual report.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 648 employees (2023: 666
employees) (including two executive Directors but excluding three
independent non-executive Directors).

The Group offers attractive remuneration package to the employees
as the Directors believe the consistency and quality of our staff is
the key to success. In order to retain our staff and motivate them
for better performance, the remuneration package, including basic
salary and other employee benefits such as bonus, is reviewed
annually according to employee individual performance. We are
also committed to provide a caring environment to retain our staff
and to enable better performance. We provided sufficient trainings
and persuaded our staffs to attend other courses to maintain their
professionalism and qualifications.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Mr. Liu Yongliang (2/7k %), aged 58

Executive Director and Chairman

Mr. Liu, the founder of our Group, was appointed as a Director
on 19 October 2018 and designated as an executive Director on
20 September 2019. He was appointed as the chairman of the
Board on 25 September 2019 and the chairman of the Nomination
Committee with effect from 23 October 2020. Mr. Liu is currently
the director of each of our Company’s subsidiaries (except Jinghai
International), namely, Canggang BVI, Puji Global, Canggang
HK, Puji HK, Canggang Company and WFOE. He has been the
chairman of the board of directors of Canggang Company since
October 2009 and he is responsible for overall management and
strategic development of our Group. Mr. Liu has more than 17
years of experience in transportation services. Prior to founding our
Group in 2009, Mr. Liu also invested in various industries including
coal trading, industrial property investment and storage and
transportation.

Mr. Liu graduated from Naval Engineering University, Tianjin
Campus* (BEIRKEBRERE) (formerly known as People’s
Liberation Army Navy, Logistics College* (TEIARBHESRE
#%EEPR)) in Tianjin, the PRC in July 1991 where he completed
his tertiary education in financial management. He obtained his
bachelor’s degree in economic management from the Open College
of Central Communist Party School* (FHAREREZZER) in
Beijing, the PRC in December 1995. He graduated from Chinese
Academy of Social Sciences* (FEI*t&HRIZ%) in Beijing, the PRC
in October 1999 where he completed his postgraduate education
in finance. Mr. Liu attended the Post Executive Master of Business
Administration courses at Peking University in Beijing, the PRC from
April 2012 to January 2014.

Mr. Yi Weiming (& #87), aged 60

Executive Director, chief executive officer and chief financial officer
Mr. Yi was appointed as an executive Director, chief executive
officer and chief financial officer of our Company on 20 September
2019, 25 September 2019 and 18 October 2021, respectively. Mr. Yi
has more than 15 years of experience in transportation services
and 13 years of experience in investment management. He has
been a director and a general manager of Canggang Company
since October 2009 and is responsible for the overall operation
and management of the Group; and the chief financial officer since
October 2021.

Mr. Yi obtained his bachelor degree in science and economics from
Nankai University (FABKZ2) in Tianjin, the PRC in July 1987. Mr. Yi
also obtained his master’s degree and doctoral degree in economics
from Nankai University (F8B8AKE) in Tianjin, the PRC in June 1990
and June 1995, respectively.

Mr. Yi served at Department of International Economics at Nankai
University (FEBIARE) from September 1990 to June 1998 and was
appointed as the deputy professor in 1996, primarily teaching courses
such as international economics and responsible for relevant academic
research. He was then engaged in the financial industry between June
1998 and November 2007 where he was primarily engaged in business
of investment management in the PRC.
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Non-executive Directors

Mr. Xu Zhihua (&% %) (with former name as Xu Zhihua (& & %)),
aged 73

Mr. Xu was appointed as a non-executive Director on 20 September
2019 and a member of each of the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee with effect from 23
October 2020. Mr. Xu has more than 16 years of experience in
railway transportation and logistics services. Mr. Xu has been an
executive director of Chengyu Company since November 2007. He
is responsible for providing opinion and judgment to our Board.

Mr. Xu graduated from Jilin University (FMXZ) in Jilin Province,
the PRC with a junior college degree in political science in October
1988. Mr. Xu was awarded as the ‘“‘Labor Model of the Logistics
Industry in China (ZBI¥)RITHS E1#EE0)” by Human Resources
and Social Security Department (A NERMEEREEL) and China
Federation of Logistics & Purchasing (FEIYIRERBHSE) in
December 2011.

Mr. Qin Shaobo (£ 18), aged 42

Mr. Qin was appointed as a non-executive Director on 20
September 2019. Mr. Qin has more than 11 years of experience in
investment management. Mr. Qin has been a director of Canggang
Company since May 2016. He is responsible for providing opinion
and judgment to our Board.

Mr. Qin graduated from China University of Political Science and
Law* (FEIBUEKE) in Beijing, the PRC with a master’s degree
in law in June 2007. Mr. Qin obtained his legal professional
qualification certificate* (EEHZEE K FEF) issued by China Ministry
of Justice of the PRC in February 2009.

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Liu Changchun (2| %) (“Mr. CC Liu”), aged 66

Mr. CC Liu was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
on 20 September 2019 and the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and a member of each of the Audit Committee and the
Nomination Committee with effect from 23 October 2020. Mr. CC
Liu has more than 25 years experiences in energy industry. He
is responsible for overseeing management independently and
providing independent advice to our Board.

Mr. CC Liu graduated from the Harbin Normal University* (%45
SEEMEIRE) in Heilongjiang Province, the PRC with a bachelor’s
degree in Chinese language and literature education in December
1999 (through long distance learning). Mr. CC Liu completed
a postgraduate course in corporate management from Capital
University of Economics and Business (B ##& & & 5 KX £) in Beijing,
the PRC in November 2002. Mr. CC Liu received the certificate of
senior economist in February 2004 from the General Equipment
Department of the People’s Liberation Army (FEIARBHEARE
B
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Mr. Zhao Changsong (i K #2), aged 59

Mr. Zhao was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 20 September 2019. Mr. Zhao has more than 33 years
experiences in legal services and he is responsible for overseeing
management independently and providing independent advice to
our Board.

Mr. Zhao graduated from Hebei University* (At KE) in Hebei
Province, the PRC with a bachelor’s degree in law in July 1986.
Mr. Zhao completed his master’s course in economic management
from Hebei Party School of China Communist Party* (FR&SAdt&
ZER) in Hebei Province, the PRC in December 2001. Mr. Zhao
obtained his lawyer qualification certificate (ZETEHKEZE) from
Hebei Provincial Department of Justice ((AIdt & T];%E8) in April 19809.

Ms. Lyu Qinghua (2 ’5%), aged 50

Ms. Lyu was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
on 20 September 2019 and the chairwoman of the Audit Committee
and a member of the Remuneration Committee with effect from
23 October 2020. Ms. Lyu has more than 29 years experiences
in accounting and auditing. She is responsible for overseeing
management independently and providing independent advice to
our Board.

Ms. Lyu graduated from the Hebei Economic and Trade College*
(At &ZE Zz) in Hebei Province, the PRC where she completed
a tertiary course in finance and accounting in July 1994. Ms. Lyu
obtained the accounting qualification (intermediate level) (FHRE
51) from the Ministry of Finance of the PRC in May 2002 and the
certificate of Certified Public Accountant from Hebei Institute of
Certified Public Accountants in June 2009.
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Mr. Li Juncheng (£ 2£) (with former name as Li Shuhai (Z1
F)), aged 43

Mr. Li was appointed as our joint company secretary on 25
September 2019.

Mr. Li joined the Group in December 2014 as the deputy director
of the finance department of Canggang Company. He was then
promoted as the director of equity investment department in July
2019 and was appointed as the secretary of our Board in October
2024. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Li was employed by Chengyu
Company from February 2008 to December 2014, and last occupied
the position of deputy head of the finance department. Mr. Li
graduated from Hebei University (it X&) in Hebei Province, the
PRC with a bachelor’s degree in law in June 2007; and graduated
from Yanka Kupala State University of Grodno, Belarus with a
master’s degree in economics in October 2022.

Mr. Li Juncheng (Z& £) (with former name as Li Shuhai (Z%/5))
Mr. Li is our joint company secretary. Please refer to “BOARD OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT - SENIOR MANAGEMENT”
for his biographical details.

Ms. Lam Wing Chi (t$5%)
Ms. Lam was appointed as our joint company secretary on 18
October 2021.

Ms. Lam is currently a senior manager of Corporate Services
Division of Tricor Services Limited. Ms. Lam has over 11 years of
experience in the corporate secretarial field and has been providing
professional corporate services to Hong Kong listed companies
as well as multinational, private and offshore companies. Ms. Lam
is a Chartered Secretary, a Chartered Governance Professional
and an associate of both The Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute (formerly known as The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries) and The Chartered Governance Institute.
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Since the Listing of our Shares on the Stock Exchange on 23
October 2020, the Company has been committed to maintaining
high standard of corporate governance. The Board believes that
good corporate governance is the basis in ensuring the proper
management in the interest of all our shareholders and other
stakeholders. Improvement of the corporate governance is a long
and systematic project, which requires strong commitment and
perseverance. As it always has, the Company will continuously
improve the risk assessment and monitoring procedures, internal
control policy, enhancing our transparency and disclosures
quality to our shareholders to promote the sustainable and
robust development of the Company in light of evolving business
and regulatory environment and to meet the expectations of
stakeholders.

The Group is an established and expanding local railway operator
based in Hebei Province. With our Canggang Railway Line, we
continue to provide our customers with comprehensive services
and one-stop solutions of our freight transportation. As a listed
company, we are committed to providing high-quality and
reliable services, creating value through sustainable growth and
development.

The Group has set out the following values to provide guidance
on employees’ conduct and behaviours as well as the business
activities, and to ensure they are embedded throughout the
Company’s vision, mission, and business strategies:

(a) Objective - Serving local economy, building a century-old
railway

(b) Vision - Creating value for customers, fostering well-being
for employees, generating benefits for the Company, creating
wealth for society

(c) Philosophy - Operating in compliance with laws, upholding
integrity, prioritising safety, putting service first
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(d) Spirit - Pursuing truth, pragmatism, and excellence, working
together for development

(e) Core value - Rooted in safety, people-oriented, integrity first,
virtuous conduct and professionalism

The Group will continuously review and adjust, if necessary,
its business strategies and keep track of the changing market
conditions to ensure prompt and proactive measures will be taken
to respond to the changes and meet the market needs to foster the
sustainability of the Group.

This annual report possess the corporate governance best practices
that the Company has adopted and highlights how the Company
has applied the principles of the code provisions set out in the CG
Code to the Listing Rules.

During the Reporting Period, the Company has complied with all
the applicable code provisions under the CG Code as set out in
Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules.

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix
C3 to the Listing Rules. Specific enquiry has been made to all the
Directors, all the Directors have confirmed that they have complied
with the required standard set out in Model Code during the
Reporting Period.
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Overall Management

Our Board is responsible for and has general power over the
management and conduct of our business. The powers and duties
of our Board are conferred by our Articles of Association. The Board
has delegated the day-to-day management and operations of the
Company’s business to the management, and focuses its attention
on matters affecting the Company’s overall strategic policies,
corporate governance, finances and shareholders. These include
review of the annual financial budgets, financial statements and
the significant changes in accounting policy, corporate governance
functions, dividend policy, risk management and internal control
systems and draw up strategies for future growth and major
investments.

The Board has delegated the responsibilities as set out in the
respective terms of reference to the three Board committees,
namely the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee.

Composition of the Board

A list of directors and their roles and functions is available on the
respective websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
The Board currently consists of seven Directors with the following
composition:

INEDs, 3
B IERAT
E% 3%

Executive Directors (“ED”)
Mr. Liu Yongliang

(Chairmen of the Board and Nomination Committee)
Mr. Yi Weiming (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive Directors (“NED”)
Mr. Xu Zhihua
Mr. Qin Shaobo

Independent non-executive Directors (“INED”)

Mr. Liu Changchun (Chairman of Remuneration Committee)
Mr. Zhao Changsong

Ms. Lyu Qinghua (Chairwoman of Audit Committee)
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The Board currently has seven members, made up of three INEDs,
two NEDs and two EDs. As shown in the above chart, the number of
INEDs currently comprises more than one-third of the Board, which
is above the Listing Rules 3.10A requirement. During the Reporting
Period, the Board has met at all times the requirements under rules
3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment
of at least three independent non-executive directors with at least
one independent non-executive director possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise. Biographical details of the Directors are
set out in the chapter headed “Directors and Senior Management”
of this annual report. None of the Board members have financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationships with each
other Board members. In addition, none of the Board member holds
seven (or more) directorships in listed companies (including the
Company) or holds any cross directorships during the Reporting
Period.

There is a diverse business and professional backgrounds for the
Board, whose members actively bring their experience for promoting
the best interest of the Company and its Shareholders. The INEDs
also ensure the Board considered the interest of the Shareholder
in considering the business objective of the Company and a high
standard of regulatory reporting. During the Reporting Period, the
Board at all time has met the requirements of the Listing Rules
relating to the appointment of at least three INEDs and one of whom
possess of appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise. The composition
of the Board emphasis the decisions reached are balance and
independent.

For the Reporting Period, the Company has reviewed the
independence of each of the INEDs in light of the requirements
under the Listing Rule. The Nomination Committee assessed the
independence of the INEDs and considered each of them to be
independent.

Board meetings

The Company plans at least four Board meetings at approximately
quarterly intervals to discuss the Company’s operations. Additional
meetings will be arranged if and when required. Each Board
member ensures that he/she can give sufficient time and attention
to the Company’s development and contribute to the Company’s
strategies and financial performance through constructive
comments.

The Joint Company Secretaries (as defined below) ensure the
procedures for holding the Board meetings are complied with all
applicable rules and regulations and they keep the Board minutes
for Directors’ inspection with unrestricted access rights, and have
the liberty to seek external professional advice upon reasonable
request.
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The attendance record of the Members of the Board at meetings
The attendance records of the Directors at the Board meetings,
Board committee meetings and general meetings held during the
Reporting Period are set out below:

AN " - NN
TEERRE
EESRENSSZHERE

ESRBEHATERTESEER  EEEE
SERRRRAENEFELEEHIINT

Attendance/Number of meetings

e/ eERY
Board Audit Remuneration Nomination General
Meeting Committee Committee Committee meeting
Ezgss ENZES yMzES REZ88 L
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Liu Yongliang YxREE 5/5 - - 11 11
Mr. Yi Weiming RAERTE 5/5 - - - 11
Non-executive Directors FHUTES
Mr. Xu Zhihua BEERE 5/5 3/3 17 17 17
Mr. Qin Shaobo ROBEE 5/5 - - - 11
Independent non-executive Directors BIFHTES
Mr. Liu Changchun ARERE 5/5 3/3 1/1 11 11
Mr. Zhao Changsong BROLEE 5/5 - - - 111
Ms. Lyu Qinghua BEERL 5/5 3/3 1 - 1/1

Apart from regular Board meetings, the chairman also held a
meeting with the independent non-executive Directors without the
presence of other Directors during the Reporting Period.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
The positions of the chairman of the Board and the chief executive
officer are distinct and separate.

Mr. Liu Yongliang is the chairman of the Board who is responsible
for chairing and managing the operations of the Board, ensuring
adequate information is provided to the Board on a timely basis,
encouraging members of the Board to make effective contribution
in the Board meetings, monitoring the performance of the chief
executive officer and establishing good corporate governance
practices and procedures.

Mr. Yi Weiming is the chief executive officer of our Company
who is responsible for the overall administrative and operational
management of the Company, implementation of annual business
plans, investment proposal of the Company and responsible for
performing a bridging function between the Board and the senior
management.
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During the Reporting Period, the Company has established a board
independence evaluation mechanism which sets out the processes
and procedures to ensure a strong independent element on the
Board, which allows the Board effectively exercises independent
judgment to better safeguard Shareholders’ interests.

The objectives of the evaluation are to improve Board effectiveness,
maximise strengths, and identify the areas that need improvement
or further development. The evaluation process also clarifies what
actions of the Company need to be taken to maintain and improve
the Board performance, for instance, addressing individual training
and development needs of each Director.

Pursuant to the board independence evaluation mechanism, the
board will conduct annual review on its independence. The board
independence evaluation report will be presented to the Board
which will collectively discuss the results and the action plan for
improvement, if appropriate.

During the Reporting Period, all Directors has completed the
independence evaluation in the form of a questionnaire individually.
The Board independence evaluation report was presented to the
Board and the evaluation results were satisfactory.

During the Reporting Period, the Board reviewed the implementation
and effectiveness of the Board Independence Evaluation Mechanism
and the results were satisfactory.

The Company has adopted the board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) which sets out the objective and approach to
achieve and maintain diversity on the Board in order to enhance the
effectiveness of the Board. The Board Diversity Policy provides that
the Company should endeavor to ensure that the Board members
have the appropriate balance of skills, experience and diversity
of perspectives that are required to support the execution of the
Company’s business strategy. Pursuant to the Board Diversity
Policy, selection of candidates for Directors will be based in a range
of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to professional
experience, gender, age, culture, independence, educational
background, knowledge, expertise and length of service. The
ultimate decision of the appointment will be based on merit and
the contribution which the selected candidates will bring to the
Board. The Board believes that such merit-based appointments
will best enable the Company to serve the Shareholders and other
stakeholders going forward.
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For the purpose of implementation of the Board Diversity Policy, the AZEZEEEZt{tBE  THHUE2EER
following measurable objectives were adopted: ERHp

(A) at least one of members of the Board shall be female; A EL—RESEHREERLMN

(B) at least 25% of the members of the Board shall be non- (B) EA25%EEEREAREHTES ;
executive Directors;

The Board is committed to improving the diversity of the Board and EZE€HHHEHZ TILIER @ W EERK L
has achieved the above objectives. BiZ o

An analysis of the Board’s current composition based on the RIEAFTEEEHESTSHRBAXBRETH

measurable objectives is set out below: DWEYANT :
GENDER DESIGNATION AGE GROUP
4 5l B 7 Fie R

B Male W Female B INED ™ NED B Below 50 W 60-64
el g3 BAUFRTESF EMITESE 505 T 60-645%
m ED W 50-54 65 or above
HITES 50-5475% 655 A L
B 55-59
55-595%
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Gender Diversity

The Company values gender diversity across all levels of the Group.
The following table sets out the gender ratio in the workforce of the
Group, including the Board and senior management as at the date
of this annual report:

R 2 i
RABRERAEBZHAROMRZ T - TR
HIARERAFHRAMETER (BREE
EERSREER) ML

Female Male

i B

Board EE A 14% (1) 86% (6)
Senior Management SNEERE 0% (0) 100% (1)
Other employees Eﬂﬂﬁﬁ 6% (39) 94% (601)
Overall workforce HEESTEX 6% (40) 94% (608)

The Board had targeted to achieve and had achieved at least
14% (1) of female Director and 6% (40) of female employees of
the Group. For senior management, as the Group has only one
member in senior management (who is a male), diversity in gender is
currently not applicable. The Group considers that the above current
gender diversity is satisfactory.

Details on the gender ratio of the Group together with relevant data
can be found in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report
on pages 63 to 65 of this annual report.

The Board will continue to take steps to promote gender diversity
at all levels of the Company, including but not limited to the Board
and the senior management levels. While the gender diversity
at the Board level can be improved given the majority of the
Directors are male, the Board will continue to apply the principle of
appointments based on merits with reference to the Board Diversity
Policy as a whole. The Board would also ensure that appropriate
balance of gender diversity is achieved with reference to investors’
expectation, and international and local recommended best
practices.
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The Board reviews the Board Diversity Policy on a regular basis
to ensure its continued effectiveness. The Board believes that the
current composition of the Board is in line with the Board Diversity
Policy and the Board Diversity Policy is appropriate.

Our Nomination Committee will: (1) report annually, in the Corporate
Governance Report contained in our annual report, on the Board’s
composition under diversified perspectives, and monitor the
implementation of our Board Diversity Policy; and (2) review our
Board Diversity Policy, as appropriate, to ensure effectiveness of
the policy and discuss any revisions that may be required, and
recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration and
approval.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established with written terms of
reference in compliance with the CG Code. The primary duties
of the Audit Committee include, among other things, reviewing
and supervising our financial reporting process and internal
control system of the Group, overseeing the audit process, risk
management process and external audit functions. The Audit
Committee consists of three members, namely, Ms. Lyu Qinghua,
Mr. Xu Zhihua and Mr. CC Liu. The chairwoman of the Audit
Committee is Ms. Lyu Qinghua. None of the Audit Committee
members are employed by or otherwise affiliated with the auditors
of the Company.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee held 3 meetings.
During the meetings, the Audit Committee completed the following:

Internal Audit and Governance
- Reviewed the Group’s Internal Audit Charter

—  Reviewed the Group’s internal audit plan

— Reviewed the efficient and effectiveness of the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems and its internal audit
functions

External Auditors and Financial Reporting
- Reviewed and approved the fee proposal of HLB Hodgson
Impey Cheng Limited (“HLB”) for the annual audit

- Reviewed the Company’s annual results for the year ended 31
December 2023 and interim results for the six months ended 30
June 2024

- Reviewed changes in accounting principles and practices
proposed by management

- Reviewed, with both the external auditors and management, the
audit approach and methodology applied, in particular to the
Key Audit Matters, for 2024 annual audit

The Audit Committee has also reviewed the annual results of the
Company for the Reporting Period. The Audit Committee was
satisfied with HLB’s work, its independence, and its objectivity,
and therefore recommended the re-appointment of HLB (which has
indicated its willingness to continue in office) as the Company’s
external auditors for 2025 for Shareholders’ approval at the AGM.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established with written terms
of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The primary duties
of the Remuneration Committee include, among other things,
making recommendations to the Board on our Company’s policy
and structure concerning the remuneration of our Directors and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy, reviewing
and approving performance based remuneration by reference to
their duties and responsibilities, performance, corporate goals and
objectives, to determine the terms of the specific remuneration
package of each executive Director and senior management and
to ensure none of our Directors determine their own remuneration.
The Remuneration Committee consists of three members, namely
Ms. Lyu Qinghua, Mr. CC Liu and Mr. Xu Zhihua. The chairman of
the Remuneration Committee is Mr. CC Liu.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee held 1
meeting. During the meeting, the Remuneration Committee reviewed
the remuneration packages of the EDs, NEDs and INEDs with
reference to their responsibilities, workload and performance of the
Company.

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme (as defined in
the Report of the Directors) and 2022 Share Award Scheme. During
the Reporting Period, there were no material matters relating to the
Share Option Scheme and 2022 Share Award Scheme that require
the review and approval by the Remuneration Committee.

The remuneration of the senior management of the Company (other
than Directors) during the Reporting Period, by band is set out
below:

FrNsEE

Remuneration Band

yHEES

ARBERIFMEES  URBEEXERT
AR EHERBESE FHEESNIEH
SEEE (ERRM)BRADANEERSRE
I BN R N ZR AR AR R E BN R 2
NIERRBERNEFAESSRMEEE 2T
Rt ESZHBBENBE - RR - RALHR
BEREENRRHNGH BEEEATESM
BREEENAERHIN L RIRK - LHEARE
ESETHABATH FMESSH=EKRE
B BEREZLT - HRBELERBTES
£ -FHEEETFERIARELE

REEHR FHESSBETIRNERZ R
SRHE FHMEESC2ZTHUTES  FH
TEERBIYFYTEBANRT L ARAE
B IHERKE BHRSHFHEGSE -

AABCRABRETS (ERERESERE)
K2022F R REET & - RI|EH R - WLHEAE
fE2RE IR ST 8 2022 F R 10 SR BT BB B A
EXASRFEFMNEESEERME -

BEMRARQRASREZEREE B 2 893
AT -

Number of individuals

AE

Nil to RMB1,000,000 ZFz AE#1,000,0007T

Further details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five
highest paid individuals of the Group are set out in notes 8 and 9 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established with written terms of
reference in compliance with the CG Code. The primary duties of
the Nomination Committee include, among other things, reviewing
the structure, size and composition of the Board and our Board
Diversity Policy and making recommendations to our Board on the
appointment of members of the Board. The Nomination Committee
consists of three members, namely, Mr. Liu Yongliang, Mr. Xu
Zhihua and Mr. CC Liu. The chairman of the Nomination Committee
is Mr. Liu Yongliang.

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee held 1
meeting. During the meeting, the Nomination Committee reviewed
the independence of the INEDs and has also conducted an annual
review of the current structure, size, skillset and composition of
the Board and considered remaining the same composition is
appropriate in light of the Company’s strategy.
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The Nomination Committee concluded the Board currently
possesses of a balanced skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives and is appropriate for continuing to support the
execution of the Company’s business strategies in an efficient and
effective manner.

The nomination policy of the Company document the procedures
and practices approved by the Board applicable to both new
appointments and re-appointment in accordance with the Articles
of Association. The Board has delegated the authority to the
Nomination Committee to identify and assess potential candidates
who are eligible to become a member of the Board. To identify the
suitable candidates, the Nomination Committee will consider the
Company’s strategy; the structure, size, composition and needs
of the Board; the required skills, qualification and experience of
the candidates; and the independence of the candidate who is
proposed to be the INED of the Board. The Nomination Committee
is vested with discretion to take into account such other factors that
it may consider appropriate.

In relation to the appointments of the Directors, the Nomination
Committee will first identify the biographical information and other
information of the candidate. The Nomination Committee will review
the information obtained from the candidate and seek clarification.
Then, the Nomination Committee, at its discretion, invite the
candidate to meet with the Nomination Committee members for the
proposed nomination. The Nomination Committee will submit the
nomination proposal to the Board for consideration and further to
the shareholders for approval.

For the re-appointment of the members of the Board, the
Nomination Committee will review the profile of the members
who have offered themselves for re-election to ensure their
suitability every year. Then, the Nomination Committee will make
recommendation to the Board for consideration and the Board will,
at its discretion, make recommendations to the Shareholders.

The Nomination Committee will conduct the review on the member
of the Board on a regular basis, at least annually, to ensure the
Board possess a combination of expertise and diversity for the
business of the Company.

Mr. Li Juncheng, a full-time employee of the Company, and Ms. Lam
Wing Chi, a senior manager of Tricor Services Limited, an external
service provider, have been appointed as the joint company
secretaries of the Company (“Joint Company Secretaries”) to handle
compliance and company secretarial works of the Company. The
role of Joint Company Secretaries includes:

providing advice to the Board members;
- ensuring the Board procedures are followed;
— advising the Board on all corporate governance matters; and

- recommending and arranging the Board members to attend
relevant seminars and courses.

TRERRE

REZEEALESSHAEBIEHREE
ERRSZUCBE HEEXEARAUSN
RERARATEBREBEMSBESE -

ARABREARKERRECZHNCHEESSH
BELERARFEZENERZENEFRESR -
EXSCRERSZEEVENTEEER
HEEFERENEETAR - BYWESENIR
BA REZEEKERAAERK  EFER
BRE -ERRER  RBEAMTHORE
ERRER  REHIESSBUIATES
MIREANBYME - REZEEAEMBRE
ZRAZDEENEMBEE -

REAESWES  REZESHBELRERE
ANBEREMER - REZESSHMTIRE
ARMHENEERBE - HE REEES
TRERAERREERESZBFREARREELEEZS
EREEH REZEGKOESSEITRS
ZRUBRZE  HEBRERXRRIME -

HENZETESEHENS REEEEHE
FRNBEREARENER  UBRRESHE
o HZ REZETHOESSHEHIERRE
BUMEE MESFSHHFREDRREL
WEEE -

REZEEHEN (ELBF RN HESENX
BETRN  URRESSABELTEBHN
FENEENEBNZT/LAS -

ZRENE (BARANERES) REEZL
T (BIBREEEFEEEXEBFBEERAA
IEREE) CRZERAQRTNEE QXM
E(BEAAWE] BAARARESHERLD
ANERE BELAUSNHERRT

- BEZERERMHER

- WBRE=SERFESET.

- HMABALEEREERESSRMS
P54

- EARRUHEERNEEEAETHER
R -

8

ol

RBEEERAT o 2024FF5H 33



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ERERRE

The Joint Company Secretaries assisted the Company to cope
with the changing regulatory environment and to suit different
commercial needs. All Directors have access to the advice from the
Joint Company Secretaries on corporate governance and Board
practices and matters.

Mr. Li has been designated as the primary contact person at the
Company which would work and communicate with Ms. Lam on the
Company’s corporate governance and secretarial matters.

During the Reporting Period, each of Mr. Li and Ms. Lam had
undertaken over 15 hours of relevant professional training in
compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

The Company engages HLB as its external auditors. There’s
no non-audit services engaged with HLB. In order to maintain
HLB’s independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of the
audit process in accordance with applicable standards, the Audit
Committee, reviewed and discussed with HLB on their scope and
nature of the audit and reporting.

For maintaining integrity and objectivity as the external auditors
of the Company, HLB implements policies and procedures that
are consistent with the requirements of the Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants and other applicable rules. These
requirements place limits on the number of years that partners in
certain roles may provide audit services to the Group, followed by
a “time-out” period during which these partners may not participate
in that audit or in any way influence the outcome of the audit, lead
or coordinate other professional services delivered to the client,
oversee the relationship of the firm with the client, or have other
significant or frequent interaction with senior management of those
charge with governance.

For the Reporting Period, the remuneration paid or payable to HLB
in respect of audit services amounted to approximately RMBO0.87
million. There was no disagreement between the Board and the
Audit Committee on the selection and appointment of the external
auditors during the year under review.
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The rail freight and road freight transportation businesses are
inherently dangerous and there are accidents which may result
in fatalities and other serious bodily harm to our employees and
others. To uphold our reputation of being one of the best company
locally and in order to help ensure that the Company is responsible
to the crises in an organised and effective manner, the Company
has established the security department to manage the crisis. The
security department comprises of the senior management and is
closely monitored by the Chief Executive Officer. The operation of
the security department is also aided by the Company’s information
system to keep track of the latest crisis situation, issues and
strategic actions. The duties of the security department include the
followings:

(i) organize various safety activities and regular training sessions
to enhance safety awareness and relevant work skills of our
staff;

(i) strictly forbid staff who have not passed safety training and
assessment to work on our freight transportation;

(iii) arrange inspection of our freight transportation monthly to allow
each department to report any potential/existing deficiencies
during the operation of our business;

(iv) perform inspection of freight vehicles and facilities monthly to
identify and eliminate any defects which may result in safety
issues;

(v) arrange the freight transportation of flammable, explosive or
otherwise hazardous materials according to specified policies;

(vi) perform key inspection of dangerous goods and properly
document all such inspections; and

(vii) closely monitor flammable goods.

In order to manage the impacts on our businesses arising from the
crisis, the Company will set up a safety production committee to
take overall responsibility for safety production management, with
placing the safety of our staff and the public as the top priority.

According to the CG Code, all the Directors shall participate in
continuous professional development to update and refresh their
knowledge and skill to ensure their contribution to the Board
keep abreast of current trends and issues facing the Company.
Upon appointment to the Board, every Directors has received
a comprehensive induction training to ensure appropriate
understanding of the Company’s business and operations as well as
their role and responsibilities.
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To assist the Board members in continuing their professional
development, the Joint Company Secretaries recommend them to
attend relevant seminars and courses at the cost of the Company.
The Joint Company Secretaries also developed a comprehensive
and tailored training programme for the senior executive. The
programme consists of a series of seminars which are organised on
an on-going basis.

Each of the Directors has provided to the Company a record of
the training he/she has received during the Reporting Period. The
records are maintained by the Joint Company Secretaries for
annual review by the Nomination Committee and the Board. The
table below summarises the participation of each of the Directors in
continuous professional development during the Reporting Period:

AHBESERNERFERIEXERR  BEL
ANETARSEZSMEEMIERRRE
BERAARAARE BELAWESCHSN
TRAEHERZHEREREMROEITE
BRETAEE -RIIFEERNTNE -

FEESYCEMALARERAENFERACER
BIINEE FRLCHERBEARNUERE
UMREZEERESTSETFESEM - TX
BIMERARESSEGEEXBRNEN:

Reading Legal
and Regulatory
Updates and
Other Reference

Materials

Attending RIBEIEER

training session ERUREA

Name of Directors EE=HE HEZIRE 2EE8
Mr. Liu Yongliang B k= EE v "4
Mr. Yi Weiming TRAEREE v "4
Mr. Xu Zhihua REERE v v
Mr. Qin Shaobo EOEEE v v
Mr. Liu Changchun BRERE v v
Mr. Zhao Changsong HRAKE v 4
Ms. Lyu Qinghua BEEZL v v

The Company adopts a dividend policy to reward the Shareholders.
In determining the dividend, the Company reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a strong capital environment for
business operation at the same time considering the returns of
Shareholder. The Board shall take into account the followings in
considering the dividend amount:

expected capital requirements;

-  expected profit level;

—  projected operating cash flows;

—  projected capital expenditures and investment projects; and

—  future business prospect and other financial conditions.

36 Canggang Railway Limited ¢ Annual Report 2024

AARCEHRMBREBRUCERR - REER
B AARERNREBEEEREBUER
ZTEEAREREECRH RAEEZEEERR
R-BEEZENZERESHESTRUTE
=

- FEHEAEXR;

- FEHEBRKE;

- FEAKERERE

BHEAHAXRKRERE ' R

- AREBISREMPBMRR



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Directors recognize the importance of good corporate
governance in management and internal procedures so as to
achieve effective accountability. The Company will comply with CG
Code and the associated Listing Rules.

The Board conducts the corporate governance function annually.
Below is a summary of works during the Reporting Period:

e developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and making recommendations to the
Board;

e reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management
of the Company;

e reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors of the Company; and

e reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code from
time to time adopted by the Company and the disclosure
in the Corporate Governance Report to be contained in the
Company’s annual report.

The Board considers the Company’s corporate governance
functions are adequate and appropriate for the Company’s current
business strategy. The Board will continue to review the changes of
legal and regulatory environment and the business environment.

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements of the Group. In preparing the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Directors have selected appropriate accounting policies and
made reasonable judgements, estimates and assumptions based
on historical experiences and various other factors, consistently
with previous financial periods, as disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements. The consolidated financial
statements are prepared on a going concern basis and give a true
and fair view. The responsibilities of the independent auditors of the
Company are set out on pages 107 to 112 of this annual report.

In supporting above, the finance division prepared the consolidated
financial statements for clearing with the external auditors and
then the Audit Committee. Before adoption of any new accounting
policy and accounting standards by the Board, the possible impact
of amendments will be discussed and approved at the Audit
Committee.
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The Company has in place the Anti-Corruption Policy to safeguard
against corruption and bribery within the Company. The Company
has an internal reporting channel that is open and available for
employees of the Company to report any suspected corruption
and bribery. Employees can also make anonymous reports to the
internal audit function, which is responsible for investigating the
reported incidents and taking appropriate measures. The Company
continues to carry out anti-corruption and anti-bribery activities to
cultivate a culture of integrity, and actively organizes anti-corruption
training and inspections to ensure the effectiveness of anti-
corruption and anti-bribery.

The Company has also in place the Whistleblowing Policy as set
out in the Anti-Corruption Policy for employees of the Company and
those who deal with the Company to raise concerns, in confidence
and anonymity, with the Audit Committee and the Board about
possible improprieties in any matters related to the Company.

During the Reporting Period, the Company held an anti-corruption
training and briefing for all employees. There were no non-
compliance cases in relation to bribery and corruption.

The Company has developed a policy to handle and dissemination
of inside information, which includes:

(i) the internal process for identifying and assessing inside
information to the Board;

(i) the senior management has to preserve the confidentiality
of inside information. They need to report to the Board
for any potential threat and bring down the message and
responsibilities to all employees; and

(iiiy the process for disclosure of inside information.

The Company will publish any inside information as soon as
practicable. If the Board believes that the Company cannot
maintain the confidentiality, the Board would immediately
disclose the information. The Board is committed to ensure all the
announcements are not false nor misleading. The Board considers
the Company’s policy and measures are effective and appropriate to
provide assurance on the obligations over the inside information.
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The Board believe that by communicating the Company’s business
strategies and future outlook to investors in a clear and transparent
manner proactively could help to enhances the Shareholders’
value. As such, the Company promotes a business culture that
respect the Shareholders and accountable to them. The Board
focuses to maintain a smooth and transparent communication
with shareholders to facilitate their understanding of the Group’s
performance and strategies.

The Company uses the annual general meeting as the principal
channels of communication with its Shareholders. It provides an
opportunity for Shareholders to listen to the Directors about the
Company’s performance and operations directly. It has been the
practice for the chief executive officer, the Chairman of the Board
and the external auditors of the Company to attend annual general
meeting to answer shareholders’ questions. The AGM has been
scheduled on 18 June 2025 and the Company is committed to
make notice and available meeting facilities, not less than 21 days
before the date of AGM, to enable all eligible attendees to be able to
participate in the AGM.

The Company has in place the Shareholders’ Communication
Policy. The policy aims at promoting effective communication with
Shareholders and other stakeholders, encouraging Shareholders
to engage actively with the Company and enabling Shareholders
to exercise their rights as Shareholders effectively. The Board
reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the Shareholders’
Communication Policy and the results were satisfactory.

The Company has established a number of channels for maintaining
an on-going dialogue with its Shareholders as follows:

(a) Corporate Communication

“Corporate Communication” as defined under the Listing Rules
refers to any document issued or to be issued by the Company
for the information or action of holders of any of its securities,
including but not limited to the following documents of the
Company: (a) the directors’ report, annual accounts together
with a copy of the auditors’ report and, where applicable, its
summary financial report; (b) the interim report and, where
applicable, its summary interim report; (c) a notice of meeting;
(d) a listing document; (e) a circular; and (f) a proxy form. The
Corporate Communication of the Company will be published
on the Stock Exchange’s website (www.hkex.com.hk) in a
timely manner as required by the Listing Rules. Corporate
Communication will be provided to Shareholders and non-
registered holders of the Company’s securities in both English
and Chinese versions or where permitted, in a single language,
in a timely manner as required by the Listing Rules.

TRERRE

ESERE WEWERNAXRREERE
BERNANEBRBEARRESBPHRAR
REE At ARAREEERRIEH KRR
BMEMLEYL ESEITEERRRIFEHE
MZEARERE  LERRTHAKENRITM
g o

ARABUBRFBEASEAHERR BN E
EEBRRE -HERREUSEBESEHEET
BADNBTNREREE - HAQATTHAR
EESIERNEREBHEERRBERS U
EZRRIZBD—EME - RRBEXECELT
A2025F6 H18HE T MARAEHINK
RBAFASEHPH AL N21BBEEN - WiE
HEEREUBTEAEREERSHALEE
HWSERRBERE o

RRFEHERRBABR o ZBK S EIRE
BERRK AT ENEREN  SBRRE
RATRBEE - WERRENERITEEE
ARRNER EEEERERRBABERNE
BRMR  GEREAWE -

AAFERBEYE THRRARISFFEHENE

B BBOT:

(a) EBEH
RIELTRAVEEZ  [BEBRIELD
AAERAZSFNEEARMERNIE
BITEME MR ERHEIEAG - &
FEEFRRR) ADBNTHNH: (a)F
EERE  FERBERZEMBER AR
RWER EVERERHE )P HR
ER(WBER EFHRERE 0KE
B (dLEHXH: )BR  ROKKE
ERE - RNAFNEEBABZRBETR
RIMVARE » R B TR 3 FT 48 b (www.hkex.
com.hk) L3 - DEBAFZBLETR
AIMRE  REORRRAKRATFSFWIE
BRBEAREPEIRASIE AFFHE
MTREE-FSRA °

RBEEERAT o 2024FF5H 39



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

i

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

40

REAWE

Announcements and Other Documents pursuant to the
Listing Rules

The Company shall publish announcements (on inside
information, corporate actions and transactions etc.) and other
documents (e.g. Memorandum and Articles of Association) on
the Stock Exchange’s website in a timely manner in accordance
with the Listing Rules.

Corporate Website

Any information or documents of the Company posted on
the Stock Exchange’s website will also be published on the
Company’s website (http://www.czcgtl.com). Other corporate
information about the Company’s business developments and
corporate governance will also be available on the Company’s
website.

Shareholders’ Meetings

The annual general meeting and other general meetings of the
Company are primary forum for communication between the
Company and its Shareholders. The Company shall provide
Shareholders with relevant information on the resolutions(s)
proposed at a general meeting in a timely manner in
accordance with the Listing Rules. The information provided
shall be reasonably necessary to enable Shareholders to
make an informed decision on the proposed resolution(s).
Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general meetings
or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at the meetings for
and on their behalf if they are unable to attend the meetings.
Where appropriate or required, the Chairman of the Board and
other Board members, the chairmen of board committees or
their delegates, and the external auditors should attend general
meetings of the Company to answer Shareholders’ questions
(if any). The chairman of the independent board committee
(if any) should also be available to answer questions at any
general meeting to approve a connected transaction or any
other transaction that is subject to independent Shareholders’
approval.

Shareholders’ Enquiries

Enquiries about Shareholdings

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their
shareholdings to the Company’s branch share registrar in
Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited, call its hotline at (852) 2862-8555, or go in person to
its public counter at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong.

Enquiries about Corporate Governance or Other Matters to be
put to the Board and the Company

The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous
enquiries. Shareholders may send any enquiries to the Joint
Company Secretaries by email: canggangtielu@126.com or by
post to 5/F, Manulife Place, 348 Kwun Tong Road, Kowloon,
Hong Kong. Shareholders may call the Company at (86) 0317-
7610979 for any assistance.

Canggang Railway Limited ¢ Annual Report 2024

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

REETRURMGHDERE MM

RN B AR £ AR B R BT B X A vh
taHEAE(BERABSER EETHR
R5E) REMIH (MEBEREAMR A
a) e

R

D B A B AT P 48 0 b B 4 B9 R E R
=X T8 A R AN 2 B 48 3k (http://www.
czcgtl.com) L E45 - A QAR EKERE
REEEBRNHMATNERTERADF
o N

N

ARBBRRBFERERAEMBRASIA
DAERREFBANERRE - AQF
ARB EHRAREEORREHRRRRA
ZLRZRBEZNHEESN - KO TR
HOENARAERRENHRZERE
RIEHABREMEGELE - RMEBR
RBMBRAE - MAREHERSE - KA
ZARERNABHEERAERER - TEER
FENEAT  EBEXIFERHAMESS
BE EEZESIFRERNRURIND
REMELFEARNARRAE  LEER
RigR (WE) - BUBEZEESEE (W
B) TEEEAAERER S REMHA
ARBURRMEZRGHNRRRE LE

ERE -

BREREH

BRIEFRIZEH

BRERNER BREZHARQIINSE
BROBEELEIETBHRREBEERLE
PR A F - 4R E 5% A(852) 2862-8555
REEEALER it EEBEFEE
KBBR8 A F 178 1712-17165%
ﬁ °

EEFERFALAEHBEREXEEERA
it EIEf9 & 7Y
AAT—BIEREOERLEREH - BE
A[BiIBE FEH : canggangtielu@126.com
R EEBNEBEEMSREFES
5 MEEARNERETMER K
RAIHEAR R F(86) 0317-7610979= 3R
i Bp o



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Shareholders to convene an Extraordinary General Meeting
Pursuant to the Articles of Association, any one or more
shareholders holdings not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital
of the Company carrying the right of voting in the general meetings,
on a one vote per share basis, shall have the right to convene an
extraordinary general meeting by sending a written requisition to the
Board or the Joint Company Secretaries to the principal place of
business in Hong Kong. The request must state the reason and the
details of the business to be transacted in the meeting. When the
requisition is found to be proper, the Joint Company Secretaries or
the Board will call the meeting within two months after the deposit
of the requisition.

Enquiries from Shareholders

Shareholders shall mail a written inquiry to the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong (Address: 5/F, Manulife Place, 348
Kwun Tong Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong) stating that the recipient to
the Joint Company Secretaries.

Procedures for shareholders putting forward proposals
Shareholders who wish to put forward proposals at general
meetings may achieve so by means of convening an extraordinary
general meeting following the procedures as set out in the
paragraph above.

Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as
a Director

Pursuant to the Article of Association, if a Shareholder wishes to
propose a person for election as a Director at an annual general
meeting, he/she should pass a written notice of the nomination to
the Joint Company Secretaries at the principal place of business
in Hong Kong within seven days period commencing the day after
the despatch of the notice of the meeting. The Shareholder must
pass a written notice of his/her nomination and a notice signed by
the nominated candidate with his/her willingness to be appointed
as a Director to the Joint Company Secretaries. The notice should
include the candidate’s information as required to be disclosed
under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules and a letter of consent to
public his/her personal’s information.

Upon the Joint Company Secretaries received a valid nomination,
they will prepare a supplemental circular with the information
about the nominated candidate to the Shareholders as soon
as practicable. The Nomination Committee will assess whether
the nominated candidate is competence and consider the
composition and needs of the Board, please refer to section headed
“NOMINATION POLICY” in this Corporate Governance Report.

Voting by poll

The Company proposed separate resolutions for each substantially
separate issue in the general meeting. All the separate resolutions
will be voted by poll except the chairman, in good faith, decides
to allow a resolution which relates purely to a procedural or
administrative matter to be voted on by a show of hands. The
Company will announce the results of the poll in the manner
prescribed under the Listing Rules.
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ERERRE

The Board is responsible to maintain an effective and efficient
internal control system and risk management system and setting
appropriate policies in order to safeguard the Company’s assets
and the Shareholders’ interest. The internal control system and risk
management system are designed to manage (rather than eliminate)
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and provide
reasonable assurance, but not absolute assurance, against material
misstatement or loss.

The Company has established an Internal Audit Department (“IAD”)
which provides independent, objective assurance and consulting
services designed to add value and improve the Company’s
operations. The IAD establish a risk-based audit plan to prioritise
the internal audit activity to ensure the high risks business activities
are reviewed. IAD is responsible for conducting independent reviews
of the adequacy and effectiveness of our risk management and
internal control systems. IAD provides assurance that governance,
risk management and internal control (“GRC”) structure and key
control procedures are designed properly and are operating
effectively. IAD also identifies and offers recommendations for
GRC structures and processes; and is responsible to establish
procedures that ensure the management’s response to the
recommendations.

The Company’s risk management and internal control systems
have been developed with the following principles, features and
processes:

In compliance with the requirement of CG Code, the Company has
established relevant risk management and internal control systems,
covering corporate governance and system, business and financial
processes. The systems served as a reasonable guarantee of the
legal compliance of the operation and management of the Company,
its asset security and truthfulness and completeness of its financial
reports and relevant information and increased the operational
efficiency and performance of the Company, which provided strong
guarantee for the implementation of the Company’s development
strategies.
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In order to further regulate the internal control management of
the Company and effectively prevent internal risks, an internal
management and control system was established according to
the relevant regulatory requirements of the Stock Exchange and
the actual management situation of the Company. The internal
control system of the Company regulates the internal management
procedure of the Company by controlling aspects, namely
organisational structure, fund management, financial reporting,
procuring business, outsourcing business, sales business,
research and development management, project management,
contract management, information system, human resources,
budget management, financing management, equity investment
management and fixed assets management. It identifies the
risks in the internal management of the Company and provides
relevant control measures to prevent the risks. The Company
performs annual reviews on these systems in order to monitor its
operational situation in a timely manner, and revises or abolishes
some regulations in accordance with relevant national laws and
regulations and actual conditions of the Company.

All departments conducted internal control assessment regularly to
identify risks that potentially impact the business of the Group and
various aspects including key operational and financial processes,
regulatory compliance and information security. Self-evaluation has
been conducted annually to ensure that control policies are properly
complied with by each department.

The Company has set up departments dedicated to daily
examination and supervision of internal control, and designated
internal control examination and supervision personnel according
to the relevant requirements and conditions of the Company to
inspect and monitor the regular test on internal control procedures
of all functional departments of the Company and all subsidiaries.
The Company mainly reviews the compliance of internal control
procedures that have higher risk, such as setting up of project,
tendering, project budget review and procurement to ensure
the compliance of business activities. The Company makes
improvement recommendations in respect of audit’s findings and
requests the relevant management of the Company to confirm
the rectification plan, methods and the timing. The Company
regularly follows up the status of the implementation of the audit
recommendations to ensure the execution of such improvement
plans. At the same time, the Company reviews and assesses the
truthfulness, accuracy, compliance and effectiveness of the project
financial activities of the Company and information of financial
expenses as well as the Company’s funds, management and usage
of assets, and strictly monitors the annual budget and expenditure.
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The management of the Company provides enough resources for
the accounting, internal review and financial reporting functions,
hires financial personnel with sufficient qualifications and provides
various financial control and project risk control training to the
staff. The management, in coordination with all department heads,
assesses the likelihood of risk occurrence and provides response
plans, and monitors the risk management procedures, and reports
to the Audit Committee and the Board on all findings and the
effectiveness of the system. Internal legal and audit department
is responsible for reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness of
risk management and internal control system independently,
investigates key matters related to accounting practice and all
significant control issues, and reports its finding and suggestions for
improvement to the Audit Committee.

On the basis of its established internal control system, the Company
regularly reviewed and sorted out the overall operation of the
internal control system in accordance with the Basic Standard for
Enterprise Internal Control and supporting guidelines, its Internal
Control Management Handbook and relevant rules, and compiled
the Internal Control System Evaluation Report. The Company
identified and sorted out risks and deficiencies during the operation
of the internal control system in a timely manner through ways
such as individual interviews, system reviews, data inspections,
and walk-through tests and put forward corresponding rectification
suggestions. It formulated the Internal Control System Evaluation
Results and Rectification Plan, and followed up and supervised
related divisions’ rectifications.

The Audit Committee bears the primary responsibility for
governance and serves as the focal point for all governance
activities. The Audit Committee reviews the internal controls and risk
management that are significant to the Company on an on-going
basis and considers the adequacy of resources, competence of
staff of the Company’s finance division, as well as their continuous
development. The Audit Committee approves the internal audit plan
and the internal audit charter to direct in setting strategic objectives,
establishing risk appetite and effective control systems. The Audit
Committee also reviews the works and the results prepared by the
IAD and the Internal Control Consultant.

According to the report from the Internal Control Consultant,
the Company’s key control procedures over GRC structure are
adequacy and effective. The Board is satisfied that the internal
control and risk management systems are in place and effective.

During the Reporting Period, the Company has adopted the second
amended and restated articles of association of the Company by
way of a special resolution passed on 18 June 2024 and effective
on the same date, in order to update with the latest changes in the
Listing Rules. Details of the amendments are set out in the circular
dated 29 April 2024 to the Shareholders.

Save as disclosed above, there has been no change in the
memorandum and articles of association of the Company during
the Reporting Period. The amended and restated memorandum
of association and second amended and restated articles of
association of the Company are available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange, respectively.
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The Management Statement

In the past year, our unwavering dedication to advancing
sustainability for both society and the planet has remained resolute.
We are intensifying our Environmental, Social, and Governance
(ESG) efforts, prioritising talent development through rigorous
employee training program and the launch of our “Elite Plan” (2024-
2028), aimed at cultivating future-ready leaders. Concurrently, we
have established a clear environmental target: to reduce hazardous
waste emissions by 2% over the next five years, commencing with
initiatives designed to minimise engine oil waste. These actions
underscore our commitment to fostering a resilient, responsible, and
sustainable future.

Integration of ESG in Decision-Making

We seamlessly integrate Environmental, Social, and Governance
considerations into our decision-making processes while diligently
honoring our corporate responsibilities. The Group has established
a comprehensive top-down governance framework to ensure that
ESG aligns with our strategic growth objectives. To facilitate this
alignment, we have formed an ESG Working Group (the “Working
Group”), which coordinates our governance efforts effectively.

The Working Group maintains close communication with the Board
of Directors (the “Board”), providing annual presentations of peer
examples for guidance. It remains vigilant in monitoring ESG
market trends to inform the Board and ensures that the Group is
consistently updated on all ESG initiatives. The Board regularly
evaluates the effectiveness of our approach, including assessing our
environmental, social, and governance performances and amending
action plans as necessary.

Strengthening Talent and Governance

Recognising that our people are the cornerstone of progress, the
Group has vigorously advanced talent development. We have
formulated the “Elite Plan” (2024-2028), a strategic roadmap
designed to cultivate a robust pipeline of technical and managerial
leaders. This initiative is bolstered by enhanced employee training
program, with expanded intensity and coverage, ensuring our
workforce is equipped to drive the Group’s long-term, sustainable
development. By fostering a culture of continuous learning and
professional growth, we aim to build a high-calibre team capable of
navigating evolving industry demands.

Environmental Stewardship and Operational Resilience
Sustainability remains central to our strategy. In alignment with
China’s 2060 carbon neutrality vision, we have established explicit
near- and long-term targets, including a commitment to reduce
hazardous waste emissions, particularly from engine oil by 2% over
the next five years. Extreme weather events, shifting regulatory
landscapes, and emissions reduction imperatives continue to
challenge railway operations and investment planning. To address
these pressures, the Board has prioritised adaptive strategies,
integrating ESG considerations into core decision-making
processes.
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R - dERERKRSE

By championing a culture of “compliance, integrity, professionalism, EBIEEIEHR  HiE =¥ BRINWE
and stability,” we are poised to leverage capital, technology, = ' RFC/EHEFE  ERERN - BIR AN
and human resource excellence to drive growth. Our unwavering X EFREEZHEFHKE - RPBRKRBEELBHE D
focus remains on delivering value to shareholders, empowering ARFAEEERMBETIRED @ TAEREER
employees, and contributing to a regulated, transparent, and & ZEHARAEEEXRRNESEELEE -
sustainable economy.

Through our relentless commitment to ESG principles, proactive HRNEEFBIFZFAWHBERRE HERERR
talent development, and measurable environmental targets, Bl -BHBERAARRXREAEHENREBEZ
the Group is resolute in its journey towards a resilient, low- BRESHEAREEEHRERNRRELE - KM
carbon future. We believe that by embedding these values into 1B ' ZEBEZEEEEMARMNEE > 7
our operations, we can create lasting positive impacts for all AR EEFHERBERAESANEIASE-
stakeholders and the environment.
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This is the fifth ESG Report of Canggang Railway Limited (the
“Company”, “Canggang Company”, the “Group” or “we”). Based on
the principles of openness and transparency, Canggang Company
reports to all stakeholders on the Group’s ESG performance in 2024
(“Reporting Period”) in a comprehensive and objective manner.
For corporate governance, please refer to the chapter headed

“CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT” of the annual report.

Reporting Standard

This report is prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Guide”) in Appendix
C2 enclosed in the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Main Board (the “Main Board Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The Group has
complied with all the “comply or explain” requirements set out in the
ESG Guide. We also prepare the Report in strict accordance with
the following four reporting principles illustrated in this ESG Guide:

° “Materiality” — The materiality assessment was conducted
to identify material issues, thereby adopting the confirmed
material issues as the focus for the preparation of the ESG
Report. The materiality of issues was reviewed and confirmed
by the Board and various departments. Please refer to the
section headed “ldentification of Material Topics” for further
details;

e  “Quantitative” — Supplementary notes are added along with
quantitative data disclosed in the ESG Report to explain
any standards, methodologies, and sources of conversion
factors used during the calculation of emissions and energy
consumption;

e “Balance” - The Report impartially describes the Group’s
performance during the Reporting Period, to avoid selections,
omissions, or presentation formats that may inappropriately
influence a decision or judgment by the report reader; and

° “Consistency” — The preparation approach of this ESG Report
was substantially consistent with the previous year, and
explanations were provided regarding data with changes in the
scope of disclosure and calculation methodologies.

Report Approval and Access

This report has been reviewed and approved by the ESG Working
Group and the Board of Directors on March 26, 2025. This report
is available in both Chinese and English, and has been published
on the Stock Exchange’s website (www.hkexnews.hk) and the
Company’s website (www.czcgtl.com). In case of any discrepancy
between the two versions, the English version shall prevail.
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Reporting Period and Boundary

The Reporting Period is the fiscal year from 1 January to 31
December 2024. Unless otherwise specified, this report covers rail
freight and ancillary operations of the local railway operator based in
Hebei Province.

Sources of Information

All materials and data referred in this report are sourced from
our official documents, statistical reports and financial reports,
which have been collected, summarized and reviewed by relevant
departments. Unless otherwise stated, the reporting currency herein
is Renminbi (RMB).

Stakeholders’ Feedback

We value greatly on stakeholders’ opinions, and welcome your
feedback which can help us to further improve, via mail at our
principal place of business in Hong Kong: Room 1918, 19/F, Lee
Garden One, 33 Hysan Avenue, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong.

Disclaimer

Parts of this report are forward-looking subject to uncertainties,
which could cause actual results to differ materially from those
presented. The Company undertakes no obligation to update any
forward-looking statements provided in this report.

Sustainability is the goal of our Group. Combining the concept of
sustainability and the Group’s development strategy, we manage
and supervise sustainability-related matters through multi-
department collaboration.

The Group conducts a top-down management approach concerning
its ESG issues. The Board has the ultimate responsibility of
overseeing and setting out ESG management approach and
strategy for our Group with the assistance of various departments.
The sustainability-related matters of Canggang Company are
handled by functional departments, including business operations,
logistics support, the office, the vehicle management team, etc.
The performance of each department is reported to the Board on a
regular basis, and the Board continuously monitors sustainability-
related information, such as energy consumption. The functional
departments also review Canggang Company’s ESG performance
through key performance indicators (“KPIs”) from various ESG
aspects to review progress made against ESG-related goals and
targets. By conducting regular materiality assessments, they assist
the Board to evaluate, prioritize and manage material ESG- related
issues. In the future, we will continue to improve the sustainability
management structure of the Group.

Board oversight of ESG

The Board of Directors, as the highest governing body of the
Company, takes a leadership role in steering the Group towards
sustainability. Specifically, the Board formulates ESG strategies
and policies while closely monitoring their execution. The Board is
also obligated to strengthen the Group’s ESG risk management to
enhance resilience and secure long-term development.
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Under the authority of the Board, the ESG Working Group is
responsible for formulating the Company’s ESG, climate change
and responsible investment policies, strategies and objectives;
supervising the Company’s performance and effectiveness in
implementing measures regarding ESG, climate change and
responsible investment; identifying and evaluating material topics
of ESG and climate change and their priority that are relevant to
our operations and/or our stakeholders; and reporting to the Board
on relevant matters. The ESG Working Group is also tasked with
reviewing our ESG report and providing suggestions to the Board.
The Board is responsible for overseeing the ESG Working Group’s
tasks and reporting, as well as reviewing and approving the ESG
report.

Canggang Company aims to improve its effectiveness in identifying
and responding to ESG issues through the ESG Working Group and
would look forward to consolidating the mechanism through more
board engagement in the future. The Board has reviewed significant
ESG issues and will manage and monitor these issues, taking them
into account when establishing the Company’s business direction
and strategy.

For the identified ESG risks, the ESG Working Group would evaluate
their importance to Canggang Company’s business from the
following perspectives:

— Global financial risks;

- Natural disasters that may lead to the interruption of
transportation;

- Loss of human capital; and

—  Network and information security of clients.

The ESG Working Group are responsible to:

— Develop annual targets based on the Company’s sustainability
vision;

—  Supervise ESG performance of subordinate units;

- Research, discuss and decide on specific ESG and
sustainability issues;

—  Monitor the Company’s overall sustainability performance and
risks concerning different material issues;

—  Formulate annual ESG work schedule and action plan;

—  Organize the preparation of this ESG report;

- Report to and advise the Board on the above matters; and

— Report to the Board on any major cases in which the Company
may potentially violate ESG-related laws and regulations.
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Identification of Material Topics

In preparing our ESG Report, the Group engaged directly with
various stakeholders to identify and prioritise material topics
that significantly impact our operations and stakeholders. We
conducted an online survey through a structured four-step process:
identification, prioritisation, verification, and review.

This process led to the identification of five key material topics
closely linked to our operations: “Environmental Protection,
Energy Saving and Emission Reduction”, “Transportation Safety”,
“Human Capital”, “Supply Chain Management”, and “Community
Investment”. These topics reflect our commitment to sustainability
and our dedication to fostering positive stakeholder relationships.
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¢ Identification
Commissioned a third-party
independent consultancy to conduct

N

materiality assessment of the Group confirmed the material topics based on
by referring to the guidelines issued two dimensions, namely “significance
by the Stock Exchange. of economic, environmental and social
impacts” and “influence on stakeholders’
o EER| assessments and decision making”.
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¢ Review u ¢ Verification
Reviewed possible improvements The management of the Group
in the materiality assessment closely monitored and confirmed
process, and identify areas for the assessment results of material
improvement. topics, and they will be disclosed in
this report.
o MR
RREEMTIEBREPARZNER o R
B BBIREZEM - AEEEEERYERABIEEN
FHEAER  WARHBEERARSE S -

* Prioritization )
Invited stakeholders and the management of
the Group to participate in an online survey
to gauge their views on the significance of
potential material topics. Prioritized and
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We proactively addressed stakeholder concerns by providing a
detailed disclosure of the Group’s performance and impact on
material topics. During the Reporting Period, we transparently
communicated our achievements and challenges, implementing
targeted measures to enhance our sustainability management
practices. This reflects our commitment to continuous improvement
and alignment with stakeholder expectations.
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Stakeholder feedback and expectations are integral to the Group’s P EWLIEHEEHAERN JEERER
sustainable development strategies and overall success. We BEEEAIZHEEE KM +oERERZHD
prioritise maintaining strong relationships with our stakeholders, H#HFIRFEZ BERTHREHERREEN
actively seeking to understand how their insights on risks and RBHBRMEREENTZE - BBLAT—BEH
opportunities influence our business development. Canggang HERENETCHSEUBETERREES
Company remains committed to advancing societal progress MREMEFHENERREIE —2h - TR
through regular engagement, ensuring we align with stakeholder #HMFEMERZEFNENSEURERPLAREAN
needs and perspectives. The table below details our responsibilities ¥ FEMEBANBEEE -

to various stakeholders and the communication channels we employ

to foster effective dialogue.

Key stakeholders  Our mission Our action Communication channels
FERFOGE BMEED BP0 TE BERE
Government Cooperate with Strictly abide by the Regular oral and written
B the government requirements under relevant communication regarding
and follow rules and regulations our long-term strategic
relevant rules and  EX4& & FAH B R BI R R I O 35 development
regulations for EHRRMO R RET
the good of ESG Continue to develop our O E @R
development business in line with President

EHFEE B Xi Jinping Thought on Socialism  Provide swift response
B BRG] - LU with Chinese Characteristics for  to any enquiries from the

BIRIE  -HERER aNewEra Government upon request
HER BEESRELVEIFNFERPES ARBEBRFRENEMES

EBHEFTERRBRETER
Regularly attend meetings
Actively participate in EHHESR
government-hosted forums and
seminars such as the Local
Railway Safety Supervision Work
Research Forum
BESMBAERORENATS
mih G HEE L2 EE TERRRIE

Customers To provide Regularly maintain and update Regularly communicate with

=zF them with solid, our system of Railway service customers to update them
sustainable and EH R E A ER R RS on the market conditions
high-quality and review our cooperative
services that Conduct seminars to seek relationship by contracts
meet the safety opinions that could improve our TEHEZFERE RMEFREMEST
standards service MHEHFEE  TEBRASESER

AEFRENERE HIMHS  BEXEETRENE RENSEBER

BEEERE - -AFE R

MeE 2 RBE Email and customer service
Continue to develop our ancillary hotline
businesses that could bring our ~ BE & AR 24 4R
customers a more well-rounded

experience Business meetings
BEZRETULATFFREZE BEER
R mEmE R

Company’s website
2NN
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Key stakeholders  Our mission Our action Communication channels

FERFOGE B ED BMNTE BIERE

Community Implement our Volunteering services Regular visits, events,

#tE culture and spirit 7 58 AR 7% and activities to allow the
into the community community to have a better
with different Published the annual report for understanding of our services
collaboration and  the year ended 31 December EHEFNSEIERED &
promotion events 2024 HEHKMNEREEERAT #
BBRTENEGHEME BHMEBE2024F12A31HLEFEMN
BEE  #ERMHUX Fi;k Announcement for major
ftMBREEELR business updates

MEBRTNEREHHHQE

Company’s website

2N
Public services
NHRH
Employees Promote Provide a healthy and safe Monthly seminars and
EE diversity with our working environment with briefings are held
recruitment and sufficient support and facilities BARTHFIENERSE
promotion policies REHEBEMZEMNIERE H B2HE
BEEMUVBENE ANIHNRE Employees survey to
AEERREES T understand their needs
Fair promotion mechanism ETEERECUTHREEME
Ensure that safety 2 & F #Hl
is the first priority Informal meetings if needed
BREZE2RE—ZEH Regular training sessions, DERBTHREXSE
workshops and seminars
EHEBPIEIIRE - BERUNATE
Supplier/partners Ensure that our Fair tender invitation for needed Business meetings
HER, SR transactions and products’/services (SR
relationship with HEERRISETDFIBE
our partners are Email and telephone
open and fair, Regular inspection and communication
and keep partners  supervision EHNEFZER
informed of our EHREMEE
policies and goals Company’s website
BREMESIERZM Hold briefing sessions and AN

HWRZMERE D seminars for the quality of

B DF - ESEE services

HTHREMANVEEN ARBESENERSNHATS
==
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The Group has conducted a comprehensive stakeholder
investigation, focusing on those significantly impacted by our
operations. Selected stakeholders provided valuable insights
through a questionnaire on relevant environmental and social topics.

This ESG Report outlines our initiatives in these areas and
reaffirms our commitment to long-term strategic guidelines, policy
enhancements, and goal setting.

The materiality matrix below presents our assessment of various
ESG issues. Key stakeholder concerns have been identified, and
an internal evaluation has determined their significance to our
business. The X-Axis indicates our internal assessment, with issues
on the right deemed more critical, while the Y-Axis ranks external
expectations from high to low. Issues in the top right quadrant are
considered most significant, whereas those in the bottom left are of
lesser importance.

Following our assessment, we confirm that climate change, pollution
control, and sustainable products and services remain paramount to
our business, as reflected in the policies and initiatives detailed in
this report.
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RERXAER
The Environment and Natural Resources
RRER
Use of Resources
) /O
\\\\\\\\\
RERRE BERE
Health and Safety Development and Training
£T%8
Labour Standards
iR
Employment
HEWEE G\
Supply Chain Management \O EREE
o Product Responsibility
RES
Anti-Corruption /O
HERA
Community Investment
REB
Internal Assessment
AT
S a4 N F]
ABEEARAT o 2024555 53



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R - dERERKRSE

Environmental Protection, Energy Saving and Emission
Reduction

The Group is dedicated to protecting the environment through
effective control activities and monitoring measures in our business
operations and workplace. We are committed to fostering a
green environment by implementing environmentally friendly
practices, educating our employees to enhance their awareness of
environmental protection, and ensuring compliance with relevant
environmental laws and regulations.

To strengthen our environmental governance and reduce our
environmental impact, we have adopted and implemented relevant
environmental policies. These policies are communicated to our
employees and focus on the principles of reducing electricity, paper,
and water usage, as well as minimizing emissions. Our goal is to
lessen any adverse effects on the environment.

During the Reporting Period, the Group established an
environmental protection leadership team responsible for studying
national environmental protection laws and regulations. This team
provides supervision and conducts inspections at operational sites.
If any issues are identified during inspections, an “Environmental
Inspection Punishment” form is completed and verified by both
the inspector and the concerned party. Confirmed issues will be
addressed according to the Company’s guidelines.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with environmental related laws and
regulations in relation to exhaust gas and greenhouse gas (“GHG”)
emissions, water and land discharge, and the generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste that would have a significant
impact on the Group. Such laws and regulations include but
are not limited to the Environmental Protection Law of the PRC,
Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention, Control of
Water Pollution, Energy Conservation Law of the PRC and the
Environmental Protection Tax Law of the PRC.
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Target

Recognising the collective imperative to address climate challenges,
we actively engage in industry collaborations to exchange best
practices and galvanise sector-wide efforts aimed at reducing
greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions. Our strategy embraces a
commitment to pioneering solutions and innovative technologies that
possess the potential to significantly diminish our ecological footprint.

During the Reporting Period, we have announced a new
commitment to reduce hazardous waste emissions by 2% over
the next five years. This target is part of a broader framework that
encompasses GHG emissions, energy and water consumption
intensity, and waste management.

By establishing ambitious yet achievable targets, we reaffirm our
dedication to continuous improvement. Our approach balances
immediate actions — such as optimising equipment maintenance
protocols to minimise engine oil waste — with long-term strategies
designed to decarbonise our operations. These efforts are aligned
with global pathways towards a low-carbon economy and aim to
mitigate the adverse impacts of climate change.

Our target (2022 as a base year)

BEMHE R (2022F R EEF)

R - HERERRSE
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Progress

BEMWNITH

GHG emissions
emissions intensity

BERBEHER HMEER2025F s RV R EREHNE

=

Waste management
hazardous waste intensity

BERYEE

Energy consumption
energy consumption intensity

REIROH #E

Water consumption
consumption intensity

Ak F B 1EN2025F BT 2 Bk R E

By 2025, we aim to reduce the GHG

By 2025, we aim to reduce the non-

EMERER202FRIHD EEERYEE

By 2025, we aim to reduce the total

217 S 7 M 20256 AR D 8RN R

By 2025, we aim to reduce the water

Hazardous waste

BEBRZEY

To reduce hazardous waste emissions by
2% over the next five years (2025-2029)
RARRAF (2025F £2029%F ) A B FEE
BEMHHRERD2%

During the Reporting Period, GHG
emissions intensity increased by
approximately 14% compared to the
2022 base year. We will continue to
monitor this situation.

RBEEA - REREHHEE 82022
FHRHEFBMPN14% o RPAGEEET

:
B .

=

During the Reporting Period, we
achieved a reduction in non-hazardous
waste intensity of approximately 74%
compared to the 2022 base year.
REBERR - EEERYZER2022F
BEEFHELN74% °

During the Reporting Period, energy
consumption intensity increased by
approximately 20% compared to the
2022 base year. We will continue to
monitor this situation.

RIMEA - BEREREZER2022F 8
FEFRIH20% o KIS BEEITEER -
During the Reporting Period, water
consumption intensity increased by
approximately 25% compared to the
2022 base year. We will continue to
monitor this situation.

RE|ER - AKEER2022F EEF
BINA25% - RS EBETES -

In progress

EATH
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Rail freight operations

Air Emissions

QOur Group has implemented comprehensive environmental
policies and plans to minimize the impact of our daily operation
on the environment and natural resources, and to encourage the
efficient use of energy, water and other resources. With the fact
that transportation services, which rely on energy and resource
consumption, are the core business of our Group, consequently, the
air pollutant is mainly generated by our trains and other vehicles.

The group is committed to following practices to minimize air
emissions:

56

Conduct regular checking for our equipment to ensure their
emission standard are up with the level as stated by the
Government;

Continue to educate our employees to turn off engines when
idling and purchase clean fuel that complies with the country’s
emission standard;

Strengthen the exhaust treatment of fuel-powered machinery
and equipment, increase vehicles maintenance frequency,
conduct annual exhaust emission monitoring regularly;

Provide regular training for vehicle operators to improve energy

efficiency and reduce carbon emissions; and

Conduct regular vehicle maintenance to ensure optimal engine
performance and fuel use.
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We also invested in facilities that could help reduce pollution and
the wasting of resources. Coal unloading from our trains would
only be done in the designated unloading area equipped with dust
removal facilities, ensuring that dust pollution is always at the
lowest level.

During the Reporting Period, there was a marginal fluctuation in the
Group’s air emissions. We are committed to ongoing monitoring of
the air emissions produced by the Group. The Group’s air emissions
performance was as follows:

Types of air emissions

R - HERERRSE
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Pkt EE R A

Nitrogen Oxides (NO,) ALY tonne W§
Sulphur Oxides (SO,) &Y tonne W§
Particulate Matter (PM) EER R tonne W§

Greenhouse Gas Emissions

Greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions pose a critical challenge for the
global environment. As part of our commitment to sustainability,
this chapter outlines our approach to managing and reducing GHG
emissions within our operations. We strive to align our practices
in accordance with the latest standards, ensuring our actions
contribute positively towards the global effort to mitigate climate
change. The major sources of the Group’s GHG emissions are
generated from petrol consumed by the trains and other vehicles
(Scope 1) and purchased electricity (Scope 2).

The Group is committed to following practices to reduce GHG
emissions during operation:

e Enhance train cargo spraying to reduce air pollution. Our coal-
loaded trains require a large dose of water spray to humidify all
vehicles using coal spraying equipment, After the train arrives
at the coal unloading line at the station, the coal unloader
unloads the coal and cleans up the coal and the scattered coal
around the vehicle, then the dump truck transports the coal to
the stacking area in and then transports it to the customer’s
destination according to the customer’s instruction;

e Arrange regular examination for trains and other vehicles on
exhaust gas emissions; and

e  Electricity conservation measures are described in the section
headed “USE OF RESOURCES”.
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During the Reporting Period, the GHG emissions are as follows:
Indicator! Unit
R B
Scope 1 — Direct GHG emissions tCO.e
HEN-HEEREREHK WS tREE
Scope 2 — Indirect GHG emissions tCO.e
FHE2 - FERERBHK StmESE
Total GHG emissions tCO.e
MERBEBERE W —E b EE
Total GHG emissions intensity? tCO.e/km
(operating mileage)
BERBHRARE? Wo_FtmEE AR
(EEER)

1.  GHG emission data is presented in terms of carbon dioxide equivalent
and are based on, but not limited to, “The Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A
Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standards” issued by the World
Resources Institute and the World Business Council for Sustainable
Development, “How to prepare an ESG Report — Appendix 2:
Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock
Exchange “Global Warming Potential Values” from the IPCC Sixth
Assessment Report and 2023 Baseline Emission Factors for Regional
Power Grids in China published by the Ministry of Ecology and
Environment of the People’s Republic of China. As the calculation
method have been updated, it may not be possible to directly compare
this year’s data with the previous year’s.

2. Environmental data density = environmental data / operating mileage
(as of 31 December 2024, the total operating distance is 1,050,160
km; as of 31 December 2023, the total operating distance is 1,234,129
km from our railway services). This data is also used to calculate other
intensity data.

Sewage Discharge

The Group does not consume a significant volume of water through
its business activities, and therefore does not generate a material
portion of discharge into water. As the sewage discharged by the
Group is treated by the specific wastewater treatment facilities,
the amount of sewage discharge is considered the same as the
amount of water consumed. Description of water consumption and
corresponding water-saving initiative are described in the section
headed “Water Resource”.

Waste Management

Hazardous Waste

The Group’s hazardous waste management primarily involves used
engine oil from machinery maintenance. For waste minimization,
oil from our production processes is recycled for lubricating
equipment. Any non-recyclable oil is responsibly returned to its
originators for recycling or disposed of by accredited third parties
in strict conformance with national regulations. Due to the nature of
our business, the Group does not directly produce any hazardous
waste in its operations. In order to ensure the compliance with
relevant national and local laws and to minimise the negative
impact on the environment, we established “Materials Management
System” to ensure our waste are properly sorted before disposal
and we urge our employees to conduct recycling measures
actively. Also, strengthen the management and control of solid
waste pollution, strictly implement the requirements of the new
“People’s Republic of China Solid Waste Pollution Prevention and
Control Law”, identify the Company’s solid waste categories and
standardize the collection, storage and disposal.
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Non-hazardous Waste
The Group’s major non-hazardous waste generated is solid waste
produced by employees in the course of ordinary business.

To reduce paper consumption, we encourage our employees to:

° Use double side printing; and
° Adopt electronic filing, and electronic meeting.

The Group’s non-hazardous wastes disposal performances were as
follows:

Waste category

EEZ Y E R
Hazardous wastes E=EEY)

By

R - HERERRSE

AEEELENTEEZERYBEENRAEE
BHREENERERY -

?Jﬁi@ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ CERMEBEERRTIE
o

e ERZEER &
- RAEFEERETEM-
AEBEBRSEEBERYOEMNNT :

2024
20244

2023
20234

Engine oil #h tonnes M§ 29.7 29.9
Hazardous wastes intensity tonnes/km (operating mileage) 0.00003 0.00002
BEBERNEE Wi AR (EEER)

Non-hazardous wastes EEZEEY)

Paper #5& tonnes Mf 0.42 0.43
Non-hazardous wastes intensity tonnes/km (operating mileage) 0.0000004 0.0000003
BEBRRYEE mE AR (EEER)

USE OF RESOURCES

The Group is committed to optimising the use of resources in
our business operations. Therefore, we have taken initiatives to
introduce resource efficiency and eco-friendly measures to the
Group’s operations on a continuous basis.

Energy reduction

Energy consumption within the Group predominantly arises from
operational electricity use and petrol for transportation. Canggang
Company has made significant investments in natural gas-powered
eco-friendly trucks, initiating a gradual transition from the older
diesel fleet. The plan is to replace the existing vehicles as they
become unsuitable for operations.

In the Reporting Period, a total of 29.7 tonnes of petroleum was
used for the regular maintenance of equipment. Concurrently,
energy efficiency directives are reinforced within our offices.
Employees are encouraged to conserve electricity by turning off
unessential lights, air-conditioning units, and other electronic
devices. To optimize usage, our air conditioners are set to a
standard temperature of 22 degrees Celsius.
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Our commitment to reducing costs and the consumption footprint
has led to the consolidation and closure of several offices,
dormitories, and facilities with elevated electricity requirements.
These concentrated efforts have played a crucial role in curbing our
overall energy consumption.

The Group has implemented various measures to mitigate the
consumption regarding the use of energy as below:

e  Strengthening daily maintenance of trains and other vehicles,
and improving resource utilization efficiency; and

e Encourage employees to turn off idling equipment, computers
and lightings when not in use or after working hours.

The Group’s energy consumption performances were as follows:

Energy types

EMETRERARERBREHNARE  EF
HEMBETHAEERBENRAE - BEREK
e ELEBEMFRFANBEEBRFHERES
HBRETEHEEENER -

REBCERAT AREEREURDEREE
o MEHIBERHEMEBHAEHEE ES

BRAAME R

e TREIENMEARE  ERRBHRLS
BRETFRREBHAPERE -

REENEERERWT -

R A

Direct energy consumption

HERERER

Petrol kWh
S TR
Diesel kWh
£ TR
Indirect energy consumption

R RE

Electricity kWh
A TRE
Total energy consumption kWh
BERUHMRE FTRE
Total energy consumption intensity kWh/km

RERERAEE

(operating mileage)

TERE AR

277,501.38
277,501.38
34,149,884.42
34,149,884.42

2,436,558.14
2,436,558.14
36,863,943.94
36,863,943.94
35.10

35.10

371,287.75
371,287.75
33,708,744.57
33,708,744.57

2,402,677.37
2,402,677.37
36,482,709.68
36,482,709.68
29.56

29.56

(EEER)

Water Resource

The wastewater generated by the Group is mainly domestic sewage,
they are treated by specific wastewater treatment facilities to ensure
there is no water pollution. The Company has not encountered any
issues in sourcing water during the Reporting Period.

The Group has implemented initiatives to control water consumption
as follows:

° Promote the concept of water consumption among employees
and strengthens the maintenance, inspection and management
of water-consuming equipment for water conservation.

In terms of wastewater treatment, we invested RMB2.08 million in
the construction of an underground integrated wastewater treatment
facility and the wastewater is then used for spraying the coal field
after precipitation in the storage tank according to the “Water usage
standard for dust removal in Port Coal Operations” procedure.
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The Group’s water consumption performances was as follows:

Water consumption Unit
AKkE B
Water consumption tonne
k& g

Water consumption intensity tonne/km

(operating mileage)

W, AR
(@EERE)

RKZE

Use of Packaging Material
Due to the business nature of the reported segment, we do not consume
significant amount of packaging materials for product packaging.

As cargo volumes grow, it is anticipated that resource consumption
will also rise. To address this, the Group is committed to
implementing a comprehensive suite of energy-saving initiatives.
These measures are designed to curb the escalation of resource use
and enhance the efficiency of various energy sources.

Due to the nature of the Group’s business, its daily business
operations posed no significant adverse impact on the environment
directly. However, the indirect greenhouse gas emissions would
aggravate the phenomenon of global warming. The Group
strives to reduce the indirect impact caused by greenhouse gas
emissions through various measures mentioned in the sections
“ENVIRONMENTAL” and “USE OF RESOURCES”.

The Group endeavors to comply with the applicable environmental
laws and regulations and has adopted effective measures to reduce
wastage. Our employees are fully aware that it is important for the
operation of the Group to minimize the impact on the environment
and natural resources. Our management also closely monitors the
utilities consumption in different offices and encourages employees
to work together to reduce utilities consumption.

Indoor Air Quality

The Group is committed to providing employees with a pleasing
working environment to enhance work efficiency. Due to the
nature of the Group’s business, its employees spend most of their
working time in the office, implying that indoor air quality in the
workplace is of paramount importance. Therefore, indoor air quality
is constantly monitored and improved by the utilisation of several
measures. Such measures include installing air purifiers, cleaning
air-conditioning systems regularly and choosing products with low
or zero volatile organic compounds where applicable. By adopting
these measures, indoor air quality of office was maintained.

We understand that climate change is one of, if not the biggest
challenge for mankind in the 21st century, and low-carbon
production of transportation services is an indispensable solution
to climate risks. As a leading comprehensive transportation
service provider in China, we endeavour to improve governance
performance on climate-related issues and strive to make
substantiate contributions to China’s 14th Five-Year Plan and the
ultimate goal of “carbon neutrality”.
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The Group recognises the importance of the identification and
mitigation of significant climate-related issues, therefore closely
monitors the potential impact of climate change on our business
and operations. In accordance with the reporting framework
developed by the Task Force on Climate-related Financial
Disclosures, there are two major categories of climate-related risks,
physical and transition risks. During the Reporting Period, climate-
related risks have been embedded into the Group’s risk register of
existing risk management system, and relevant mitigation measures
have also been formulated. The working group is expected to
evaluate different situations and coordinate relevant environmental
measures between different departments, as well as to report
regularly to the Board.

Physical risk

The increased frequency and severity of extreme weather events
such as typhoons, storms, heavy rains, and extreme cold or heat
pose acute and chronic physical risks to the Group’s business.

To minimise the potential risks and hazards, the continuous upgrade
of our monitoring system by adopting the train dispatch and
command system (“TDCS”) allows us to monitor the possible impact
caused by extreme weather events on our facilities and services,
which means Canggang Company would be able to act swiftly and
solve different incidents.

Canggang Company has designed precautionary measures to
handle any potential incidents and risks from climate change. If
an extremely high temperature circumstance occurs, we would
consider shortening the outdoor working hours for the safety of
our employees. Certain amendments in our budget will be made
to make sure items and equipment that are needed to prevent
heat stroke are available. Canggang Company would also conduct
simulation sessions in case of extreme weather every season to
ensure both the employees and the Board are well-prepared for
these potential emergency incidents.

Transition Risks

To achieve the global vision on carbon neutrality, the Group expects
evolution of the regulatory, technological and market landscape due
to climate change, including the tightening of national policies and
listing rules and the emergence of environmentally related taxes.
Stricter environmental laws and regulations may expose enterprises
to higher risks of claims and lawsuits, which might incur additional
compliance costs and affect the reputation of the Group.

In response to the policy and legal risks as well as the reputation
risks, the Group constantly monitors any changes in laws or
regulations and global trends on climate change to avoid cost
increments, non-compliance fines or reputational risks due to
delayed response. In addition, the Group has taken comprehensive
environmental protection measures, including GHG reduction
measures, and has set targets to gradually reduce the Group’s
energy consumption and GHG emissions in the future, in order to
mitigate the impact of such risks.
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Employment

Employees are the fundamentals of the Group and the management
of human capital is a crucial part of Canggang Company. We
implement clear and concise policies are formally documented in
the “Employee Onboarding and Leaving Management Measures”
covering employment, recruitment, dismissal, remuneration, benefits
and development. We review and update the relevant policies
regularly in accordance with the latest laws and regulations.

Canggang Company’s employees comply with national policies,
laws, and regulations for our human resources management and
anti-corruption arrangement, strictly implement the Company’s
safety production management on “Driving Management Rules”,
“Production Section Management Rules” and other related
regulations. We expect a high level of labour discipline from them
and would like them to take care of public properties, including the
eagerness to learn and master the required business knowledge
and skills for their jobs, and the sense of unity and cooperation to
complete different tasks.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with employment related laws and
regulations that would have a significant impact on the Group. Such
laws and regulations include but are not limited to the Labour Law
and the Labour Contract Law of the PRC.

Recruitment, Promotion and Dismissal

The Group seeks to build an elite workforce by recruiting
outstanding employees. We adhere to the principles of transparent
and fairness to adopt a robust recruitment process based on merit
selection against the job criteria applied. Recruitment of individuals
are based on their suitability for the positions and potential to
fulfil the Group’s current and future needs, regardless of their
race, gender, religion, physical disability, marital status, sexual
orientation, etc.

The Group established “Management Measures for Regularizing,
Transferring, and Promoting Employees” to offers promotion and
development opportunities for outperforming employees through an
open and fair assessment system so as to explore their capability,
assist them on career development and contribute to the Group’s
sustainable growth. Staff performance reviews are carried out
regularly to assess employees’ work performance based on the
principle of meritocracy, talents and competitiveness on an open
and fair basis.
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As of 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 648 full-time f2024% 128318 ' AEEHLEE648E 2B
employees. The percentage breakdown of the employees was as {EE - EEBF D LLBEMANT :
follows:

Employees by gender Employees by employment type Employees by age group
RUEREDNEED M RERERESNEEDH RERAREPNEEDH

0%

6%

40%

94%

25%

16%

H Male W Female B Full Time W Part Time B Below 30 W 31-40
Bt 7t 2 Fid 4 305 T 31Z405%
W 41-50 I Above 50
41Z503 5054+
Employees by location Employees by education level
RibBNBEISWEEDH BEBKTESWEED M
1 0,
7% & 6%

93%
93%
B Cangzhou [ Others M Postgraduate or = Bachelor W Associate Degree or others
M HAth Doctoral Degree S Efy BB Bk H A
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Employee’s remuneration and benefits

We continue to offer competitive salary package to our employees
based on an open, fair and just salary distribution policy that closely
monitors economic and individual performance. The salary package
is closely linked to the employee’s duties, responsibilities and
performances. We adopt an appraisal system to assess employees’
performances which are seen as the basis of our decisions in
relation to salary adjustments, bonuses and promotions.

We strive to create a warm and caring working environment for
our employees, in which we provide different facilities to help
maintain such an environment. We provide shuttle bus service for
our employees to commute between their homes and the office.
Our Group would also regularly check and replace air-conditioners
and heaters to ensure they are in a suitable condition. Meanwhile,
we make sure that our employees would not be working under
any threats, violence or illegal restrictions on personal freedom.
Our employees could also refuse working engagements if they are
required to work under dangerous operations which could threaten
their lives.

Recruitment process

Our recruitment process follows a standard protocol to make sure
that we provide a fair and equal opportunity for every candidate.
Every department has to submit a recruitment plan for the Board to
review and approve. The Human Resource Department should be
the only department to manage recruitment-related issues, other
departments are only allowed to recommend candidates but are
prohibited to conduct the recruitment process by themselves.

Recruiting through campus, the internet and the open market are
the three predominant ways of our recruitment strategy. Potential
candidates would first have to pass a first-round interview and
would need to provide information such as identification to prove
no criminal conviction, health condition report, and certificates
to demonstrate they are able to fulfill the requirement for certain
technical positions. A background check would be done to ensure
there is no fraudulent information.

All new employees would be provided with sufficient training
sessions to allow them to understand and embrace our standards,
goals and company culture. During their probation period, despite
certain discounted performance bonus, all other treatments are the
same as regular employees.
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Diversity, Equal Opportunity and Anti-discrimination

The Group is committed to creating and maintaining an inclusive
and collaborative workplace culture in which all can thrive. The
Group was dedicated to provide equal opportunities in all aspects of
employment and maintaining workplace that are free from any forms
of discrimination and harassment against any individual on the basis
of race, religion, colour, gender, physical or mental disability, and
age, place of origin, marital status, and sexual orientation.

The Group also has zero tolerance in any forms of sexual
harassment or abuse at workplace. Any employee who is
intimidated, humiliated, bullied or harassed (including sexual
harassment) may report to the employee’s representative, or file
complaints directly to the management representative or the general
manager, and we will take serious approaches to resolve these
issues upon receiving the said complaints.

Dismissal process

Employees that going to leave their posts include: (1) those who
reach the national legal retirement age; (2) those who retire due to
sickness; (3) those who proposed to resign; and (4) those who are
dismissed by our Group. Those who violate any law or regulations
and cause any losses to our Group would have to compensate our
group for the loss. While other employees are going to resign and
retire, a Resignation Notice will be issued and all the procedures
would follow the guideline sets in the Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s overall employee turnover
rate was approximately 7.76%?. Figures below present details:

By Gender RIEB
Male B
Female g

By Age group 2GR 48 B
30 years old or below 30 AT
31-40 years old 315k 24057
41-50 years old 4155 2505%
51 years old or above 5155k A £
By Region RiE
Cangzhou BN
Others Hty

Notes:

3.  Overall turnover rate is calculated by applying the following formula:

Total no. of employee left during the Reporting Period

x 100%
(Total no. of employee at the beginning + Total no. of employee

at the end of the Reporting Period)/2

4.  Turnover rate by each specific category is calculated by applying the
following formula:

Total no. of employee left in the specific category during the Reporting Period
x 100%

(Total no. of employee in the specific category at the beginning
+ Total no. of employee in the specific category at the end of the Reporting Period)/2
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8.11%

10.74%

8.37%
sk -
3. BEFRARRUTARNE

RBMEHABER 2 EELH
(BEHNzEELY + RENRZEESLE) 2

x 100%

4. BREENZRIEZZUTAXGFE

RIFEHRZBERRBRB 2 EEAH

(BEBRNZBERR < EERY
+ BREBPRZB TR 2 EER) 2

x 100%




ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

On top of a comfortable working environment which we are keen
to establish, a safe working environment is also key for us as we
commit to protecting the safety and occupational health of our
employees.

As mentioned, safety training which includes our safety
management policy, on-site safety measures and emergency
arrangements would be regularly conducted for our employees. We
also adopt several measures to ensure the safety of our working
environment is up to the standard, these include:

—  The monitoring of flammable goods;

—  The establishment of a safety production committee to oversee
the safety production management;

— Organize regular safety activities and training;

—  Ensure staffs have passed safety training and assessment
before they are involved in our freight transportation business;

—  Monthly inspection of our freight transportation;
—  Monthly inspection of freight vehicles and facilities;

- Arrange freight transportation of dangerous materials in
accordance to specified policies; and

—  Documents and perform key inspection of dangerous goods.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with health and safety related laws and
regulations that would have a significant impact on the Group. Such
laws and regulations include but are not limited to the Labour Law
of the PRC and Production Safety Law of the PRC. Also, no work-
related fatalities or loss of working hours under work injury have
been reported during the Reporting Period. The Group has achieved
zero work-related fatalities in the past three years, including the
Reporting Period.

R - HERERRSE

EMTERARRENTENIFRE 22T
FERETRARE R LIITARRMABHIRE
ETNZERBERE -

WA HMERRETRHEZ2F - &
BZ2EERR REZ2ERREIZH -
BATERE THRREUBERIFRREEIZS
S BEEEERE

- HIZRLEZRSS EREZRLEEEE;

- TEHEBRZEZEFREI

- HMREIGZSHEEBEI/FALABBLREIE
B FE A

- EBAREEETIAENRIE:

- REBEEERRZHERRYENES K

- KEERERAUMTEHRE -

REEHR AEETERBTMNEREBR
BERZEMERER LHEHAEEELR
EVENERER - ZFEEEREE (BEF
R CFEISEE) R(PEZZEEE) ° It
S MEMABEZEREMEA IR TCERHE
TEMERTREX AEERNBE=ZF (&
EREH ERTREIRTEN -

REBHBERAT o 2024F F5H 67



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R - dERERKRSE

We prioritise the growth and development of our employees, as we
believe they are the foundation of our daily operations and the key
to our future success. To support their skill development, we offer a
variety of resources, including systematic on-the-job training.

We aim for these resources to facilitate sustainable career
development for our employees, enhance their work quality, and
ultimately achieve mutual developmental goals between Canggang
Company and our workforce.

BFUETIHNHREBERAL  IIHREM
BEEICREFABEFENER  FEKRRK
BIIIEEE - RIEBE TR TE AL - FAM
RESEER  BERASICNVEREI -

EMNWERRERBUEEREES TENTE
BNSEERR RBSIFEER BRERRE
NAHEBTHHEERER -
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Safety and the improvement of job skills are the main themes of our
training, we would like our employees to understand the guiding
principle of “safe production” as well as the safety production
guidelines, policies and regulations of different departments. We
also incorporate our analysis of previous and typical accidents or
emergency rescue cases in our training program to prevent these
incidents to happen again. The training program is led by the safety
supervision office with the assistance of the human resources
department.

Furthermore, we provide job skills training to our employees at
different stages to match their work content, which enables them to
understand the culture, history and structure of the Company.

RE - #HBRERRE

ZEMEATERERRMAEIERE - RN
FEETHRATHIZ2EE INESRA - U
REMPANZZEELSH BREARE - R
FoMBERAREHURBRSRERS - #
HMAIEINREZ - ARG LB BIRBAE < 373
REAZEEERLEZEADEREMGET

o=y
£ o

o RMETERREERIFEATRETR
HITEREEE - M THAQTNL - E
SRR

Administrative management system, business work system and
ethical code of conduct are the predominant topics that we would
like our employees to learn. A wide range of programs has been
offered for these topics, including “Business Ethics Training”,
“Compliance Training” and “International Reporting Financial
Standards Training”.

THREEHE B TEHIERBETATA
REMMEETEBENEIBANR - At S
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e
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BRI - HBRERKE

We recognise that our employees are essential to our progress. To
support their development, the Group has launched the “Elite Plan”
(2024-2028). This strategic roadmap aims to build a strong pipeline
of technical and managerial leaders.

We have also enhanced our employee training program, increasing
its intensity and coverage. This ensures our workforce is well-
prepared for the Group’s long-term sustainable development. By
promoting a culture of continuous learning, we aim to create a
skilled team that can adapt to changing industry demands.

During the Reporting Period, we focused on improving our training
programs to ensure all production staff participate. As a result, 648
employees have completed the training, representing 100% of our
workforce. We are committed to providing ongoing professional
development opportunities for our employees.

employees trained

By Gender =5l
Male S
Female zZ

By Employee Category REBEHR
Management EEE
Other employees Hitfgg

Notes:

6. The percentage of trained employees by category was calculated by
applying the following formula:

Total no. of employees in the specified category
who took part in training during the Reporting Period

x 100%
(Total no. of employee in the specified category at the end of the Reporting Period)

7. Ther average training hours by category was calculated by applying the
following formula:

Total no. of training hours for employees in the specified category

during the Reporting Period
9 poring x 100%

(Total no. of employees in the specified category who took part in training
during the year)

During the Reporting Year, we have organised both internal and
external training courses for employees. Such training courses
cover topics including but not limited to industrial updates and
management ability improvement, compliance matters, occupational
health and safety, etc.
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During the Reporting Period, we were proud to receive the
distinction of “Excellent Service Brand of Transportation Enterprises
in Hebei Province” for the second time, awarded by the Hebei
Provincial Transportation Association. This prestigious recognition
reflects the dedication and exceptional performance of our staff.
Such achievements motivate us to maintain and enhance our
service standards, ensuring that we consistently deliver outstanding
experiences for our customers.

Prevention of Child and Forced Labour

We strongly resist the use of any child and forced labour and would
ensure our employment system has no loopholes on this issue. The
Group strictly complies with local laws and prohibits any child and
forced labour employment.

An “Entry Registration Form” would be required for all our newly
employed staff and the personnel department would review their
identity cards and health certificates.

The department would then check whether the content filled is
consistent with the submitted certificates. If any discrepancies are
found, they would be rectified accordingly. In the event that child
labour is found to have been negligently employed, the child worker
would first be suspended immediately. Health checks would then
be arranged as soon as possible when he/she is returned to his/
her parents or guardian. Furthermore, employees of the Group work
overtime only on a voluntary basis to prevent any breaches of labour
standards.

In compliance with the above laws and regulations, we make sure
our Group have established a strict and sound employment system
that would not tolerate any forms of illegal employment, child labour
and forced labour. Thus, during the Reporting Period, and in the
future, we would not use any child labour or forced labour. During
the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with any material noncompliance with child and forced
labour-related laws and regulations that would have a significant
impact on the Group. Such laws and regulations include but are
not limited to the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China,
the Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Protection of Minors,
the Labour Dispute Mediation and Arbitration Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the
Protection of Women’s Rights and Interests, the Law of the People’s
Republic of China on the Protection of Disabled Persons, and other
relevant rules and regulations with reference to employment.
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We have maintained a cooperative relationship with a total of 46
suppliers and subcontractors in the Reporting Period. The scope
of their services includes but is not limited to the supply of fuel,
raw materials for infrastructure, telecommunications equipment,
and personal protective gear. Canggang Company would prioritize
suppliers that provide materials that are manufactured within the
Cangzhou region to minimize the environmental impact and carbon
emission due to transportation.

BEBMR - RMESH6RERBN D EEHR
FEERE - AN RBHESEETRNE
FERRE - BERERENREME - EERBAEA
PERE - RBLAAKELZERMAENAM
& MR HER - RO E@ERNER
B BB

Percentage of suppliers by region

rESSHHEFIE S

13%

11%

B Cangzhou M Liaoning B Shandong
BN BE TS

We share our ESG goals and targets with our suppliers and expect
them to have a high standard for environmental protection as
well. We would ask our suppliers to have environmental protection
measures in their production process, which is one of the indicators
for Canggang Company’s committee to evaluate and choose the
appropriate supplier. We select the suppliers based on the following
criteria:

—  The supplier or subcontractor should be the leading enterprise
in their respective industries, and do not have a conviction
record in terms of violating any environmental requirement as
requested by the authority;

— The products or services that the supplier or subcontractor
provides should be energy-efficient and environmentally
friendly;

—  Suppliers that directly offers product or service would be
preferable to retailer to improve efficiency;

— National enterprises would be more preferred than private
enterprises; and

—  Local enterprises from the Cangzhou region would be preferred
given the circumstance that their efficiency and expected profit
are the same as other enterprises.
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Transportation safety is an issue that our Group always value
as we understand our business of rail freight and road freight
transportation are fundamentally dangerous. We have complied with
relevant laws and regulations by setting up a safety management
organization and engaging safety management personnel. Over the
past three years, encompassing the Reporting Period, there have
been no safety incidents resulting in property damage, nor have
there been any truck-related incidents.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with railway transportation safety related
laws and regulations that would have a significant impact on the
Group. Such laws and regulations include but are not limited to
the Regulation of Railway Safety Management and Implementation
Measures on Administrative Punishment for Violation of the
Regulation on Railway Safety Management. Meanwhile, the
Company had not received any complaints relating to our services.
If we receive any complaints regarding our service, we will address
them as soon as possible and review our procedures to make sure
our customers are satisfied and that their safety is ensured.

We will provide an annual transportation report that documents
our transportation business, voluntary transportation services,
transportation safety conditions and status of other relevant
conditions for the license to the National Railway Administration
before the 31st of March each year.

Safety infrastructure

We continue to upgrade our TDCS with optical communication
cables that directly link with our internal monitoring system,
monitoring systems at different stations, and our servers for
dispatch and command purposes. Through the combination of using
TDCS, GPS, security cameras and radios, we could monitor the
real-time location of trains and centralize the process of dispatch,
loading, and unloading of trains. The system improves the accuracy
of our service and allows Canggang Company to take immediate
action if unfortunate accidents happen.

We have also conducted some upgrade to the fundamentals of
our railway, including our railway track, nearby facilities and the
construction of the culvert, the details of such upgrade are as
follow:

1. Adopt the usage of materials of higher quality in upgrading the
railway track and roadbed, in order to improve the reliability of
the track and stability of transportation.

2. Automatize our blocking system which is previously controlled
by telephones. Such a change could raise the effectiveness of
our operation by shortening the cycle time of operation.

3. Automatize the monitoring system of railway crossings to
ensure the safety of these crossings and to allow our trains to
operate at their highest speed.

R - HERERRSE

BMAAETEREEN A REEXRE 2 E
EEREE AEASEZREAEHLZE -
EMREZ2EEAS8 YZRZ2EEA
8 BRETHEBEEESR RBE=EFE
(BEHREHA)  TEBLEEMLZEZERER
MERX  TEBEFEMEBSR -

REEHR - AEETEREFRTMEREHEE
REBZE2MERESR LHEHAEEEL
BEZENEAEN - RS ERERBE (B
TRM(ERZ2EERID R CER(ERZ
2ERFROAITRESERIE) - i A2
AN EEETMABERMNRBRE - M
BEAEBERMNORBHIRG  RMSRRE
BEYRFERER  UWBREFPREURRE
RENZE -

EMEAESFIAAOBEREERIEHRFE
BmmE  HINRMANERER BEEHRK
% BE R 2R R E AR AT R R AR

Z2HEE

RMEEARTDCS  RAXBEEEEEH
BFMAIEIZ RS - FEBMHEZERGM
AFaRERE  UEAENEE BBESEA
TDCS - GPS Z2BMEHRENERE - B
AUERMENERUE  SEPHE - KH
MEHIIBHBRE - ZRSRIRS RBHOER -
LB N BN AR TB R T =5 -

KMTHETHERERSRETETHE &
S8 MIENREFRBNER » ARFS
nF

1. RARSRENRENRKAEEESH
ME SHEERTE  BRENRE -

2. BBEUESFEHNBEHRAGAEL
EBEERFAMMESEERE -

3. BEBRIXOMENRKEDL  BEX
XAME2 BHBTURREREE
5o

RBEEERAT o 2024FF5H 73



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R - dERERKRSE

Prevention of Bribery, Extortion, Fraud, and Money Laundering
Over the past years, the Group has always attached great
importance to the prevention and punishment of corrupt behaviours.
Upholding integrity and committed to clean business practices,
we believe that a corruption-free company culture is the key to
the Group’s continuous success. Therefore, we highly value our
anti-corruption work and the creation of a clean system. The
anti-corruption work of the Group mainly adheres to preventive
measures, and advocates a corporate culture of integrity and
honesty, for we strive to create a clean business environment.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has strictly complied with
all applicable laws and regulations. The Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance with related laws and regulations of
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering that would have a
significant impact on the Group. Such laws and regulations include
but are not limited to the Criminal Law of the PRC, Anti-Money
Laundering Law of the PRC and the Company Law of the PRC.

To improve corporate governance and internal control, and to
promote a clean business culture, we have stipulated a code of
conduct for employees in the “Employee Handbook” that provides
guidelines on acceptable behaviours in the course of business
activities. We adopt a zero tolerance approach against any kind of
illegal behaviour, such as fraud and unjust enrichment, committed
by our staff and third parties for their own gain and at the expense
of the Company. The “Employee Handbook” guides directs our staff
to adhere to business ethics and the principle of integrity.

During the Reporting Period, the Directors and our senior
management staff have received training of business ethics training
in relation to the conflict of interest, common misconduct and
corrupt practices to promote sound corporate governance of the
companies and ensure effective internal controls as well as the
guardian role of company secretaries and related professionals in
safeguarding the interests of different stakeholders. Moreover, we
conducted targeted training focused on reinforcing the principles
of party discipline and integrity for 125 employees during the
Reporting Period. This three-hour session was designed to heighten
their awareness of anti-corruption practices.

Whistle-blowing policy

Our group set up confidential channels to encourage employees to
raise their concerns regarding any suspected conflict of interest,
misconduct and corrupt practice. All reported cases would be
promptly and thoroughly investigated by our independent internal
audit department. They would then be reported to the Board and
the Audit Committee if there is sufficient evidence. Canggang
Company’s confidential channels will keep the reporter anonymous.

If such report represents any criminal offences, Canggang Company
will consult with our legal advisor and report to relevant authorities if
needed.

74 Canggang Railway Limited e Annual Report 2024

Br L FRRR ~ RRF - BFERERE

ZER AEERKSEERARREBEES
TR -BABDURETE  RERENBE
TR BMEEZEESHEEMLDAEERE
BRYNESRE - At EMALEERREEER
T AIRREFE AEENRESITHEE
BLppERE  EEBMAEFEQAMNMEL - #
MENRIZRBNERRE -

REBEEHMA AEEBREETHEERER
ER o AEEWBEREMERBRABEE - &
FF > MEFRORBEBAVEEESR XESVEE
EELBESENERBR - ZFERERE
FE(REAE) ~ (PEREEE) R(PEQ T
ED) e

RABECEEARANMEGKY - RERZEE
Xt RMEIETFMITREERENTR
£ BEKEBBRETAEMANTRIERE
Bl e EMBFRBEIREF=ZFHRAEMAERX
H3EEITR (MBFERTERFF) - BAFMIE
ERQARNGE - [ETFMITESIETETE
HEERHAERE -

REBESHR ESNSREEAEYCEZH
RABER - FRNAETANESTANG
EEmgd MEERARNREFEXES @ &
REMARPES - AR AR WENBBEEZE
ALTHEEERRSDERRE S EOREEM -
LA PR EBABI2BEBEET T &
R ABRESBCBERHAERA o 57
E‘J};IEE'?%E%E'J‘H% ERERSEEHRESER

HFHE

AEBORURERE SRS THREM A
NBHR - TETARESITRRELERE - 7
FERERYSARAB/INRNERETHE
HAE WEEREARBEOESETRELEZES
B MRBARNRERESHERAES -

HERERRISREMMBLETH  BEBL
ANEHASEEEEBYNMER L REEH

BB



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

We have cultivated a strong company culture through engaging
internal events that enhance employee cohesion and foster a
sense of belonging. At Canggang Company, we are dedicated
to skill research and development, which has led to significant
improvements in our railway services and the automation of road
safety monitoring systems. In line with our strategic development
goals, we are committed to promoting societal stability and raising
social welfare awareness among our team members.

To support this commitment, Canggang Company has established
corporate social responsibility policies that deepen our workforce’s
understanding and implementation of social responsibility. These
policies outline our priorities for community investment, particularly
in social welfare and environmental protection. We actively
encourage our employees to participate in volunteer service
and fundraising activities, contributing to the betterment of our
community.

We believe that involvement in charitable initiatives and
volunteerism can play a vital role in addressing social challenges.
During the Reporting Period, our employees demonstrated this
spirit of generosity by donating a total of RMB18,870 to the Pok
Oi one-day donation event, organised by The Red Cross. Their
contributions reflect our collective commitment to making a positive
impact in society.

We are also going to start construction projects to build additional
branch lines that extend to Port Huanghua and the northern
Shandong area, as well as new Special Service Lines that allow
Canggang Company to connect extensively with factories, our
existing customers, and any future customers. The construction of
these additional railway lines would intensify our connection with
the community as they would raise more exchange opportunities
within these geographic areas. The advantage of rail freight
transportation in terms of its cost-efficiency, particularly compared
to road transportation, would also drive the development of
these areas. Meanwhile, we would gradually increase the range
of our services as we plan to include more types of cargo in our
transportation service. By transporting cargoes such as coal, ore,
bauxite and chemicals, we could bring positive impacts on the
community’s local development, the building of infrastructure, and
the manufacturing industries.

We are committed to ongoing investment in our community,
which will further strengthen our position as a leading and well-
established enterprise in the railway transportation market in Hebei
Province. By fostering positive relationships and contributing to
local development, we aim to enhance our impact and support
sustainable growth in the region.
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MHETEA+FEERNEE-ABED

SHIBHARK18,870T  BR T EEEH
B BEINERMRREMBLEELEES
BHHEEE ©

BEATHRARREBUNERES G K
RIEREFEBRIIRILIBE  MHBEAKR
TAEBRBARENRE BRAFFREMEE
BERAES o BE R K8 R I AERE
HENRAEE  #MNRETENKE - &
HEREBERANm T HANEZ (LARHE
BREBHAR  THEDZSHENRRE -
Lo HAKELERREEHE - LIIARRK
MBI BRREARBUREESGYEL - 3
BEXRER BAH RBLIBRECERZEY
EFEBHENBLTRE  ERRERRLR
EETREASE -

BRI REFERENTELE - E—D N
BMERTEEERER TSN ELMEAL
ERH(  BBEV FEBERL RS BRIF
HERM BMNEERARMNVLEIAXSE
HMERHERRE -
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - #H2RERKRE

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORTING GUIDE
CONTENT INDEX

BE #E8RERBEESIARTRS

Corresponding

Disclosure Description of the disclosure report section
BREER BREERABRHL HEREEDH
Governance A statement from the Board containing the following BOARD STATEMENT,
structure elements: THE ESG GOVERNANCE
EIARE STRUCTURE
(i) a disclosure of the Board’s oversight of ESG issues; EE2BH  -BE -HER
EREERE

(i) the Board’s ESG management approach and
strategy, including the process used to evaluate,
prioritize and manage material ESG-related issues
(including risks to the issuer’s businesses); and

(iii) how the Board reviews progress made against
ESG-related goals and targets with an explanation
of how they relate to the issuer’s businesses.

HESSRENER  EFHETIAE

() REESSYRE HERELRSENEE

(i) EBENRE -HERELEEFHRERE - SFF
- BRBIIREBEEENRE HERELEES
H(BRERTAEEZNEAR) WBRE &

(i) ESSNARFNERE  HEREL[ERE RIEE
WiFEZE B REBITARKAER -
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Disclosure

BEEFR

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - #HBRERRE

Corresponding

Description of the disclosure report section

BEERARHEML RS R

Reporting
Principles

W|ERA

Reporting
Boundary

& E

A description of, or an explanation on, the application of ABOUT THIS REPORT
the following Reporting Principles in the preparation of ~ BERAIRE
the ESG report:

Materiality: The ESG report should disclose:

(i) the process to identify and the criteria for the
selection of material ESG factors;

(i) if a stakeholder engagement is conducted, a
description of significant stakeholders identified,
and the process and results of the issuer’s
stakeholder engagement.

Quantitative: Information on the standards,
methodologies, assumptions and/or calculation tools
used, and source of conversion factors used, for the
reporting of emissions/energy consumption (where
applicable) should be disclosed.

Consistency: The issuer should disclose in the ESG
report any changes to the methods or KPIs used,

or any other relevant factors affecting a meaningful
comparison.

B RREERRR HERELBRERUNMEATIRE
JRA :

EEN RS HAREAHEERE

iy BIEERE HEREARNENAREREEZESR
=ZMWER

(i) WBETACDETENESH BREAINEZEHEN
HARBEITABNESHNBARRER -

Bt FHEBSHNRE BRER (MBER) FANEE 7
E o BERR/RFAETANER - URAEANERERERIR
FRIET LA E -

— M BTARERE HEREARSTREST HER
HRENERNEMNSESEMEMLERESRLRNEER
ESE

A narrative explaining the reporting boundaries of the ABOUT THIS REPORT
ESG report and describing the process used to identify BN AR

which entities or operations are included in the ESG

report. If there is a change in the scope, the issuer

should explain the difference and reason for the change.

REBRE HEREAMESHBREEHRE  REMBEEHR

ARE HEREARENERIEBNBRE - HREEH

BEEMEE BOARBEBEIRIZEREHRA -
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RiE -8 RER

Disclosure

5l

A. Environmental
A. B
Aspect A1: Emissions

B EA1

3 &

General
Disclosure

— R

KPI A1.
RARE

KPI A1
RARE

KPI A1
ERA

KPI A1

KPI A1
BASRAR

KPI A1
BEA

78

E

1
MIEIRAL1

2
MIERAL.2

.3
MIEBALS

A4
BIERAL14

%5
MIETRALS

.6
MIEEA1.6

Canggang Railway Limited

&

Description of the disclosure

Information on:
(a)
(b)

the policies; and

compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
FEBERNREREHR RARLIHHNEES BERE
EEREYNELD

(@) X &
(b) BTHBTABEAFENHEBEIERANNESR -

The types of emissions and respective emissions data.

RMERREEEREIE -

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2)

greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where

appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production

volume, per facility).

Eﬁ(iﬁlﬂ&abﬁﬁﬁ(iﬁlz)/ EREHM (LINEETE)
ZE(RMER) (MUSESEN - SEREAH) °

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and,

where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).
FEEAEEENBE UMHE) REE (HER) (105
BEEEN BERRAE) °

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and,
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

FFEEEEEEYEAE (UMt8E) REE (HEA) (205
BEESEN BEREAE) °

Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them.

B AR ET LR BE B B R T EREGERE B RA1TE -

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes are handled, and a description of reduction
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
HAEEEERBEERZEYN R ERMEPIET AR EER
LR FrRBUE U5 B B AR 1T 8 -

e Annual Report 2024

Corresponding
report section

HERE R

ENVIRONMENTAL -
Environmental Protection,
Energy Saving and Emission
Reduction

RERR - BRI B

ENVIRONMENTAL - Air
Emissions

RE—BERHFEN

ENVIRONMENTAL -
Greenhouse Gas Emissions
RIEREREHEMK

/ﬂIl:l:

ENVIRONMENTAL - Waste
Management
RIR—BEEYER

ENVIRONMENTAL - Waste
Management
RE—BERYEE

ENVIRONMENTAL -
Target, Air Emissions

RE—BR BERIER

ENVIRONMENTAL -
Target, Waste Management

RE—BR BEYEHE



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - #HBRERRE

Corresponding
Disclosure Description of the disclosure report section

HEEFR REERARHEL HERE R

Aspect A2: Use of Resources
BEA2 : £AER

General Policies on the efficient use of resources, including USE OF RESOURCES

Disclosure energy, water and other raw materials. FERER

—RIKE BRERAER (BFEER - KREMESE) BB -

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in USE OF RESOURCES -

BREMIEEA2.1  total and intensity. Energy reduction
REAIASNWEER RBEEREARERTE - FERER D

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity. USE OF RESOURCES -

BBENIEEA22 HBEKERRE - Water Resource

FERER—IKER

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and USE OF RESOURCES -

AR M IS1ZA2.3 steps taken to achieve them. Target, Energy reduction
BT YNERERARZEERAREEREHERN FRER—BE B HERE
T8 -

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing USE OF RESOURCES -

AR EMISEA2.4 water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s). Target, Water Resource

BRGERKRETBEMEE  URAKREEE . EFER—BR K&ER

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in Use of Packaging Material
AR EMIEZA2.5 tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per unit (Not applicable — Explained)
produced. FEREEMH
%Jﬁé?ﬁﬁﬁﬁ’@i@ﬁﬂ%@% (U E) REEEEVEE (8 (FER—EFEHR)
[&] o

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

BHEA3 : RERRXRER

General Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impacts THE ENVIRONMENT AND

Disclosure on the environment and natural resources. NATURAL RESOURCES

—RIKE WEBTABRERARERERERNLENIR - RIERRAER

KPI AS3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on THE ENVIRONMENT AND

B & MIEZA3.1  the environment and natural resources and the actions ~ NATURAL RESOURCES
taken to manage them. RIBERARER

HAEBEDHHRER X AL RN EALERFFNER
AWPENTE -
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Corresponding
Disclosure Description of the disclosure report section

HEEFR REERARHEML HERE R

Aspect A4: Climate Change
[EHEA4 : RIZZ1L

General Policies on identification and mitigation of significant CLIMATE CHANGE
Disclosure climate-related issues which have impacted, and those  RIZ& 1t
—RIBE which may impact, the issuer.
BAIREHEERAEEHBRITAEELENERRIENE
BEEMNBGR -

KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues CLIMATE CHANGE -
BSR4 MIE1ZA4.1 which have impacted, and those which may impact, the  Physical Risks, Transition
issuer, and the actions taken to manage them. Risks
HIEERRAIREEHBRTAELEYENEARBGEBEEE Y KESC—VWERAR -

REHTE - 8% [

B. Social Employment and Labour Practices
B.HEEBREIER

Aspect B1: Employment

EmEB1 : EfE

General Information on: EMPLOYMENT PRACTICES
Disclosure — Recruitment, Promotion
—RIFE (a) the policies; and and Dismissal

ERZH—BE -EAR
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that  f#{&
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment
and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other
benefits and welfare.

FEFHREE - BEREAN - TESE - BREA - FTER
g It RERURHEMSERERNN :

(@ BX &
(b) BFHBTABERZENMHEBEERRBEINES -
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for EMPLOYMENT PRACTICES
B EMISEB1.1  example, full or part-time), age group and geographical - Recruitment, Promotion
region. and Dismissal
ZMER - EREREL (MEHHFRE)  FRANRHES S ERERER BE -BEAK
WIEEE AR - e
KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and EMPLOYMENT PRACTICES
AR EMIEEB1.2 geographical region. - Dismissal process
BMER - FRANIRBLEEINEERKE - EBREES—BERR
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Corresponding
Disclosure Description of the disclosure report section

HEEFR REERARHEL HERE R

Aspect B2: Health and Safety
BEB2: RERZ2

General Information on: HEALTH AND SAFETY
Disclosure RBREREZE
—RIEE (a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to providing a safe working environment and
protecting employees from occupational hazards.

FERMZE2THERERRERERABEMRLEN

(@) BRI R

(b) BFHBTATEAZENHBEEZRAGINES -
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in HEALTH AND SAFETY
AR EMIEEB2.1 each of the past three years including the Reporting BERZE

Period.

BEZF (BEBREH) BFEITHMAZBRER-
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. HEALTH AND SAFETY
BRENESEB22 EAIGEAIFAH- BERZE
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures HEALTH AND SAFETY,

B E M I51EB2.3 adopted, and how they are implemented and monitored. DEVELOPMENT AND
HMIRANBERREEZEZERE  UREBEFHTRER TRAINING N
Tk e BEREZE  BRREI

Aspect B3: Development and Training

[EEB3 : R RE3

General Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills DEVELOPMENT AND
Disclosure for discharging duties at work. Description of training TRAINING
—RIKE activities. R R
FRERAREBT IEBENANBRRBENBUER - MliE
FES o
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and DEVELOPMENT AND
A& WISEB3.1  employee category (e.g. senior management, middle TRAINING
management). BERREI

EUHpIRESEMN(NMSREEE - PREEE)EAINX
JEEBDL -

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by = DEVELOPMENT AND
B EMIEEB3.2 gender and employee category. \ TRAINING
BUBIRESEHNE S BSEEETRZINFHIEH - BEREZI
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Corresponding
Disclosure Description of the disclosure report section

HEEFR REERARHEHL HERE R

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
[EEB4 : & T

General Information on: OUR WORKFORCE -
Disclosure Prevention of Child and
—RIFE (@) the policies; and Forced Labour

BMWEI-MLEETIRRE
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that 45 &
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to preventing child and forced labour.

BRABILEEISESSITHN :
(@ BHEX K
b) BFHBETABEAZENHBLIERAINER -
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices OUR WORKFORCE -
A E M ISEB4.1  to avoid child and forced labour. Prevention of Child and
HiRNERENNEREUABRRETIRBALH o Forced Labour
BFNETI—MIEETIREA
28
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices OUR WORKFORCE -
FASEE M I51ZEB4.2  when discovered. Prevention of Child and
HAERRERBREEREBEBRAEKNNLSE - Forced Labour
KMMEI-PLETIR®RA

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

[EEBS : ftrEEER

General Policies on managing environmental and social risks of ~ SUPPLY CHAIN
Disclosure the supply chain. MANAGEMENT
—RIKE TREEHBENREREERAMOBR g EE
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. SUPPLY CHAIN
BRENIEEBS.1 RHBESHWHEBHE - MANAGEMENT
g EE
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, SUPPLY CHAIN
BASE & MIEEB5.2  number of suppliers where the practices are being MANAGEMENT
implemented, and how they are implemented and e EE
monitored.
HEEBRZERHEFNES  BTEANHERHE - U
REBIITRERSE -
KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental SUPPLY CHAIN
B EMIEEB5.3  and social risks along the supply chain, and how they MANAGEMENT
are implemented and monitored. g EE
M EREEAEEENREREERBNES - AR
HITRERGE-
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Disclosure

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BB -

Description of the disclosure

HERER®RE

Corresponding

report section

BEEF
KPI B5.4
BASE A M5 1EB5.4

BEERATHL

Description of practices used to promote
environmentally preferable products and services when
selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

M E R MRS EES ARRERRREHNES
URHEBHITRERGE -

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

RS R

SUPPLY CHAIN
MANAGEMENT
HEgEEE

EEB6: EmEE

General Disclosure

— R E

KPI B6.1
8 2 48 IS 1EB6.1

KPI B6.2
Bl i M 15 15B6.2
KPI B6.3

B A MIE15B6.3

KPI B6.4
BB AR W 15 15B6.4

KPI B6.5
B A I 12B6.5

Information on:
(a) the policies; and
(b)

compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling

and privacy matters relating to products and services
provided and methods of redress.
FRFREERNRBNRERZ2 - BS  EBRALE
EEURBRFEDN

(@) BE R
(b) BFHBRTABEAFENHBELERBRINESR -

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to
recalls for safety and health reasons.
EESCEXEMARTEZHRREAMARKNE

sl r A

Number of products and service related complaints
received and how they are dealt with.

EEBERERRBRBENIRFHE UREHTE -

Description of practices relating to observing and
protecting intellectual rights.

BHREERRENBREERBNED -

Description of quality assurance process and recall
procedures.

WIEERTRRERERDWERF -

Description of consumer data protection and privacy

policies, and how they are implemented and monitored.

Eﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬂﬁ@&ﬂ%ﬁ%v&&ﬁ@ﬁﬁ&%ﬁ
% e

REBEBRARAR o

TRANSPORTATION SAFETY
- Safety infrastructure
Ehzr-22EHE

Explanation: not suitable due
to the characteristics of the
service the Group provides.
mEER  ERAEERHEN
RG4S - REA -

TRANSPORTATION
SAFETY
Enzz

Explanation: not suitable due
to the characteristics of the
service the Group provides.
mEER ENAEEREEN
RIGASME - TEA -

TRANSPORTATION
SAFETY - Safety
infrastructure

BRzr-22EE

Explanation: not suitable due
to the characteristics of the
service the Group provides.
mEER  ERAEERMEN
RIG4H - REA -
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R - dERERKRSE

Disclosure Description of the disclosure
BEEHR BEERRIHL

Aspect B7: Anticorruption

EBHEB7 : RES

General
Disclosure

—REE (@)

Information on:
the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering.

BRI $R HEREREN

(@) BE &

(b) BFHBTABERZENHBEIERAINESN -
Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt

practices brought against the issuer or its employees
during the Reporting Period and the outcomes of the

KPI B7.1
B S A IS RBT A

cases.
RB|EHAUBTAIHEEERBICEFLANETHAER
B E RFRER -

KPI B7.2
8 45 WIS 1ZEBT.2

Description of preventive measures and whistle-
blowing procedures, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

WA EEE R BREF  URBEBEATRERLE -

Description of anti-corruption training provided to
directors and staff.
WROEEREIRENREFTEI -

Aspect B8: Community Investment
[EEB8 : @R A

KPI B7.3
B AR M IE1EBT.3

Corresponding
report section

HERE R

ANTI-CORRUPTION

ANTI-CORRUPTION -
Prevention of bribery,
extortion, fraud, and money
Laundering

RE)T - i IEBARK ~ BEF ~ B
FEREEE

ANTI-CORRUPTION -
Whistle-blowing policy
REF—RBBUK

ANTI-CORRUPTION

RES

General Policies on community engagement to understand the

Disclosure needs of the communities where the issuer operates

—RIEE and to ensure its activities take into consideration the
communities’ interests.
FRULEZERTBBETALEMELENEEMNRR
HEBTZHERLEERZABR

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education,

A& WIEEBS8.1  environmental concerns, labour needs, health, culture,
sport).
ErEREE(NHE RERE HIEFR -BE X

ft-BEH) -

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus
area.

EEIHEMBAER (WEENKE) -

KPI B8.2
8 8 45 WIS 1ZB8.2
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Board is pleased to present its report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2024.

The principal activities of the Group are the provision of rail freight
transportation and related ancillary services by operating freight
railway and railway yards.

The Group’s revenue is substantially generated from provision of rail
freight transportation and related ancillary services in the PRC. The
principal assets of the Group are also located in PRC. Accordingly,
no geographical segment information is presented.

A fair review of the Group’s business, a discussion of the principal
risks and uncertainties faced by the Group and an indication of
likely future developments in the Group’s business, as required by
Schedule 5 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, can be found
in the chapters headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report, respectively. This
discussion forms part of this directors’ report.

EEGHRE

BEEMARREAEEEE2024F12831H 1
FTENESSEREREERGAUBERE -

AEENEIRERDEBCEEEHR NEK
AESRASKEER BB RS -

FEBNBEEFRRENTEREHEBREER
HEWRE  MAKENEREET RS
AL E2FBED BER

BB RARAIMRSABRAEE P HHER
ClEE - BEAKEMESNEZAMBK TEE
HENFTWURHAEEEBHN AR ARER
MR BRAFHRIESSIFEREIRIE
EENWmEONIEEH -FHARBRAES

BHEN—HD -
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESTHE

Major customers and suppliers

The information in respect of the Group’s sales and purchases
attributable to the major customers and suppliers respectively
during the financial year is as follows:

TEFEFRHUER
RV RFEAREETEZFREHEEAR
HEFRGRBENENNT :

Percentage of
the Group’s total

EAEEAEEI L
Sales Purchases
HERE 24 £
The largest customer BAEF 31.7%
Five largest customers in aggregate AREFEGT 74.6%
The largest supplier BRAMER 17.5%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate T REEEES 53.6%

At no time during the Reporting Period have the Directors, their
associates or any Shareholder of the Company (which to the
knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the number of
issued shares of the Company) had any interest in these major
customers and suppliers.

Key Risks and Uncertainties
The following highlights some of the key risks that affect our
business:

Description of risk

J2R B i 3t

Type of risk
E R

RBERRNEAREBREES RENBBEA
FEARXAEMRR (BESHAREEEL LA
ERITROBESNULE) RZETERFK
HEBTEEEAES -

FTERBRETFARERR
UTREEARAEBNETIERARBE

Internal control measures

BB 1 He

Competition risk
BE E

Our Canggang Railway Line is directly
extended from the Cangzhou Station
to the Port Huanghua. During the
Reporting Period and up to the date
of this annual report, there are no
alternative routes for air and sea
transportation. Furthermore, due to
pre-existing differentiation by the
function of each railway, there’'s no
direct competition from Shuo-Huang
Railway Line and the Han-Huang
Railway Line within the Cangzhou-
Port Huanghua area. Our Canggang
Railway Line is a local railway operator
with a high degree of exclusivity and
insulation from competition.
AARMABRIDEZEERMNELEHESR
BB o REHMARBEAFHRAY > I
B ERNMEREERLR - It AR
FHRERLFEEZE  WERMNEER
BERBERNTFERBPESRRBESRN
HERT RABGREEaEHMMEAT
THEPFZENL LT EREER °
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The Company is operating under the
theme of “Changing ideas, improving
services and opening up markets” since
2020, and established 18 improvement
measures, such as actively coordinating
with local party committees, governments,
the NRA, and the Shuohuang Railway;
actively striving for policy and business
cooperation and support; and further
expanding our ancillary services including
road transportation, freight agency, filtering,
and other new service businesses in the
logistics chain.

BH20205F £ - AQAE [RBEE - RAR
% BEmE ] NESKEER  WHIE1818
BUERHE - PImME T ER - BT - BIRER
B R AEE BB  BBFEERZER
BEESE  WE—SREQRNEBRE -
BREERER SENRE  BERYREPH
o3 ELARFS 75 o



Type of risk
[ B dE A

Description of risk
L B 4 ot

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EEGHRE

Internal control measures

A BB 4 B

Investment risk

RERR

However, in the future development,
such pre-existing differentiation by
function is not legally binding and
there exists certain competition risks
on the Company's business. Since we
rely heavily on the coal transportation
business which accounts for over
60% of our revenue from rail freight
transportation. Therefore, the potential
competitors may harm the Company’s
competitive advantage.

AT FEARREBRT - WHEB BB
EMWEERORD  BAQRHER]
FE—ENHFERE o ARALDEEARK
RERXSR (AEAEESREEREE
B60%) @ EWEERFHFREHFAE
NEAMNBRES -

In the absence of reliable and relevant
information and feasibility analysis, any
decrease of value or underperformance
of these financial assets may adversely
affect our financial condition or
business prospects.
TERZAERABBENERMATITED TN
BRT  ZEEREENEETHRNKE
TMES e H RPN I AR R N EH AT =
EETHEE -

In the past few years, we invested
in short-term wealth management
products issued by licensed
commercial banks in China, which
mainly included investment portfolios
covering debentures, asset backed
securities, interbank loans, reverse
purchases and bank deposits.

RBEHF  RMPEREAPEGEEHRE
RITHITHNENENER  TEBRERE
BER  EERFES RITEER R
MBERRITERNIREES -

The Company adopted and implemented an
enhanced internal policy since August 2019
which provides guidelines, requirements
and an approval process with respect to our
treasury investment activities.
RATH20195F8 B BER# K& B & R K A
BHR  ZBRHFHAQFAERRETHRM
TS|~ REMALERE -

We are only allowed to invest in wealth
management products with low risk as
ranked by the issuing institutions. No
investments can be made on unsecured
debentures, non-principal protected
products based on derivative assets and
products issued by institutions without valid
operating licenses.
RABEAFREBTHREIDRABBENE
BEmM  FTARENERFGEER - FRADT
TEEEMURHERNE X ROBERT
HEmM °
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EEGHRE

Type of risk
[ B R A

Description of risk
L B 4 ot

Internal control measures

A B2l 4 B

Business
development risk

EBBREAR

88

Canggang Railway Limited e

When developing a new business/
route, if the Company fails to
conduct research and analysis on
the service content, site selection or
land acquisition of the new business/
route, the Company may fail to meet
expectations due to insufficient
preliminary planning.
RERIFER REE > MAQXRREYH
MER BENERBAR - BuRBiHE
ITHER DM - ANAT A REE E AT HRE
TRMEEEZNFRRER -

Annual Report 2024

Prior to our purchase of any wealth
management products, our securities
investment department is required to
compile a due diligence report providing
the information such as the feasibility of the
investment and an economic analysis of the
investment.
RARBBEEMEMERZA 0 ARFHE
ZREVBUARE—NERFAERS » UREH
MREATHENBRELEINEER -

Any investment exceeding RMB20.0 million,
such investment must also be reviewed and
approved by our Board.
SHEBEBARB20.0BETHNRENELBE
ESERRIE -

Our securities investment department is
responsible for monitoring the performance
of the invested wealth management
products and ensuring the relevant
contracts are not breached. Any significant
or adverse fluctuation in the invested wealth
management products shall be reported to
our management and appropriate mitigation
actions shall be taken immediately.
BERENEEEEMREENEMNRE
WHEREESHOUBERER - REBUMER
WHBEFMERKAFKE - BERAAQTE
BERERE - YV RAREUEE WA EHERE o

The Company has continuous communication
with the government and the project leader
to follow up and monitor the progress of the
project.
RAABEHBEEABTMEEEEABE - UR
ENEEEAMNER -

The Company will continue to monitor and
analyze the impact of changes in customer
demand on business/route development,
and reconsider whether the expansion plan
can bring the Company’s expected profit
and customer volume in the original plan
under the condition of changes in customer
demand increase.
RRABBFEBBIMDNTEFRECHER
/B BERISE  URERFERENNER
T ENZREESIEEALTDATERERET
SrEIPNTERABNEFE -
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EEGHRE

Internal control measures

A BB 4 B

Environmental
protection risk
RIRERS

Natural disasters
(including climate

risks)
BARKE
(BRERERR)

Any pollutants emission during the
business process, the failure to comply
with the requirements of environmental
protection laws and regulations,
or the activities that endanger the
environment, would increase the risk
of legal liabilities, such as physical
injury to others, property damage,
and punitive damages derived from
violation.

WARBERL RIS L E BIZ P P HE LAY )5 1Y)
RERREENERNER  JRBLE
RIBHES - IR IREEEEENER
B BIMMEMANERASEE - BER
Ko URREBERTAMELEZSIMLREE -

Natural disasters (such as typhoons,
flooding and earthquakes), epidemics,
acts of war, terrorist attacks, political
unrest and other events, many of which
are beyond our control, may lead to
global or regional economic instability,
which may in turn materially and
adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.
BRKE (MR -~ KERME) ~ RIT
BFE o RNERE  BURBERHMS
f (S EEERMprecizsl) g8
RIRGUE LB AR - W Al se I HPIN
%E‘Mﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁik$ﬂ
E’ o
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The Company has established “Environmental
and Safety Work Matters”, which has a
number of environmental management
measures related to business.
RABEHE [BRIRER2TFSBE] - BF
HAEZHEXBKABNRREERERR -

The Company uses those fuels that meet
national regulations. Locomotives will also
be regularly repaired and maintained to
ensure that the emissions meet national
regulations.
ARARPANRRERFEERRE - XA
fi%ﬁ@ﬁﬁ%%iv&ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ%ﬂ%
HE °

Dust removal spray equipment is installed
in the station and warehouses; and the coal
stack area is equipped with thatches to
control dust pollution.
AARERBUNEERNREREEZRE
YR BB EFEUIEFIHESRER

The Company has established the “Incident
Management System” and “Emergency
Plan”, and has a complete emergency
system and process to guide various
departments to respond to emergency
accidents and disaster relief work on rainy,
snowy roads and severe cold weather.
ARBEHE [BHREEFNE| kK [E23
gl > URETENESHENRE  BES
HPAEEBEERAMTERERREZEXRRER
THESSZHMMPLTE -

The Company conducts safety drills every
season to strengthen the resilience of
employees.

AARBFEYSETREERUMNBETHE
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Environmental Policies and Performance

We are subject to PRC national and local laws and regulations
relating to environmental protection, prevention and control of
pollution, and incident reporting. We have obtained all pollutant
discharge permits necessary from the relevant local environmental
protection authority.

We regard environmental protection as an important corporate
responsibility and are dedicated to implementing a comprehensive
environmental protection management system in our daily
operations. Our safety supervision office is responsible for
developing and implementing internal rules and regulations on
environmental protection. We have adopted regulations in respect
of working procedure at various locations including railways and
freight yards to ensure compliance with environmental protection
laws and regulations.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group is subject to various laws and regulations including,
among others, Local Railway Transportation License, Regulations on
Road Transportation, Regulations on Railway Safety Measurement,
Production Safety Law of the PRC, etc, for our industry in PRC.
The Listing Rules also apply to the Company since the Listing
Date. The Group executes control activities and follows the internal
compliance procedures to ensure adherence to applicable laws,
rules and regulations in particular, those bring significant impact
to the Company. Any changes in the applicable laws, rules and
regulations will timely be brought to the attention of the relevant
employees and departments.

During the Reporting Period, to the best of the Directors’
knowledge, information and belief on the date of this annual report,
the Company has complied in material respects with the relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the business
and operation of the Company.

Relationship with Key Stakeholders

Customers, suppliers, sub-contractors and employees are the key
to our business sustainability and stable growth. We are committed
to establishing a close relationship with our employees, providing
quality services to our customers and enhancing cooperation with
our suppliers and sub-contractors.

Employees

Employees are one of our most important assets. The Group
has been endeavouring to provide our employees with a fair and
harmonious workplace, such that, we maintain a good working
relationship with our employees. The Group grants share options to
those employees to recognise and reward the employees who have
contributed to the Group’s development. We also provide internal
and external training programs to our employees to continuously
improve their skills and knowledge and enhance their understanding
of production safety.
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Customers

We believe that intimating and safety are always the core values
in providing our services to the customers. We are committed
in building strong business relationships with our customers.
We have constructed Special Service Lines owned by such
customers stretching directly into the factories or premises of
these customers from our main railway line, facilitating easier rail
fright transportation. We also offer ancillary services with one-stop
solution in terms of freight transportation to make us more attractive
to new rail freight transportation customers.

Suppliers and subcontractors

We developed a strong working relationship with our suppliers
and subcontractors for our operations. We select suppliers based
on a number of factors, including, among others, history of our
relationship with them, product quality, supply capacity, price
and delivery time. To avoid reliance on any single supplier, we
conduct thorough market research and interview numerous market
participants before actually making any procurement.

The results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of this annual report.

Operating Segment Information

The Group is principally engaged in provision of services. The
information reported to the Group’s management for the purposes
of resources allocation and performance assessment focuses on the
following two reportable segments.

— Rail freight transportation: this segment provides rail freight
transportation in the PRC.

— Ancillary services: this segment provides freight loading and
unloading services, road freight transportation and other
services in the PRC.

Final Dividend
The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of RMBO0.6
cent per Share for the year ended 31 December 2024.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board is not aware of any
arrangement under which a shareholder has waived or agreed to
waive any dividends.
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Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during
the Reporting Period are set out in note 24(c) to the financial
statements.

As at the end of the Reporting Period, the aggregate amount of
reserves available for distribution to equity shareholders of the
Company, as calculated under the provisions of the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands, was RMB568,039,000 (2023:
RMB554,642,000).

The AGM will be held on Wednesday, 18 June, 2025. A notice
convening the AGM will be published and despatched to the
Shareholders in accordance with the Listing Rules in due course.

For Determining the Eligibility to Attend and Vote at the AGM

To determine the entitlement of the Shareholder to attend and vote
at the AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed
from Friday, 13 June, 2025 to Wednesday, 18 June, 2025 (both
days inclusive), during which period no transfer of shares will be
registered. The record date for determining the entitlement of the
Shareholders to attend and vote at the AGM will be Wednesday, 18
June 2025. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM,
all transfer share documents accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged for registration with the Company’s
branch registrar share in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong
Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong for
registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 12 June, 2025.

For Determining the Eligibility to the Proposed Final Dividend
To determine the entitlement of the Shareholder to receive the
proposed final dividend, subject to the Shareholders’ approval on
the proposed final dividend at the AGM, the register of members of
the Company will also be closed from Tuesday, 24 June, 2025 to
Friday, 27 June, 2025 (both days inclusive), during which period no
transfer of shares will be registered. The record date for determining
the entitlement of the Shareholders to receive the proposed final
dividend will be Friday, 27 June 2025. In order to be eligible to
receive the proposed final dividend, all transfer share documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
for registration with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m.
on Monday, 23 June 2025.
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The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
annual report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Liu Yongliang (Chairman)
Mr. Yi Weiming (CEO)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Xu Zhihua
Mr. Qin Shaobo

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Liu Changchun

Mr. Zhao Changsong

Ms. Lyu Qinghua

Each of executive Directors has entered into a service contract with
the Company for an initial fixed term of three years commencing
from the Listing Date and will continue thereafter until terminated by
not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either party
on the other, which notice shall not expire until after the fixed term,
or terminated by payment in lieu of notice.

Each of non-executive Directors has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for an initial fixed term of three
years commencing from the Listing Date and will continue thereafter
until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing
served by the non-executive Director to the Company, or with
immediate effect following the notice in writing served by the
Company to the non-executive Director or if there is any breach by
the non-executive Director that has actual or existing impact on the
Company.

Each of independent non-executive Directors has entered into a
letter of appointment with the Company for an initial fixed term of
three years commencing from the Listing Date and will continue
thereafter until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in
writing served by the independent non-executive Director to the
Company, or with immediate effect following the notice in writing
served by the Company to the independent non-executive Director
or if there is any breach by the independent non-executive Director
that has actual or existing impact on the Company.
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In accordance with article 84 of the Articles of Association, at
each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the
time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, then the
number nearest to but not less than one third) shall retire from
office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every three
years. Any Director appointed by the Board pursuant to article 83(3)
of the Articles of Association shall not be taken into account in
determining which particular Directors or the number of Directors
who are to retire by the rotation. Accordingly Ms. Lyu Qinghua,
Mr. Liu Changchun and Mr. Zhao Changsong shall retire by rotation,
and being eligible, have offered themselves for re-election as
Directors at the AGM.

Details of the retiring Directors to be re-elected at the AGM are set
out in the circular will be sent to the Shareholders in due course.

No Director, including those proposed for re-election at the AGM,
has an unexpired service contract which is not determinable by the
Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment
of compensation, other than normal statutory obligations.

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) which is conditionally approved by a resolution of the
then Shareholders of our Company passed on 16 June 2020. The
terms of the Share Option Scheme are in compliance with the
provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules effective as of the date
of adoption of the Share Option Scheme.
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The Share Option Scheme is to provide an incentive or reward for
the Grantees (as defined below) for their contribution or potential
contribution to the Group.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to give the Eligible
Persons (as defined below) an opportunity to have a personal stake
in our Company and help motivate them to optimize their future
contributions to our Group and/or to reward them for their past
contributions, to attract and retain or otherwise maintain on-going
relationships with such eligible persons (“Eligible Persons”) who are
significant to and/or whose contributions are or will be beneficial to
the performance, growth or success of our Group, and additionally
in the case of Executives (as defined below), to enable our Group
to attract and retain individuals with experience and ability and/or
reward them for their past contributions.

Under the Share Option Scheme, the Eligible Persons include (i)
any executive director of, manager of, or other employee holding
an executive, managerial, supervisory or similar position in any
member of our Group (“Executive”), any proposed employee, any
full-time or part-time employee, or a person for the time being
seconded to work full-time or part-time for any member of our
Group (“Employee”); (ii) a director or proposed director (including an
independent non-executive director) of any member of our Group;
(iii) a direct or indirect shareholder of any member of our Group; (iv)
a supplier of goods or services to any member of our Group; (v) a
customer, consultant, business or joint venture partner, franchisee,
contractor, agent or representative of any member of our Group;
(vi) a person or entity that provides design, research, development
or other support or any advisory, consultancy, professional or other
services to any member of our Group; (vii) an associate of any of
the persons referred to in paragraphs (i) to (vi) above; and (viii) any
person involved in the business affairs of the Company whom our
Board determines to be appropriate to participate in the Share
Option Scheme.

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other scheme of our Group shall not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as the Listing Date (such 10%
limit representing 100,000,000 Shares (400,000,000 Shares after
Share Subdivision)) (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”). The Board may
think fit seek approval from our Shareholders to refresh the Scheme
Mandate Limit, save that the maximum number of Shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes of our Company
shall not exceed 10% of our Shares in issue as of the date of the
Shareholders’ approval.

We may seek separate Shareholders’ approval for granting Options
beyond the Scheme Mandate Limit, provided that the Options in
excess of the Scheme Mandate Limit are granted only to the Eligible
Person specified by our Company before such approval is obtained.
We shall issue a circular to the Shareholders containing the details
and information required under the Listing Rules.
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Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Share Option
Scheme, the maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes of our
Group shall not exceed 30% of our Company’s issued share capital
from time to time. No Options may be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of our Company
if this will result in such limit being exceeded.

No Option may be granted to any one person such that the total
number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of Options
granted and to be granted to that person in any 12-month period
exceeds 1% of our Company’s issued share capital from time to
time.

An offer of the grant of an Option shall remain open for acceptance
by the Eligible Person concerned for a period of 28 days from
the offer date. An Option have been granted and accepted by the
Eligible Person when the duplicate offer letter is duly signed by the
grantee together with a remittance of HK$1.00 is received by our
Company on or before the date upon which an offer of an Option
must be accepted by the relevant Eligible Person.

The subscription price in respect of any particular Option shall be
such price as the Board may in its absolute discretion determine
at the time of grant of the relevant Option. The subscription price
shall be at least the highest of (i) the nominal value of a Share; (ii)
the closing price of a Share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the offer date; and (iii) the average closing
price of a Share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the five Business Days immediately preceding the offer
date.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period
of 10 years from the date on which it becomes unconditional on the
Listing Date, i.e. 23 October 2020, after which no further options
will be granted or offered but the provisions of the Share Option
Scheme shall remain in force and effect in all other respects. All
options granted prior to such expiry and not then exercised shall
continue to be valid and exercisable subject to and in accordance
with the Share Option Scheme.

No share options had been granted, exercised, cancelled or
lapsed under the Share Option Scheme since the adoption of the
Share Option Scheme. As at the date of this annual report, the
total number of shares available for issue under the Share Option
Scheme was 100,000,000, representing 10% of the entire issued
share capital of the Company (400,000,000 Shares after Share
Subdivision).

Other than the Share Option Scheme as disclosed above and
the Scheme disclosed below, at no time during the Reporting
Period was the Company, or any of its subsidiaries or its fellow
subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable the directors
of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

Besides the Share Option Scheme discussed in the above
paragraphs and the Scheme disclosed below, no equity-linked
agreements were entered into during the year or subsisting at the
Reporting Period.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Company adopted the 2022 Share Award Scheme (the “2022
Share Award Scheme”) on 28 September 2022 (the “Adoption
Date”). The terms of the 2022 Share Award Scheme are in
compliance with the provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules
effective as of the Adoption Date.

The purposes of the 2022 Share Award Scheme are to recognize
the contributions of certain directors and employees of the Group,
certain directors and employees of the holding companies, fellow
subsidiaries or associated companies of the Company, certain
service providers or other eligible participant(s) and to retain and
motivate them to strive for the future development and expansion of
the Group by providing them with the opportunity to acquire equity
interests in the Company.

Under the rules constituting the 2022 Share Award Scheme, the
individuals eligible for participation in the 2022 Share Award
Scheme (the “Eligible Participants”) include any director and
employee of the Group; any director and employee of the holding
companies, fellow subsidiaries or associated companies of
the Company; or any person who provides services (“Service
Providers”) to the Group on a continuing or recurring basis in the
Group’s ordinary and usual course of business which are in the
interests of the long term growth of the Group whom the Board
believes and in its sole discretion, determines that have contributed
or will contribute to the Group but excluding the following persons:
(i) any seconded employee, part-time employee or non-full time
employee of the Group; (i) any employee of the Group who at
the relevant time has given or been given notice terminating his
employment, office or directorship as the case may be; and (jii) any
other person that the Board may determine from time to time.

For the avoidance of doubt, Service Providers should exclude (i)
placing agents or financial advisers providing advisory services for
fundraising, mergers or acquisitions; and (ii) professional service
providers such as auditors or valuers who provide assurance, or are
required to perform their services with impartiality and objectivity.

The Board shall not make any further award of Share(s) (“Awarded
Shares”) provisionally granted to a grantee (“Grantee”) who is an
Eligible Participant as selected by the Board pursuant to the 2022
Share Award Scheme which will result in the number of Shares
awarded by the Board under the 2022 Share Award Scheme
exceeding ten per cent (10%) of the issued Shares as at the
Adoption Date.
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As of the date of this annual report, the total number of Shares
available for granting under the 2022 Share Award Scheme was
100,000,000 Shares, representing 10% of the entire issued share
capital of the Company as at the Adoption Date (400,000,000
Shares after Share Subdivision). The maximum number of Shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all awards and options to be
granted under the 2022 Share Award Scheme and any other scheme
of our Group shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares in
issue as the Listing date (such 10% limit representing 100,000,000
Shares (400,000,000 Shares after Share Subdivision)).

Pursuant to the 2022 Share Award Scheme, no award may be
granted to (i) any one person such that the total number of Shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of award granted and to
be granted to that person in any 12-month period exceeds 1% of
our Company’s issued share capital from time to time; and (ii) any
independent non-executive Director whose aggregate interest in the
Company reaches 1% or above of the Shares in issue.

Awarded shares may be acquired by the trustee by way of purchase
of Shares on the Stock Exchange at the prevailing market price
(subject to such maximum price as may be from time to time
prescribed by the Board). No Shares shall be purchased by the
trustee during the black-out period.

Such awarded shares shall then be held by the trustee for the
Eligible Participants in accordance with the provisions of the 2022
Share Award Scheme prior to vesting. The trustee (and its nominee)
shall not exercise any voting rights in respect of any Shares held
by it as nominee or under the trust constituted by the trust deed
(including but not limited to any Awarded Shares, the returned
Shares, any bonus Shares and scrip Shares). The Grantees shall not
have any right to receive any Awarded Shares set aside for them
unless and until the trustee has transferred and vested the legal
and beneficial ownership of such Awarded Shares to and in the
Grantees. The Board may from time to time, during the granting of
award, or at its discretion, determine the earliest vesting date and
other subsequent date(s), if any, in relation to the vesting period.

The 2022 Share Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for a
period of ten (10) years commencing from the Adoption Date but
may be terminated earlier as determined by the Board provided
that such termination shall not affect any subsisting rights of any
Grantee hereunder. The remaining life of the 2022 Share Award
Scheme is around seven years and five months.

Details of the 2022 Share Award Scheme are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 28 September 2022. As of the
date of this annual report, no awards or Shares had been granted,
exercised, cancelled, lapsed or subject to any vesting conditions
under the 2022 Share Award Scheme since the Adoption Date.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Based on the information that is publicly available and within the
knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual report,
the Company has maintained the minimum public float as required
under the Listing Rules.

The Company has arranged appropriate liabilities insurance to
indemnify the Directors from any liabilities and costs arising from
the business of the Group and the permitted indemnity provision (as
defined in section 469 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance) for
the benefit of the Directors of the Company is currently in force.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of
the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses which they or any of them shall or may incur
or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted
in or about the execution of their duty, or supposed duty.

Details of the related party transactions are set out in note 27 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements. Save for the related party
transactions, no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance
to which the Company, or any of its holding company, subsidiaries
or fellow subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director or an
entity connected with a Director had a material interest, either
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the Reporting Period.

Save as disclosed in the chapter headed “Board of Directors and
Senior Management” in this annual report, there was no change to
any of the information required to be disclosed in relation to any
Director pursuant to paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of rule 13.51(2) of
the Listing Rules for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Particulars of bank and other loans of the Group as at 31 December
2024 are set out in note 19 to the financial statements.

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 192 of the annual
report.

Particulars of the major properties and property interests of the
Group are shown in the note 11 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.
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Details of the retirement schemes are set out in note 6 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

Save as disclosed in note 27 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements, there was no contract of significance entered into
between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and any controlling
Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries, nor there was any contract
of significance for the provision of services to the Company or
any of its subsidiaries by a controlling Shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December 2023 or subsisted
as at 31 December 2023.

The remuneration paid to and/or entitled by each of the Directors
and the five highest paid individuals for the Reporting Period is set
out in notes 8 and 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Save as Mr. Qin Shaobo waived his remuneration, no other
Director has waived or has agreed to waive any emoluments and
no emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors or the five
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office during the Reporting
Period.

No contract, other than appointment contracts and employment
contracts, concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the Company’s business was
entered into or existed during the Reporting Period.

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual report,
none of the Directors had any interest in a business other than the
Group, which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the businesses of the Group, and required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.
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The net proceeds from the global offering of the Company were
approximately HK$206.4 million (equivalent to approximately

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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EHRRFAECAREMHEHEEANBERA
B EMBX%  REARQBZRBENFT

RMB173.7 million), after deducting the underwriting fees and HBRIEFTENE2064FEET (HERIOAR

commission and other related listing expenses paid and payable
by us, which was intended to be applied in the manner as set out
in the section headed “Future Plan and Use of Proceeds” of the
Prospectus and the announcement of the Company dated 23 March

BAT3.7TEHE L) BHERBRERIKEKFER
FIEREARE| - RA2D7FHHA20235F3
Bo3BWAERMSEAZEHA - B LM BHER
2024F 1231 B L WFIBFEFREFEAEBR

2023. An analysis of the utilization of the net proceeds from the 2 #T :
Listing Date up to 31 December 2024 is set out below:
Revised Expected
allocation timeline
Revised of net for full
percentage proceeds Utilized Unutilized Utilized Unutilized utilization®
FrigRE
FEN REBA
LS & 28R HAHA 28R HABR  SENES
ARt AEEE 2 8 8 8 S
At 31 December 2023 At 31 December 2024
20235127310 820245127318
RMB million ~ RMB million  RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million
ARBEER ARKEET ARKEEET AREEER AREEER
To construct of our branch line BRERELTEEN
connecting the Northern X5
Shandong Industrial Park - - - - - - -
To construct of our branch line BRERGOEREE
connecting the Comprehensive iFE
Industrial Park 40.5% 70.4 1.9 68.5 52.1 18.3 2026
To upgrade and renovating HARBIEBEN
infrastructure for our Canggang b
Railway Line 36.5% 63.4 63.4 63.4 - -
To purchase one new locomotive ~ BE—HiKE 5.0% 8.6 - 8.6 - 8.6 20262
To upgrade our communications,  FrAlE: - EXEE
signal automation, and remote REREEZS
monitoring systems 2.5% 44 44 - 44 - -
To repay of our bank loan BRRTER 3.2% 55 55 - 55 - -
To settle amounts payable in TABETHEREN
connection with our purchase of REEAFHE
land use rights 12.3% 21.4 21.4 - 214 - -
Total @t 100% 173.7 96.6 A 146.8 26.9
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Notes:

o
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The expected timeline for the application of the unutilized net proceeds
is based on the best estimation of the future market conditions
made by the Group. It is subject to uncertainties brought by the
international macro-environment and future market conditions and
business developments and in need. In particular, the schedule of
obtaining the necessary administrative approval from the government
for construction of our branch line connecting the Comprehensive
Industrial Park is still remained unclear as at the date of this interim
report and beyond the control of the Company. In view of the
significant effects to the economy and business environment, we shall
update and re-visit our plan continuously. If there is any further change
to the proposed usage of the net proceeds and/or expected timelines,
the Company will make a further announcement in full compliance with
the Listing Rules as and when appropriate.

We continue to innovate and actively improve our company’s
responsibility to the society. After we compared the classic diesel
locomotive with the new energy locomotive and in view of the
environmental impact of the classic diesel locomotives, in 2022, our
management re-evaluated our plans to purchase a new locomotive
using new energy to ensure that we can improve our operational
efficiency while also making a greater contribution to society. We are
currently in the market research phase, and we plan to order the new
locomotive by the end of 2024. However, due to the long manufacturing
cycle of locomotives (about one year), the use of net proceeds from the
Listing for the purchase of locomotive equipment will be fully utilized in
2026.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

As at the end of the Reporting Period, the interests and short
positions of the Directors and the chief executives in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong, the “SFQ”)), which (a) were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which
they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO)
or (b) as recorded in the register kept by the Company, pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO or (c) otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers were as follows:

Interest in the Company (long position)

EEGHRE

RBEHPR  ESRESTHRABRAAFH
HEMBBEEZE (ERRBRBEHENER
Z REERM (T35 R BERG ) FXVER) B
B HEROREEED  BHEQRERS
REEGRPIEXVIBETRE8D BAME R D
AIRBRXNESERAR (BERERSRY
ERAIBBHRIXEFIREADFEENERL K
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IR FEMBLMANER XA » FH(c)
RELTRITAESETESRZNRESTH
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RADAWERS (FR)

Number
Name of Director/ Capacity/ of Shares  Percentage of
Chief Executive Nature of interest interested shareholding
R L E
EE BETHRASHS 5 R@itE BROEA FRESL
Mr. Liu Yongliang Interest in a controlled corporation® 2,631,900,000 65.80%
KB RE NEEEBNERD
Mr. Yi Weiming Interest in a controlled corporation® 72,000,000 1.80%
RAERRE REZELENER

™ Mr. Liu Yongliang is the sole shareholder of Jinghai BVI and he is
therefore deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Jinghai BVI.

@ Mr. Yi Weiming is the sole shareholder of Greenport BVI and he is
therefore deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Greenport BVI.

0 BKREEERTUSBVIFME —RE » E KR
BREUBBVIHENROHERER

@  RAEBASELE BGreenport BVIRIIE—RER - Bt
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As at the end of the Reporting Period, so far as is known to any
Directors or chief executives of the Company, none of the Directors
or chief executives of the Company has any interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) which (a) were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which
they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO) or (b) were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to
be entered in the register referred to therein or (c) were required,
pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

Set out below is the name of the party whose interests and short
positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
(pursuant to part XV of the SFO) as at the end of the Reporting
Period as recorded in the register kept by the Company under
section 336 of the SFO:

Interest in the Company (long position)

REBEHR  BEFNESHIELAESTHA
BffA BEESHAAQNAKRSTHABRE
RAHEEBREE (EXRFSZRBEMRME
XVED) B0 ~ BB S EREE + - HEH(a)
RIEE S R EIRGIEXVEPE TR E8 0 H A
ERRARBIANERRAR (BERERE
ZRAERPIBEKRIXEFERWRDER E
BmRXR) - H(b)RIEE H K K 1% 5 55352
IR ZAZA% R0 IR 2R P 15 B9 2 50 i 7 A9 1 3 30K
B ROBRBEEEFAAS AR A RERA
MEmRAR -

T X H GRS I ARAE AR D8R RABRE R
(RIEE S RAERGIEXVE) & - EALRHR
ARFRRERZRPERGIFEIBHRAFEN
BREMANERRARNER SR

RADRWES (FR)

Number of Approximate %
Name Nature of interest Shares of shareholding
HE LB ERME R&OEAR BEREBN%
Jinghai BVI Beneficial owner 2,631,900,000 65.80%
F8BVI EREEA
Mr. Liu Yongliang® Interest in a controlled corporation 2,631,900,000 65.80%
Bk =EEM REZZEENER

M Mr. Liu Yongliang is the sole shareholder of Jinghai BVI and he is
therefore deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Jinghai BVI.
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Save as disclosed above, as at the end of the Reporting Period,
no other persons had any interests or short positions in the shares
or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO, or which would
fall to be disclosed under Part XV of the SFO.

At no time during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
annual report was the Company or any of its subsidiaries or a party
to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

The Group established the Remuneration Committee to review
and make recommendation to the Company’s emolument policy;
review and approve performance based remuneration by reference
to corporate goals and objectives; and to determine the terms of
the specific remuneration package of each executive Director and
senior management. Details of the Directors’ emoluments and five
individuals with the highest emoluments are set out in notes 8 and 9
to the Consolidated Financial Statements respectively.

The Company has also adopted a share option scheme as incentive
to eligible employees, details of the scheme are set out in the
section headed “SHARE OPTION SCHEME” above. No share
options had been granted under the Share Option Scheme since the
adoption of the Share Option Scheme.

Details of material related party transactions of the Group
undertaken in the normal course of business are set out in note 27
to the Consolidated Financial Statements, none of which constitutes
a material connected transaction or continuing connected
transaction as required to be disclosed under Rule 14A of the
Listing Rules.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
Reporting Period.
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There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of Cayman Islands which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
Shareholders.

The Controlling Shareholders have given written declarations and
have confirmed, to the Company that they have complied with the
non-competition undertakings under the Deed of Non-Competition
during the Reporting Period. The Controlling Shareholders have
also confirmed in the declarations that they have no interest in any
business apart from the Company which competes or is likely to
compete, directly or indirectly, with the Company’s business during
the Reporting Period.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the status
of compliance with the undertakings by the Controlling Shareholders
and confirmed that they were not aware of any non-compliance
of the non-competition undertakings under the Deed of Non-
Competition, and are satisfied that such undertakings had been duly
enforced and complied with during the Reporting Period.

If the Shareholders are unsure about the taxation implication of
purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in, or the exercise of any
rights in relation to, the Share of the Company, they are advised to
consult an expert.

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to
the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the shares of the
Company.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited was appointed as auditors
of the Company on 31 October 2024 following the resignation of
KPMG as of that date. Apart from this, there was no change in
auditors of the Company in any of the preceding three years.

On behalf of the Board

Liu Yongliang
Chairman
Hong Kong, 26 March 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

B g st F oA oA R 4
HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED

HLB

Independent auditors’ report
to the shareholders of Canggang Railway Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Canggang
Railway Limited and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on
pages 113 to 191 which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024 and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditors’
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgement,
was of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. The matter was addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on this matter.
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18 M % BLAT

Revenue recognition in respect of rail freight transportation services

FHEREERT O REER

Refer to Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on pages 139 to 140.

EEHE A BERERN AR BRE 1392 140B B Z 51 B ©

The Key Audit Matter
BRESEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EMNESFOMEEEHEEE

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of rail
freight transportation and related ancillary services by
operating freight railway and railway yards.
EEENTEXRATRREEEERREEAESIE
HEREEREBHBRY -

Revenue from provision of rail freight transportation
services amount to RMB222 million and account for
86% of the Group’s revenue for the year ended 31
December 2024. Revenue are recognised when the rail
freight transportation services are rendered and the
enforceable rights to payments are obtained.

RERMEREERKE N KE ARK222,000,0007T
(ft BEEEZE2024F12A31HILFEAKRERIB6%) °
Wm AR EREERBILES AR HITARAER

R -

We have identified recognition of revenue for rail
freight transportation services as a key audit matter
as revenue is one of the key performance indicators of
the Group which give rise to an inherent risk that the
revenue for rail freight transportation services could be
recorded in the incorrect period or could be subject to
manipulation to meet financial targets or expectations.
ERMEKEREREERBNO KGRI DEEET
=E - REARKES BSEEET-BIBHWES X
SEYHREERBUENERPE ARSI ZHRIELE
B S RENE SRR -

Our audit procedures in relation to revenue recognition in
respect of rail freight transportation services included the

following:
ﬁﬁ?ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%‘ﬁﬁﬂﬁiﬁ%ﬂ’ﬂH&ﬁ?’aﬁ%?ﬁﬁﬂ’ﬂ%ﬁﬁf?@?ﬁu
T4&E

Obtaining an understanding of and assessing the
design and implementation of the Group’s key
internal controls over recognition of revenue for rail
freight transportation services;

THRRFE EEEARRIAEREERBTWENEG
RAMPEFHORARET

Inspecting service agreements signed with
key customers of the Group for rail freight
transportation services, and assessing the
revenue recognition criteria with reference to
the requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards;

BRERBREERKE SEETEXZFEITNRYE
& WS REANSTHENNEET R EREL

Comparing, on a sample basis, the revenue for
rail freight transportation services with underlying
documentation, which included service agreements
with the customers, sales invoices issued to the
customers, rail freight delivery notes confirmed by
the customers, to determine whether the related
revenue had been properly recognised;
MEHLEEREERB K EER X (BRERF
RAIVHRKHE IEFHAENHEERE  URKEE
FRANBREERNVER)  UEEHBUWRERST
ZRER
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
B M % BLAT RS

KEY AUDIT MATTER (continued) FEEETSEE(E)

Revenue recognition in respect of rail freight transportation services

BB S R A W R

Refer to Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on pages 139 to 140.

FERB ST IREN TR BRFE139F 140H 12 51 BE ©

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit
BERETSE BMMNEANNEEERSE
o Assessing, on a sample basis, whether revenue

transactions for rail freight transportation services
recorded around the financial year end had been
recognised in the appropriate financial period
by comparing details of these transactions with
relevant underlying documentation; and

. UBRASBER  SBHHERYBFEBANRARNE
BREERBRERZ NFFEEREMAEM - 7
FERGREREBEHBBE®ER R

° Inspecting underlying documentation for
journal entries relating to revenue of rail freight
transportation services which were considered to
meet specific risk-based criteria.

. AR B BX 5 B RIS R AR B X R R R RS S E R
R B A BRAC 82 AU AR B ST 4 o

ABEBEAERART o 2024FFH 109
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The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023 were audited by another auditor who
expressed an unmodified opinion on 27 March 2024.

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditors’ report thereon (the “Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the Other Information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the Other Information and,
in doing so, consider whether the Other Information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other
Information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the IASB and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditors’ report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of
this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations
or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

B Z AR E
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° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis
for forming an opinion on the group financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of
the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditors’ report is Leung King Kit.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Leung King Kit
Practicing Certificate Number: P08264

Hong Kong, 26 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

mEEER

for the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Renminbi (“RMB?”))

2202412531 A1 FE
(UARH (AR FT)
2024 2023
2024 % 2023%F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
M aE AR®T ARET T
Revenue U = 4 258,934 349,048
Operating expenses: RERX
Staff costs BIRAK 6(b) (54,945) (57,106)
Outsourcing service charges and other  JMEARFE W E & H b 45
labor costs H AR (20,860) (56,207)
Cargo logistics EEYR (24,131) (26,080)
Depreciation e 6(c) (35,671) (36,494)
Fuel used Fr A R (23,502) (25,536)
Repairs and maintenance HEERRE (14,225) (11,586)
General and administration expenses —BRITHEX (9,945) (11,496)
Impairment reversal/(loss) of trade ZESRNFERERRE,
receivables (E518) 25(a) 56 (292)
Other expenses HipEx (10,343) (19,503)
Total operating expenses RE A (193,566) (244,300)
Other income, net HEaW A EEE 5 40,883 4,798
Operating profit BEHER 106,251 109,546
Finance costs & B A 6(a) (29,589) (24,868)
Profit before taxation R B¢ A1 2 Fl 6 76,662 84,678
Income tax EH 7 (21,580) (26,112)
Profit for the year FERF 55,082 58,566
Attributable to: LT AL :
Equity owners of the Company KARERE A 56,461 58,978
Non-controlling interests FIERER (1,379) (412)
Profit for the year FEREAN 55,082 58,566
(Restated)
(LEH)
Earnings per share (RMB cents) BREFN(ARES)
- Basic and diluted —BEAXRHE 10 1.47 1.52

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
maiEm R EMMEE SR

for the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in RMB)

B Z20244F 12531 A 1L F &
(UAER#FR)
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Profit for the year FEER 55,082 58,566

Other comprehensive income for the year FEHME2EUZE (BRBIE) :
(after tax):
ltem that may be reclassified subsequently to HETREHFIEZE

profit or loss: BmEWIEE
- Exchange differences on translation into - BRERTEEZIERRE
presentation currency of the Group EENEREZLRE (1,167) 524
Total comprehensive income for the year FEXHEHKRAE 53,915 59,090
Attributable to: BT FEAG
Equity owners of the Company KAREBA 55,294 59,502
Non-controlling interests FERER (1,379) (412)
Total comprehensive income for the year FEZHKHEE 53,915 59,090

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated  BEM{HIMi T RS MBHRERNZE—I5 ©
financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
BRI R

at 31 December 2024
(Expressed in RMB)

JR20244 12531 H

(U R¥5TF)

2024 2023

2024 2023%F

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

B ARBT T ARBTT

Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - MERZE 11 776,932 787,164
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 12 189,009 184,204
Financial assets at fair value through BERBREAFEFEN
profit or loss EHEE 17 38,418 =
Deferred tax assets EEBIREE 23(b) 961 6,381
Prepayments and other receivables FEASFRIE K H At R R FRIE 16 39,273 5,671
1,044,593 983,420
Current assets REBEE
Inventories 78 14 46,664 56,096
Trade and bills receivables BHEWFIEREREE 15 81,274 71,356
Prepayments and other receivables FERIE R E W IE 16 46,026 102,719
Cash and cash equivalents BeRBEELEEEE 18 155,992 112,392
329,956 342,563
Current liabilities REEE
Bank and other loans RITREMER 19 157,155 202,073
Trade payables g 5 EARIE 20 23,444 19,498
Other payables HubfE{TRE 21 7,709 23,903
Contract liabilities BHEE 22 6,269 7,113
Current taxation BN EAFY 18 23(a) 8,365 7,632
202,942 260,219
Netcurrentassets =~~~ #"BRE¥&E 127,014 82,344
Total assets less current liabilities EEABERABER 1,171,607 1,065,764
Non-current liabilities FERBEE
Bank and other loans RITREMER 19 364,612 290,683
NET ASSETS EEFE 806,995 775,081

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated BEMIHIMIZIE R GEES M BHRRTINTE—ID ©
financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e B HE AR O R

at 31 December 2024
(Expressed in RMB)

R2024%128318
(UANE#FT)
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
MiEE ARET T AR®F T
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BAR#E 24
Share capital [ &N 8,607 8,607
Reserves f#1E 770,637 737,344
Total equity attributable to equity ANREEAEGESERE
owners of the Company 779,244 745,951
Non-controlling interests FEfE IR 27,751 29,130
TOTAL EQUITY R 806,995 775,081

The consolidated financial statements were approved and %4 EHMEN2025FE3B26EEEE=EHEE
authorised for issued by the board of directors on 26 March 2025 R#E#£F|Z  YHTIHESEARETRE

and are signed on its behalf by:

Liu Yongliang
gIK5=
Chairman

BEFEETE

Yi Weiming
R#gEH
Director

EZ

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated  PEMIIMIEEER G ST ERERPNEE—Z D

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

for the year ended 31 December 2024

(Expressed in RMB)

B E20244F 12531 H 1F F 2
(UAE#ST)
Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
KATEERARE
Share held for Safety Non-
Share Other ~ share award Statutory  production  Exchange Retained controlling
Share capital premium reserve scheme reserve  fund reserve reserve profits Subtotal interests  Total equity
R Mt e FREE y ‘
R% Rr& AhEE  FERE ERRE BLER EXfE  RERA M FERER fEs
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®Tn  ARETn  ARETn  ARETR  ARETn  ARETn  ARETR  ARETR  ARETn  AREfn  AREfR
At 1 January 2023 H20235181A 8,607 107,871 97,830 (49,916) 72,855 - (8,438) 530,266 759,075 29542 788,617
Changes in equity for the year  HZ2023E12R31A L £
ended 31 December 2023: HEREE:
Proftfor the year EEi - - - - - - - 58978 58978 (42) 56,566
Other comprehensive income~ Ete2 AN & - - - - - - 524 - 524 - 524
Total comprehensive income 2 HUEAE - - - - - - 52 58,078 5,502 (1) 50,090
Appropriation to reserves BH2HE - - - - 6,602 - - (6609 - - -
Safety production fund reserve ~ ¥24BESHE
- Appropriation B - - - - - 2885 - 2885) - - -
- Utilisation -87 - - - - - (2,885) - 2,885 - - -
Dividends approved in respect 5 £ - EEHARS
of the previous year - - - - - - - 28,000 (28,000 - (28,000
Purchase of own share BARIRA - - - (44,626) - - - - (44,626) - (44,626)
At 31 December 2023 1202351231 R 8,607 107,871 97,830 (9454 19,457 - (7.914) 554,642 745,951 29,130 775,081
Changes in equity for the year  HZ2024%12R31R L £
ended 31 December 2024: NEREE:
Proft for the year EEEA - - - - - - - 56,461 56,461 (1,379) 55,082
Other comprehensive income ~~ £f2ERE - - - - - - (1,167) - (1,167) - (1,167)
Total comprehensive income ~~ 2ENEASH - - - - - - (1,167) 56,461 55,204 (1,379) 53,915
Appropriation to reserves BREhE - - - 5 21,063 = = (21,063) = = =
Safety production fund reserve ~ F24EESHE
- Appropriation -B5 - - - - - 5,374 - (5:374) - - -
Utlseton -85 s - - . - 5374) - 5374 - - -
Dividends approved inrespect 1 E-FEHERE
of the previous year - - - - - - - (22,001) (22,001) - (22,001)
At 31 December 2024 JA2024E12R31 8,607 107,871 97,830 (94,542) 100,520 - (9,081) 568,039 19,244 21,751 806,995

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated
financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
meleRER

for the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in RMB)

# 220245125318 1L F
(UAR#5T)
2024 2023
2024 % 2023%F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
MiaE AR TR ARBT T
Operating activities RETH
Profit before taxation FREE B R A 76,662 84,678
Adjustments for: MUT B IEEFE :
Depreciation e 6(c) 35,671 38,237
Impairment (reversal)/loss of trade B 5 EWHIERE
receivables (#&m@), BB 25(a) (56) 292
Impairment losses of inventories FEREEE - 3,000
Finance costs & B AR 6(a) 29,589 24,868
Interest income FIE YA 5 (2,019) (3,489)
Net losses/(gains) on disposal of HEVE BEKKREN
property, plant and equipment EiE (W) T8 5 160 (902)
Gain on lease remeasurement HEEHTENHE 5 (1,384) -
Net loss on disposal of an associate HE— S AT EE TR 5 - 167
Gain on financial assets at fair value ZRBREATEIFENS
through profit or loss, net mEE WS FRE 5 (19,453) -
Exchange gain, net I:Rﬂilﬁnﬁf (213) -
Changes in working capital: EEe®E:
Decrease/(increase) in inventories ﬁ‘ﬁ?ﬁiﬂ‘/(i‘bﬂ) 9,432 (11,155)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and bills B RBARIEREKRE }F
receivables, prepayments and other fﬁﬁ%ﬁ’klﬁﬁﬂﬁﬂﬁﬂw 15
receivables (18 h0) 13,251 (41,709)
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables f’i%?gﬁ RIE & H A EAT R
and other payables 151 D/(;J'Jl ) 528 (12,367)
(Decrease)/increase in contract EHEE ’J‘)/i"' hn
liabilities (844) 4,736
Cash generated from operations KREFEBHSE 141,324 86,356
Income tax paid 2 EH 23(a) (15,427) (32,880)
Net cash generated from operating BRETHHMEBRESFHE
activities 125,897 53,476
Investing activities REEE
Payments for purchase of property, plant BB % - =R REREH
and equipment and right-of-use assets E&ENNRK (77,706) (56,011)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HE Y - JF&E& i
plant and equipment Fir {8 5K 3,168 4,094
Payment for a loan to a third party mME= Eﬁ E’Jﬁ - (29,000)
Received from the settlement of a loan T;}zﬁ% TJ'E Hjﬁﬁ
to a third party W B R 29,000 -
Proceeds from liquidation of an —Fﬁﬁﬁﬁ?ﬁ’“j/ BHFREBRIE
associate 3,281 3,862
Proceeds from disposal of an associate & — R N B FFEFUE 439 1,300
Payments for purchase of financial BEFBERRATEIED
assets at fair value through profit or EREENTR
loss (18,965) -
Interest received 2R E 2,019 3,307
Net cash used in investing activities REFEMABRLSTE (58,764) (72,448)
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated  BEMIHIMIZFE R G M FHRR PN TE—IFD

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

SEERER

B iR

for the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in RMB)

B F2024F 12531 I FF

(UAR¥55)

2024 2023

20245 2023F

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

Byt AR®F T ARBTT

Financing activities MEEH
Proceeds from new bank and FIBRITRAEMERDN

other loans Fri8 58 18(0) 245,000 221,000
Repayments of bank and other loans EERTRAMER 18(b) (216,321) (186,663)
Borrowing costs paid [EENREE/IDR 18(b) (29,257) (24,861)
Dividends paid to owners of the ERNEAQAHEEARE

Company (22,001) (27,370)
Payment for shares purchased in RO RBTEBARDH

respect of the share award scheme (NEN - (44,626)
Net cash used in financing activites REEBFAREFE (22579 (62,520)
Net increase/(decrease) incashand RERBLSHEEBEREM

cash equivalents (D) F8 44,554 (81,492)
Cash and cash equivalents at MAB1IENERERRAESEE

1 January HH 112,392 193,802
Effect of foreign exchange rate EXgHNEE

changes (954) 82
Cash and cash equivalents at M12A31EMEREREEE

31 December IERERE 18(a) 155,992 112,392

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 AR B A

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B F2024F 12A31HILFE

Canggang Railway Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in the Cayman lIslands on 19 October 2018 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law,
Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman lIslands. The shares of the Company were listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) on 23 October 2020. The Company
and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision
of rail freight transportation and related ancillary services by
operating freight railway and railway yards in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”).

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable IFRS
Accounting Standards, which collective term includes
all applicable individual International Financial Reporting
Standards, International Accounting Standards (“IASs”)
and Interpretations issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (the “lIASB”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
These consolidated financial statements also comply
with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited. Material accounting policies
adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

The IASB has issued certain new and amendments to IFRS
Accounting Standards that are first effective or available
for early adoption for the current accounting period of the
Group. Note 2(c) provides information on any changes
in accounting policies resulting from initial application of
these developments to the extent that they are relevant
to the Group for the current and prior accounting periods
reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2024 comprise the Company and its
subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”).

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements is the historical cost
basis, except for certain financial instruments which
are measured at their fair values as explained in the
accounting policies set out below (see Note 2(g)).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

(c)

(continued)

The preparation of consolidated financial statements
in conformity with IFRS Accounting Standards requires
management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and
expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and various other
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of
making the judgements about carrying values of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of
IFRS Accounting Standards that have significant effect on
the financial statements and major sources of estimation
uncertainty are discussed in Note 3.

Changes in accounting policies

Amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards for the first
time, which are mandatorily effective for the Group’s
annual period beginning on 1 January 2024 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants

Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-
current

Lease Liability in a Sale
and Leaseback

Amendments to IAS 7 and Supplier Finance
IFRS 7 Arrangements

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IFRS 16

The application of the amendments to IFRS Accounting
Standards in the current year has had no material impact
on the Group’s financial positions and performance for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in
these consolidated financial statements.

(b)

(c)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B %5 AR B A

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B F2024F 12H31HILFE

(c) Changes in accounting policies (continued)

New and amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards in

issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards that have

been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to IFRS 9
and IFRS 7

Amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28

Amendments to IFRS
Accounting Standards

Amendments to IAS 21

IFRS 18

Amendments to IFRS 9
and IFRS 7

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to

be determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2025.

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2026.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2027.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all new and amendments to IFRS Accounting
Standards will have no material impact on the consolidated

Amendments to the
Classification and

Measurement of Financial

Instruments?®

Sale or Contribution
of Assets between
an Investor and its
Associate or Joint
Venture’

Annual Improvements
to IFRS Accounting
Standards -Volume 117

Lack of Exchangeability?

Presentation and
Disclosure in Financial
Statements?

Contracts Referencing
Nature — Dependent
Electricity?®

financial statements in the foreseeable future.

122 Canggang Railway Limited

Annual Report 2024

(c)

BRBENEE (F)

BB fa) AR A R AY 37 5T B PR B 7

EERTERRAEE

REEINER R AT CEMER
REEHR] IR B R 5 &5+ R

REE :

EJPR Y 75 3 &

RYE 935 R B R*

B EER
ET7HBIIEET

B A 7 48 &
RIZE 1095 K B
BRE i ER|E
2835 HI1EET

EPR A B &
a1 ERIH1EET

B E R E
215 HIIEET

BB By 75 2 2 2
RIFE18%

B A 7% 48 & 2E

RIFE 93 R B

BB EER
FETIHIEET

2HT A EHE
I ERYIEET?

AT A=y
FZEHIEE
HEBEE

B RY 75 8 & 2
Rl &=t 2ER)
FENE-F
11438

thZ H] 52 142

HBREN 23]
RHF

BRE AR
BIHE

T RSEHRRZERENFERRE

£ e

2 R2025F1 1A 2 BN EE

BB AN -

8 R2026F1A1A B2 BHBNEE

HBAENY -

4 R2027FE1 1A 2 BN EE

BB AR -

ARAEBEY  RURKRERZ
TR BB B I S R AR A AE
AR EHGEEMBERREREARY

%o
=



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are
included in the consolidated financial statements from the
date on which control commences until the date on which
control ceases.

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised
income and expenses (except for foreign currency
transaction gains or losses) arising from intra-group
transactions, are eliminated. Unrealised losses resulting
from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the same
way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is
no evidence of impairment.

For each business combination, the Group can elect
to measure any non-controlling interests (“NCI”) either
at fair value or at the NCI’'s proportionate share of the
subsidiary’s net identifiable assets. NCI are presented in
the consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to the owners
of the Company. NCI in the results of the Group are
presented on the face of the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income as an allocation of
the total profit or loss and total comprehensive income for
the year between NCI and the equity shareholders of the
Company. Loans from holders of NCI and other contractual
obligations towards these holders are presented as
financial liabilities in the consolidated statement of
financial position in accordance with Notes 2(n), or (o)
depending on the nature of the liability.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it
derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary,
and any related NCI and other components of equity. Any
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in that former subsidiary is measured at
fair value when control is lost.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
losses (see Note 2(i), unless it is classified as held for sale
(or included in a disposal group classified as held for sale).

(d)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 AR B A

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B F2024F 12H31HILFE

(e) Other investments in securities (e) HEMbEHFRE

The Group’s policies for investments in securities, other
than investments in subsidiaries and associates, are set
out below.

Investments in securities are recognised/derecognised
on the date the Group commits to purchase/sell the
investment. The investments are initially stated at fair value
plus directly attributable transaction costs, except for
those investments measured at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVTPL”) for which transaction costs are recognised
directly in profit or loss. For an explanation of how the
Group determines fair value of financial instruments, see
Note 25(e). These investments are subsequently accounted
for as follows, depending on their classification.

(i)  Non-equity investments

Non-equity investments are classified into amortised
cost, if the investment is held for the collection
of contractual cash flows which represent solely
payments of principal and interest. Expected credit
losses, interest income calculated using the effective
interest method (see Note 2(s)(ii)), foreign exchange
gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any
gain or loss on derecognition is recognised in profit or
loss.

(i) Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as
FVTPL, unless the investment is not held for trading
purposes and on initial recognition the Group makes
an irrecoverable election to designate the investment
at fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVTOCI”) (non-recycling) such that subsequent
changes in fair value are recognised in OCIl. Such
elections are made on an instrument-by-instrument
basis, but may only be made if the investment meets
the definition of equity from the issuer’s perspective.
If such election is made for a particular investment,
at the time of disposal, the amount accumulated in
the fair value reserve (non-recycling) is transferred
to retained earnings and not recycled through profit
or loss. Dividends from an investment in equity
securities, irrespective of whether classified as at
FVTPL or FVTOCI, are recognised in profit or loss as
other income.
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(f)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

The following items of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets are stated at cost, which
includes capitalised borrowing costs, less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses (see Note 2(i)):

- items of property, plant and equipment; and
- interests in leasehold land held for own use.

If significant parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, then they are
accounted for as separate items (major components).

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant
and equipment is recognised in profit or loss. Any related
revaluation surplus is transferred from the revaluation
reserve to retained profits and is not reclassified to profit
or loss.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or valuation
of items of property, plant and equipment less their
estimated residual values, if any, using the straight line
method over their estimated useful lives, and is generally
recognised in profit or loss.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative
periods are as follows:

— Leasehold land is depreciated over the unexpired term
of lease.

— The Group’s interests in buildings and other
properties situated on leasehold land are depreciated
over the shorter of the unexpired term of lease and
the buildings and other properties’ estimated useful
lives, being no more than 50 years after the date of
completion.

(f)

ABEEAERAT o 2024FFIH

B 85 ¥ AR B RE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024F 12531 H IE FE

ME BERRBREAEEE

LTY% BMERREBEREREESE
BHEDRAN (BREEANMEETRRA)
REBFERTMAREESEYER (R
MEzE2(i)) -

- ¥E -BERRKRHFEERE K
- FrEEREELIERS-

Y% - MERRBEENTEEKR
BoAETENAERES - QA
BOEREBNER (EZEMHD)
N

HEMZE - BB R REEE WEMR
BHEHEINERRER o I8
EfBERTHEMRAREREREE
A BATEEHIBEEE -

TEUERERYE  BERRBE
BRI ERFHMEAERE
MR A (EE - SR E G RISRER
(WBE)FE  B—RREBEBRANER -

RE RN L B =z (4 5t A 6 A 5 5
mr

- MHE+rHEREBREEHRHRE -

- AEBURESTHz ENETF
REAMYENERIZEREREE
MR TR H MY A5 A fE
REMMEPHREE (RRT
AHIETZN505F) 7 & -

125



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 AR B A

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B F2024F 12H31HILFE

(f)

(9)

126 Canggang Railway Limited e

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
(continued)

—  Tracks, bridges and other railway 30 - 95 years
assets

- Locomotives and rolling stock 16 years

- Motor vehicles 5 - 8 years

—  Machinery and equipment 5-10 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values
are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if
appropriate.

Property, plant and equipment in the course of
construction for production, supply or administrative
purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised
impairment loss. Costs include any costs directly
attributable to bringing the asset to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in
the manner intended by management, including costs of
testing whether the related assets is functioning properly
and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised
in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready for
their intended use.

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether
the contract is, or contains, a lease. This is the case
if the contract conveys the right to control the use of
an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer
has both the right to direct the use of the identified asset
and to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits
from that use.

Annual Report 2024
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(g) Leased assets (continued)

(i)

As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and
non-lease component(s), the Group has elected not
to separate non-lease components and accounts
for each lease component and any associated non-
lease components as a single lease component for all
leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset (see Note 2(f)) and a
lease liability, except for short-term leases that have
a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-
value items, such as laptops and office furniture.

When the Group enters into a lease in respect of
a low-value item, the Group decides whether to
capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. If
not capitalised, the associated lease payments are
recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over
the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is
initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and
interest expense is calculated using the effective
interest method. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or rate are not included in the
measurement of the lease liability, and are charged to
profit or loss as incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease
is capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
adjusted for any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date, plus any initial direct
costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle
and remove the underlying asset or to restore the
underlying assets or the site on which it is located,
less any lease incentives received. The right-of-
use assets is subsequently stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see
Notes 2(f) and 2(i).
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(g) Leased assets (continued)

(i)

As a lessee (continued)

Refundable rental deposits are accounted for
separately from the right-of-use assets in accordance
with the accounting policy applicable to investments
in non-equity securities carried at amortised cost
(see Notes 2(e)(i), 2(s)(ii) and 2(h)). Any excess of the
nominal value over the initial fair value of the deposits
is accounted for as additional lease payments made
and is included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a
change in an index or rate, if there is a change in
the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to be
payable under a residual value guarantee, or if the
Group changes its assessment of whether it will
exercise a purchase, extension or termination option.
When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in
profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use
asset has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is
a lease modification, which means a change in the
scope of a lease or the consideration for a lease that
is not originally provided for in the lease contract, if
such modification is not accounted for as a separate
lease. In this case, the lease liability is remeasured
based on the revised lease payments and lease term
using a revised discount rate at the effective date of
the modification.

In the consolidated statement of financial position,
the current portion of long-term lease liabilities
is determined as the present value of contractual
payments that are due to be settled within twelve
months after the reporting period.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not
meet the definition of investment property in “Right-
of-use-assets” and presents lease liabilities within
bank and other loans in the consolidated statement of
financial position.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(h) Credit losses from financial instruments and contract

assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected
credit losses (ECLs) on the financial assets measured at
amortised cost (including cash and cash equivalents, trade
and bills receivables, other receivables and amounts due
from related parties) and contract assets.

Financial assets measured at fair value are not subject to
the ECL assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses.
Generally, credit losses are measured as the present value
of all expected cash shortfalls between the contractual and
expected amounts.

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the
following discount rates where the effect of discounting is
material:

- fixed-rate financial assets, trade and bills receivables,
other receivables and contract assets: effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition or an
approximation thereof;

- variable-rate financial assets: current effective interest
rate.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is
the maximum contractual period over which the Group is
exposed to credit risk.
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(h) Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets (continued)

() TMIAREGVWEENFESR (H)

RHEEERE (&)

RMEEERERTIAEF —REE

AT

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

result from default events that are possible within the
12 months after the reporting date (or a shorter period
if the expected life of the instrument is less than 12
months); and

lifetime ECLs: these are the ECLs that result from all
possible default events over the expected lives of the
items to which the ECL model applies.

- 12-month ECLs: these are the portion of ECLs that - 12@RFEHEESE: RBEH

H&12@E A (HfEEEIT AN
HERLM2@AH > Bl —BRE
EHIR) AR RERAEMNENSH
FEHNAEREERBREND &

2HRBEEEE  REMEE
B EREA FTE AR B (AR FIR
NARERENTEERNOEMHRE
BNESEERE-

FEBESZRRZHMABEEBEN
SHETEEHERE  HUTEER2
BRAEHMEEBRTEERI

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs, except for the following, which are
measured at 12-months ECLs:

financial instruments that are determined to have low
credit risk at the reporting date; and

other financial instruments for which credit risk
(i.e. the risk of default occurring over the expected
life of the financial instrument) has not increased
significantly since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(h) Credit losses from financial instruments and contract

assets (continued)
Measurement of ECLs (continued)

Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract assets
are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

Significant increases in credit risk

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition and when measuring ECLs, the Group
considers reasonable and supportable information that is
relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This
includes both quantitative and qualitative information and
analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience and
informed credit assessment, that includes forward-looking
information.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition:

failure to make payments of principal or interest on
their contractually due dates;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in a
financial instrument’s external or internal credit rating
(if available);

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and

— existing or forecast changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that have a
significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to
meet its obligation to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
B F2024F 12H31HILFE

(h) Credit losses from financial instruments and contract (h) ERMITEREYNEENEEEE (&)

assets (continued)
Significant increases in credit risk (continued)

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments,
the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is
performed on either an individual basis or a collective
basis. When the assessment is performed on a collective
basis, the financial instruments are grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics, such as past due status
and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since initial
recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is recognised
as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. The Group
recognises an impairment gain or loss for all financial
instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their
carrying amount through a loss allowance account.

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a
financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is
credit-impaired when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
the following observable events:

significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency
in payments;

— it becoming probable that the borrower will enter into
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

— significant changes in the market, economic or legal
environment that have an adverse effect on the
debtor.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(h) Credit losses from financial instruments and contract

(i)

assets (continued)
Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset or contract
asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent
that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is
generally the case when the Group determines that the
debtor does not have assets or sources of income that
could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts
subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously
written off are recognised as a reversal of impairment in
profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.

Impairment of other non-current assets

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its non-financial assets (other than property
carried at revalued amounts, investment property,
inventories and other contract costs, contract assets and
deferred tax assets) to determine whether there is any
indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. Goodwill is
tested annually for impairment.

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into
the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows
from continuing use that are largely independent of the
cash inflows of other assets or cash-generating units
(“CGU” s). Goodwill arising from a business combination is
allocated to CGUs or groups of CGUs that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater
of its value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal.
Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows,
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of
an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. They
are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the CGU, and then to reduce the
carrying amounts of the other assets in the CGU on a pro
rata basis.
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(i)

1)

(k)
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Impairment of other non-current assets (continued)

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.
For other assets, an impairment loss is reversed only to the
extent that the resulting carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined, net
of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had
been recognised.

Inventories

Inventories are assets which are held in the form of
materials or supplies to be consumed in the rendering of
services.

Inventories are stated at cost and are recognised as
expenses in the year in which the consumption occurs.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula
and comprises all costs of purchase and other costs
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition.

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group recognises
revenue (see Note 2(s)) before being unconditionally
entitled to the consideration under terms in the
contract. Contract assets for ECLs (see Note 2(h) and
are reclassified to receivables when the right to the
consideration has become unconditional (see Note 2(l)).

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
non-refundable consideration before the Group recognises
the related revenue (see Note 2(s)). A contract liability is
also recognised if the Group has an unconditional right
to receive consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding receivable
would also be recognised (see Note 2(l)).

When the contract includes a significant financing

component, the contract balance includes interest accrued
under the effective interest method (see Note 2(s)).
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U]

(m)

(n)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration, and only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component are initially measured at their
transaction price. Trade receivables that contain a
significant financing component and other receivables are
initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. All
receivables are subsequently stated at amortised cost (see
Note 2(h)).

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions and other short-term, highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value. Subsequent to initial recognition, trade and other
payables are stated at amortised cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at invoice amounts.
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(o)

(p)

(a)
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Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at
fair value less transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest
expense is recognised in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy for borrowing costs (see Note 2(u)).

The Group entered into the arrangements with the
financial leasing institutions in which the Group sold
certain equipment to these institutions and then leased
back with scheduled lease payments. The Group has
an option to buy back these equipment at a token price
at the end of the lease term, i.e. the bargain purchase
option. Considering that the bargain purchase option is
set at a token price, it is almost certain that the Group
would exercise such option. Such arrangements do not, in
substance, involve a lease under IFRS 16. The substance
of these arrangements are interest-bearing borrowings,
secured by the underlying assets and repayable in
installments over the lease term. The information of the
underlying assets and the secured loans are disclosed in
Notes 11 and 19.

Employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current tax and deferred
tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent
that it relates to a business combination, or items
recognised directly in equity or in other comprehensive
income.

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable or
receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year and
any adjustments to the tax payable or receivable in respect
of previous years. The amount of current tax payable or
receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected
to be paid or received that reflects any uncertainty related
to income taxes. It is measured using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Current tax
also includes any tax arising from dividends.
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(a)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts
used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised
for:

— temporary differences on the initial recognition
of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not
a business combination and that affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss and does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences;

- temporary differences related to investment in
subsidiaries, associates and joint venture to the
extent that the Group is able to control the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable
future;

- taxable temporary differences arising on the initial
recognition of goodwill; and

— those related to the income taxes arising from
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted to
implement the Pillar Two model rules published by
the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and
Development.

The Group recognised deferred tax assets and deferred
tax liabilities separately in relation to its lease liabilities and
right-of-use assets.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses,
unused tax credits and deductible temporary differences
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits
will be available against which they can be used. Future
taxable profits are determined based on the reversal of
relevant taxable temporary differences. If the amount of
taxable temporary differences is insufficient to recognise
a deferred tax asset in full, then future taxable profits,
adjusted for reversals of existing temporary differences,
are considered, based on the business plans for individual
subsidiaries in the Group. Deferred tax assets are reviewed
at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be
realised; such reductions are reversed when the probability
of future taxable profits improves.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain
criteria are met.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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(r)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Generally provisions are determined by discounting the
expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessment of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the liability.

A provision for warranties is recognised when the
underlying products or services are sold, based on
historical warranty data and a weighting of possible
outcomes against their associated probabilities.

A provision for onerous contracts is measured at the
present value of the lower of the expected cost of
terminating the contract and the expected net cost of
continuing with the contract, which is determined based on
the incremental costs of fulfilling the obligation under that
contract and an allocation of other costs directly related
to fulfilling that contract. Before a provision is established,
the Group recognises any impairment loss on the assets
associated with that contract.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
nonoccurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle
a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another
party, a separate asset is recognised for any expected
reimbursement that would be virtually certain. The amount
recognised for the reimbursement is limited to the carrying
amount of the provision.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(s) Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it
arises from the provision of services in the ordinary course
of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a service is
transferred to the customer at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be
entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of
third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Where the contract contains a financing component which
provides a significant financing benefit to the customer
for more than 12 months, revenue is measured at the
present value of the amount receivable, discounted
using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction with the customer, and
interest income is accrued separately under the effective
interest method. Where the contract contains a financing
component which provides a significant financing benefit
to the Group, revenue recognised under that contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. The Group
takes advantage of the practical expedient in IFRS 15
Revenue from Contracts with Customers and does not
adjust the consideration for any effects of a significant
financing component if the period of financing is 12
months or less.

Further details of the Company’s revenue and other
income recognition policies are as follows:

(s)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 AR B A

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B F2024F 12H31HILFE

(s) Revenue and other income (continued)

(i)

(i)

(iii

140 Canggang Railway Limited e

Revenue from provision of rail freight transportation
and related ancillary services

Revenue from provision of rail freight transportation
and related ancillary services are recognised when
the services are rendered and the enforceable rights
to payments are obtained. If the services rendered
are a partial fulfilment of a contract covering other
services, then the amount of revenue recognised is an
appropriate proportion of the total transaction price
under the contract, allocated between all the services
promised under the contract on a relative stand-alone
selling prices basis.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues under the
effective interest method using the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through
the expected life of the financial assets to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset. For financial
assets measured at amortised cost that are not credit-
impaired, the effective interest rate is applied to
the gross carrying amount of the asset. For credit-
impaired financial assets, the effective interest rate
is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying
amount net of loss allowance) of the asset (see Note
2(h)).

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position initially when there
is reasonable assurance that they will be received
and that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them. Grants that compensate the Group
for expenses incurred are recognised as income
in profit or loss on a systematic basis in the same
periods in which the expenses are incurred. Grants
that compensate the Group for the cost of an asset
are deducted from the carrying amount of the asset
and consequently are effectively recognised in profit
or loss over the useful life of the asset by way of
reduced depreciation expense.
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(u)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Translation of foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the
respective functional currencies of group companies at the
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated into the functional currency at the
exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets
and liabilities that are measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated into the functional currency at the
exchange rate when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary assets and liabilities that are measured based
on historical cost in a foreign currency are translated at
the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign
currency differences are generally recognised in profit or
loss.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates at the reporting
date. The income and expenses of foreign operations are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates at the dates of
the transactions.

Foreign currency differences are recognised in OCI and
accumulated in the exchange reserve, except to the extent
that the translation difference is allocated to NCI.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready
for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the
cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in
the period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 AR B A

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B F2024F 12H31HILFE

(v) Related parties

(@)

(b)

142 Canggang Railway Limited e

A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iiiy is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or the Group’s parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(w) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and
geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of services, the type or
class of customers, the methods used to provide the
services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material
may be aggregated if they share a majority of these
criteria.

Note 25 contains information about the assumptions and their
risk factors relating to fair value of financial instruments. Other
significant sources of estimation uncertainty are as follows:

Expected credit losses for trade receivables

The credit loss allowance for trade receivables are based on
assumptions about the expected loss rates. The Group uses
judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the
inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the Group’s past
history, existing market conditions as well as forward looking
estimates at the end of each reporting period. Changes in these
assumptions and estimates could materially affect the result
of the assessment and it may be necessary to make additional
impairment charge to the profit or loss.

B 85 ¥ AR B RE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024F 12531 H IE FE

(w) 7#8#®E

LD B R MR R R R A 2
HESHENRERRETAEERS
ROTHEEBUARAEEZTEEL R
B ETER D B R R FFEHEH
B REA -

BEREANEEI BTSRRI BR
EENMEE  BRFEREIMERE
PAEESE  XEEEREUNRSE
ME - FRFERYER - ZEHRES
E o UREEREMNE - ERIFEEXR
MEE DS LM RS HER
U =

MzZ2sHEEEEM T AR FENBRER
EEEZNER - Hthsr TREREN
FERRMOT :

EZRWRENEREEER

B EWRENEEBEREDERYERE
HBBRENBERME - REMEHR - K
SEHEMFHZERRR R ER ABER
HRER REAEENBERS R
35K I B BE 14 £ 5T HIET - 25 R
BRRMETHNEBDTREHTAERERNE
REE B AL ERIBEMBRERINAE
E o

RBEBEERAT o 20245FH 143



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
B F2024F 12H31HILFE

(a)

144 Canggang Railway Limited e

Revenue

(a)

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of rail
freight transportation and related ancillary services by
operating freight railway and railway yards. All of the
revenue of the Group is recognised over time. Further
details regarding the Group’s principal activities are
disclosed in Note 4(b).

(i

iy 35

AEENEFEXBREBELEEH
BN AE S RASREER AR
BB RS o AN SR A9 FT R U a5 BE B
B - BRAKEEIEXRNE—F
FBRMEE4(0) B 5E -

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with iy BIERBSISNREEFS
customers by major service lines is as follows: HNzWEZDIFAOT :
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARET T
Revenue from contracts with REEFEFEHZWE
customers R
Disaggregated by major service REIERBRDIHF
lines:
- Rail freight transportation - BEREE 222,443 243,523
— Ancillary services — HBN AR &
- Loading and unloading — % 27,473 25,748
- Road freight transportation - EREE ‘ 939 5,462
- Construction, maintenance FoREREBE
and repair 6,963 70,209
- Others — Hith 1,116 4,106
Subtotal INEE 36,491 105,525
258,934 349,048

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,
the Group’s customers with whom transactions
have exceeded 10% of the Group’s revenue in the

(i) M B ZE2024%F &2023F12H31
BLEFE  HBEXZEBELAE
EHEEFERRB10%HARE

respective years are set out below: BEFHIAOT :
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
Customer A Z2FEA 82,017 90,828
Customer B ZFB 47,025 45,030
Customer C Z2FEC 31,386 *
Customer D ZFED o 62,385
* Transactions with these customers did not exceed 10% * HZEZFETHNXELRR
of the Group’s revenue in the respective years. BAEBREBEEEREDN

10% o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(a) Revenue (continued)

(iii)

Revenue expected to be recognised in the future
arising from contracts with customers in existence at
the reporting date

The aggregated amounts of the transaction price
allocated to the remaining performance obligations
under the Group’s existing contracts as at 31
December 2024 and 2023 are as follows, which
represent revenue expected to be recognised in the
future from maintenance and repair contracts entered
into by the customers with the Group.

B 85 ¥ AR B RE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024F 12531 H IE FE

(a) 4z ()

(i) EHERBRERLBENRERER
HEENEFENEENESR

A2024%F K 2023F12H31H -

PTEREAEERESNGHRTEY
EXENRZEHREBENT (Hi5
FEHERBARRILREETFHE
REEFLHRERBEBEEHN

U #) o
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT AR®BTRT

Within 1 year —FR 6,965 1,709
Over 1 year —F Bk - 6,965
6,965 8,674

Details of concentration of credit risks of the Group
are set out in Note 25(a).

(b) Segment reporting

The Group manages its businesses by provision of
services. In a manner consistent with the way in which
information is reported internally to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment, the Group has
presented the following two reportable segments. No
operating segments have been aggregated to form the
following reportable segments.

Rail freight transportation: this segment provides rail
freight transportation in the PRC.

Ancillary services: this segment provides freight
loading and unloading services, road freight
transportation and other services in the PRC.

EBEAEEEEETRBRNES
N M EE25(a) °

(b) 7 EHE

RAEBEMEHOBRBEEEE -
IR E AR B R 0 B K R IRFTAA A
rEEGSTHEERREER -
AN REEZ5I LT RER 2%
DED o BEE S HHEE 2 F AT 5
A2FD AR ©

- BREE: o MAPEREME
BREE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 AR B A

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B F2024F 12H31HILFE

(b) Segment reporting (continued)

(i)

Segment results

For the purposes of assessing segment performance
and allocating resources between segments, the
Group’s senior executive management monitors the
results attributable to each reportable segment on the
following bases:

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to revenue generated
by those segments and the expenses incurred by
those segments. The measure used for reporting
segment result is “adjusted operating profit”. To
arrive at adjusted operating profit, the Group’s
operating profit is adjusted for items not specifically
attributed to individual segments, such as general
and administration expenses and other income. No
intersegment revenue has occurred during the year
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. Assistance
provided by one segment to another, including sharing
of assets and technical know-how, is not measured.

The Group’s other income, finance costs and assets
and liabilities are not measured under individual
segments. Accordingly, neither information on
segment assets and liabilities nor information
concerning capital expenditure, interest income and
interest expenses is presented.

Information regarding the Group’s reportable
segments as provided to the Group’s most senior
executive management for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance
for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 is
set out below.

(b) =

()

B E (&)

7 EBEAE

RAEIMRERES 2B
BER ARESRITREEE
BUTEEERE 2R D ME
HHEAE

WERFEXISREZEDIE
EFHRBREIIMEATE2R
DEB o 2D IEEFTFEAME
EFEBIEABREEERN] -
HIAR B A E i ok B TR 5R B ME
B0 ERHyE B /EH AR - Hlin—
MEITHEZ AR EMUEA - #A
H £2024% K%2023F12831H
IEFEEWEHB S IBEUE - —
B2 ERm % — @D SRR Ay 7 B
(BEAEZEEREMAR) &
TFErE o

REBHNEMBUBA - BEE AL
REEMEEIFRE B2 &5t
B EUHHEIINIMEENE
BERFEERFEZ - FMEWA
RASHXBEBENES -

A E E20245F K2023F12 531
HIEFE BomERRTED
BREMOAEBRSITHEE
BRRENAEET2HI BER
EHHMT o

2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARET T

Revenue from external customers R B SMEBE F R
- Rail freight transportation - HREE 222,443 243,523
- Ancillary services — HB AR 36,491 105,525
258,934 349,048

Segment result DEBELE

- Rail freight transportation - HREE 93,402 105,679
— Ancillary services — HB AR (18,145) 10,857
75,257 116,536
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

B 22024F 12531 H IE FE
(b) Segment reporting (continued) (b) ZEwHE (&)
(i) Reconciliation of segment results (i) ZEBFEEEH KR
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AR® T
Segment result D EBELE 75,257 116,536
General and administration expenses — f& & 17 B B8 X (9,945) (11,496)
Impairment reversal/(loss) of trade & 5 FEUWFXIBREEE
receivables /(1) 56 (292)
Other income, net HMW A FER 40,883 4,798
Finance costs & AR (29,589) (24,868)
Consolidated profit before taxation #%R& BR¥ A% Al 76,662 84,678
(i) Geographic information (iii) HhEEH
The Group’s revenue is substantially generated from AEBHNKREFTERERFEIR
provision of rail freight transportation services and i 85 B% & 32 AR 7% & 46 B8 & Bh AR
related ancillary services in the PRC. The Group’s B o ARENKREEETEMNR
operating assets are substantially situated in the FE - Bt EREHIEERFRE
PRC. Accordingly, no segment analysis based on EFEMHETND DM -
geographical locations of the customers and assets is
provided.
2024 2024
20245 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T AREEF T
Net income/(loss) on trading business BHEKNERA (FE) FHE 11,666 (3,807)
Consultation service income &8 5 AR 75 W A 5,697 -
Government grants KT 8 BE 282 3,291
Interest income from bank deposits RITERFEWA 1,806 3,489
Interest income from a loan to a third party EE=ZFEFHAMENEWA 213 299
Compensation income HEWA - 492
Net (losses)/gains on disposal of property, HEY% - BEKRREN (FiE)
plant and equipment RS R (160) 902
Gain on lease remeasurement HEET &= 1,384 -
Net losses on liquidation of an associate — & N FREREIEFEE - (167)
Gain on financial assets at fair value ZRBHREATETEN
through profit or loss, net TREERSFE 19,453 -
Others Hth 542 299
40,883 4,798
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
B F2024F 12H31HILFE

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging:

BRELAER TR T BIREFH -

(a) Finance costs: (a) BERAK :
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
Total interest expense on bank and RITREMERNF L
other loans B X 4428 29,589 24,868
(b) Staff costs: (b) EITRRA :
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR¥ET
Salaries, wages and other benefits & IERHEMEF 48,446 49,264
Contributions to defined contribution B EFEMEFTERTEIHE
retirement plans 6,499 7,842
54,945 57,106

The employees of the subsidiaries of the Group
established in the PRC (excluding Hong Kong) participate
in a defined contribution retirement benefit plan managed
by the local government authorities. Employees of these
subsidiaries are entitled to retirement benefits, calculated
based on a percentage of the defined salaries level in the
PRC (other than Hong Kong), from the above mentioned

R-BOWFAHE)

retirement plans at their normal retirement age.

The Group has no further material obligation for
payment of other retirement benefits beyond the above

contributions.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

B 22024F 12531 H IE FE
6 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (continued) 6 BRBIAIER (&)
(c) Other items: (c) HAMER :
2024 2023
2024F 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR% T AR® T
Depreciation e
- property, plant and equipment - ME - BERSEE
(Note 11) (Hfat11) 31,219 31,904
- right-of-use assets (Note 12) - EREEE (Wit12) 4,465 4,590
35,684 36,494
Less: depreciation capitalised in the B BEREERASN
cost of qualifying assets MERTER (13) -
35,671 36,494
Short-term lease charges with remaining & T HI T~ B8 1218 B #9
lease term of not more than 12 months 2 HAHEE & A 99 247
Auditors’ remuneration BT RN 2
— annual audit services —~ FEZHRE 870 1,300
Cost of inventories (Note 14(b)) BFE A (K1aF14(b)) 24,176 31,673
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 AR B A

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B F2024F 12H31HILFE
(@) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss (a) mEBERRAWBERE
represents:
2024 2023
2024%F 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARET T
Current tax (Note 23(a)) B HA B 18 (f12£23(a))
Provision for the year FREE 16,231 26,700
Over-provision in previous years BEFEBRERE (71) -
16,160 26,700
Deferred tax (Note 23(b)) EERLIE (K12F23(b))
Origination and reversal of temporary ~ ERFZZEELE R EE
differences 5,420 (588)
21,580 26,112
(b) Reconciliations between tax expense and accounting (b) BEMHEBREARRITENEE
profit at applicable tax rates: F #9 $ BR -
2024 2023
2024%F 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET ARETTT
Profit before taxation BR Bt A1 2 A 76,662 84,678

Expected tax on profit before taxation, ZBiEE A EAEEEAKNER
calculated at the rates applicable to Wt ERNBRBADEF B
profits in the jurisdictions concerned FEERBLIE (MEE() ~ (i) R (iii))

(Notes (i), (i) and (iii)) 17,889 21,660
Tax effect of non-taxable income EARBRBMANBRESE (3,131) -
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses TR E BB L 917 114
Tax effect of unused tax losses not RERRELERIEEENRE

recognised as deferred tax assets ABEBENREEE 1,183 101
Withholding tax on the distributable and KB 2 B Al 5 K& 2 &£ 2Kk

distributed profits of subsidiaries M 2 FBINBE (B (iv))

(Note (iv)) 4,793 4,409
Tax effect of share of loss of associates FE{LEFE N R E BN KT E - (172)
Over-provision in previous years BEFEBERE (71) -
Actual tax expense ERBEMAX 21,580 26,112
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(b) Reconciliations between tax expense and accounting

profit at applicable tax rates: (continued)

Notes:

(U]

(i)

(ifi)

(iv)

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and
the British Virgin Islands(“BVI”), the Company and the Group’s BVI
subsidiaries are not subject to income tax in those jurisdictions.

The Company’s subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong are
subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of 16.5% for the year ended
31 December 2024 (2023:16.5%). These companies did not have
assessable profits which are subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax for
the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: RMB Nil).

The Group’s PRC subsidiaries (excluding Hong Kong) are subject
to PRC Corporate Income Tax at a rate of 25% during the year
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: 25%).

According to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law and its
implementation regulations, dividends receivable by non-Mainland
China corporate residents from Mainland China enterprises are
subject to withholding tax at a rate of 10%, unless reduced by tax
treaties or arrangements, for profits earned since 1 January 2008.

Dividends withholding tax represents tax charged by tax authority
on dividends distributed by the Group’s subsidiaries in the
Mainland China during the reporting period.

B 85 ¥ AR B RE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024F 12531 H IE FE

(b) BEMXEZREABRIFENE G
MEHEK : (8)

wsz -

) WRENSHSKABELZHE (HBE
LS ) WRGIRESR ARRRAEE
NEBEZHEMBRARANRZEN LR

BRBMFER -

(i) AOTDREBIMRINKEQIRE
F2024F 128318 Ik & :
(2023% : 16.5% ) KB EHME B RS

o FAE £20245F 1283 E

=N i \,,\isﬁimf B 1S

K (20235 : ARBZ T

(i) AEBENFR(FTEEEB) WB QAR
B E2024F12A31BA L FEAE25%
l(z%fﬁ 25% ) B9 B R B 4k B 1 2

(iv) WBEBEPEITEFEBERAERKS - 5
B A #h 1 3 40K 3% FA20085F1 A1 B & R
ISR TP R ER B - BRI
BERBHRORLZERR  HERREERR
10% R HAFEME

REFEMBARBEEHAEBRTENX
it 49 B 2 B R ER & HA R 0 TRV AR BT A
Wz BiE o

ﬁ
'_—'_

RBEERERAT o 2024553%H 151



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 AR B A

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B F2024F 12H31HILFE

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1)
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of

RIBEBQAEHEIINER QT (3K
BEEENEER) RAF2HIRENESH
SWT :

Directors) Regulation are as follows:

2024
2024
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ in-kind and Discretionary scheme
fees benefits bonuses contributions Total
‘ e 2ER N X
Exnd ENEF BMERL BHNFELT @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR®Tr AR%Tr AR%TR AR%Tx
Executive directors 97ES
Mr. Liu Yongliang HxzEE 60 151 - - 211
Mr. Yi Weiming REREE 60 116 - - 176
Non-executive directors FHTES
Mr. Xu Zhihua REERLE 50 48 - - 98
Mr. Qin Shaobo ROBRE - - - - -
Independent non-executive directors ~ BUFHTES
Mr. Liu Changchun ARERE 100 - - - 100
Mr. Zhao Changsong BRALE 100 - - - 100
Ms. Lyu Qinghua BEERT 100 - - - 100
470 315 - - 785
2023
2023
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
and benefits  Discretionary scheme
Directors’ fees . in-kind bonuses  contributions Total
s T EER s .
EE20k o ENEA MERL  BUGHELRT H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR®TR ARBTn ARETn  AR%Tx
Executive directors 97ES
Mr. Liu Yongliang HxzrL 60 91 - - 151
Mr. Yi Weiming REREE 60 49 20 - 129
Non-executive directors FHTES
Mr. Xu Zhihua hEELE 50 9 - - 59
Mr. Qin Shaobo ROBRE - - - - -
Independent non-executive directors ~ BUFHTES
Mr. Liu Changchun ARERE 100 - - - 100
Mr. Zhao Changsong BRALE 100 - - - 100
Ms. Lyu Qinghua BEELL 100 - - - 100
470 149 20 - 639
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024F 12531 H IE FE

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two (2023:
two) are the director of the Company whose emoluments
are disclosed in Note 8. The aggregate of the emoluments in

RAEEBBESHFMALS  WB (2023%F :
MB)AERRAES  Hl € N HFE8H
BT =5 (2023F : =8&) A TRIFEN

respect of the remaining three (2023: three) individuals are as MEEIT ¢
follows:

2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR T
Salaries and other emoluments FeRkEMMS 297 326
Discretionary bonuses BB TEAL 109 74
Retirement scheme contributions BRI 30 20
436 420

The emoluments of the individuals who are not directors and
who are amongst the five highest paid individuals of the Group
are within the following band:

BRASELEBSHFMALTELRRE
ENATHHFEMN FUTEHE :

2024 2023
20245 20235
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AE
Hong Kong dollars (HK$) Nil to =% 7t 21,000,000/ 7T
HK$1,000,000 3 3

ABEEAERAT o 2024FFIH
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
B F2024F 12H31HILFE

(a)

(b)

154 Canggang Railway Limited e

Basic earnings per share

The basic earnings per share for the year ended 31
December 2024 is calculated based on the profit
attributable to owners of the Company of RMB56,461,000
(2023: RMB58,978,000) and the weighted average of
3,847,792,000 ordinary shares in issue during the year
(2023: 3,870,674,592 ordinary shares in issue during the
year), calculated as follows:

(a)

BREXEF

HZE2024F12A31A L EEMNER
EXBRNDBDERERQRATESE AE
B A A R #56,461,0007T (20234
AR #58,978,0007t) R FE R T 2
17 38 A% 0 #& S 35 #403,847,792,000
R (2023F : FRERTEBER
3,870,674,5920%) st EMT :

2024 2023
20244 2023%F
(Restated)

(82E )

Issued ordinary shares at 1 January 1A1EMERTEER
AR R BT BB AR W

Effect of shares purchased in
respect of the share award
scheme (Note 24(f))

S8 (Kat24(1))

3,847,792,000 3,908,800,000

(38,125,408)

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares at 31 December

FHH

M12A331H & @R N 1E

3,847,792,000 3,870,674,592

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue and
basic earnings per share were stated after taking into
account the effect of the share subdivision (for details
please refer to Note 24(c)). Comparative figures have
also been restated on the assumption that the share
subdivision had been effective in prior year.

Diluted earnings per share

There were no dilutive potential shares outstanding during
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 20283.

Annual Report 2024

(b)

EHERTEERMNEFEHERE
BEABIESFTRERMD 2T (K
24(c)) M E -HLREFTETE
o BURAIITRBEFEECLE
o

ERFEEA
M E 22024%F K2023F 128318 1t
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

B 22024F 12531 H L F/E
Tracks,
bridges and Buildings Locomotives Machinery
otherrailway  and other  and rolling Motor and Construction
assets  properties stock vehicles  equipment in progress Total

9E BRR BTL HER
HdEnge  HtnE  4EE§ NE BERRE  ERIR #it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTn  ARETR ARETR ARRTR  AR®Tn  ARETR ARETR

Cost: A
At January 2023 R2023%1B1H 555,406 185,713 42,807 40,332 139,620 17,179 981,057
Additions RE - - - 3,553 8,160 4,710 53,423
Transfer in/(out) g)/(&4) 25,897 2,482 - - 1,987 (30,366) -
Disposals He - - 19 @3 6790 @) (3305)
At 31 December 2023 R2023F12731H 581,303 188,195 42,668 41,550 145,977 26,482 1,026,175
Additions HE 490 1,038 - 630 1,118 18,288 21,564
Transfer in/{out) B)/ (&) 7,176 4,993 - - 348 (12517) -
Disposals T (1,142) (441) (2,055) 189%) (297) - (4.831)
At 31 December 2024 2024128318 587,827 193,785 40,613 41,284 147,146 32,253 1,042,908
Accumulated depreciation and ZiHERHEEE:
impairment losses:
At January 2023 R2023% 1716 50,509 41,408 23,362 23,058 72,786 - 211,123
Charge for the year ERF T 8,362 5874 4,146 4818 10,448 - 33,648
Written back on disposals ~ HEHE - - () (2,178) (3,579) - (5,760)
At 31 December 2023 R2023F12731H 58,871 47,282 27,505 25,698 79,655 - 239,011
Charge for the year ERYiH 5,620 7,312 3,603 4,224 10,460 - 31,219
Wrtten back on disposals ~ HEBE (1,085) w9y 0 (40g) 1294) ; 14.254)
 MSiDecember2024  RAOM4FA2ASIA 63406 54155 29080 214 sem T %0
Carrying amount: REfE:
At 31 December 2024 20245128318 524,421 139,630 11,033 11,770 57,325 32,253 776,932
At 31 December 2023 R2023F12731H 522,432 140,913 15,163 15,852 66,322 26,482 787,164
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
B F2024F 12H31HILFE

Notes:

Bz

(i)  The Group’s property, plant and equipment are all located in the iy AEBNYE BERZHHVRPE -
PRC.

(i) At 31 December 2024, certain amount of the Group’s bank (i) EA2024¢12H31 B AEEMNE TRT
loans (see Note 19) were secured by buildings of the Group with ERS5E (RHE19) UAEEEREE
carrying amount of RMB6,976,000 (2023: RMB7,297,000). %A [ %£6,976,0007T (20235 : ARM

7,297,0007%) (IR FHEE 47 o

(i) At 31 December 2024, certain amount of the Group’s other (iif) 7542024¢12}§ 31H REBEMHET
loans were secured by other property, plant and equipment HHNERESEUNRNEEREAEABAR
of the Group with carrying amount of RMB190,193,000 (2023: #190,193,0007t (2023F : AR
RMB127,860,000). 127,860, 000713) MEMYE - BRE KR

BAEIE R o

(iv) Certain amount of the Group’s other loans (see Note 19) were (ivy XEEMNETEMER (RHEF19) I
secured by following assets of the Group: REH E’JMTﬁET’Eﬁ#

2024 2023
20245 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AR®F T

Carrying amount: BREE
Tracks, bridges and other railway assets HE BRREMEKEE 119,545 83,228
Buildings and other properties BERHEA 16,018 8,708
Locomotives and rolling stock HEKEE 7,842 9,325
Motor vehicles AE 8,189 2,551
Machinery and equipment HEERRE 38,599 24,048
190,193 127,860

156 Canggang Railway Limited

Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 85 ¥ AR B RE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Bl Z2024F 12H31H IF F &
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARET T
Cost: RN :
At 1 January ®m1B1H 227,998 227,738
Additions NE 13,416 260
Lease remeasurement HEEHE (7,021) =
At 31 December M12A31H 234,393 227,998
Accumulated depreciation: RITIHE .
At 1 January M1A18 43,794 39,204
Charge for the year FRXH 4,465 4,590
Lease remeasurement HESEH2 (2,875) -
At 31 December . mi2ggt® 45,384 43,794
Carrying amount: BRMEE :
At 31 December M12A31H 189,009 184,204

Notes:

(U]

(i)

(i)

Right-of-use assets represents lump sum considerations paid or
payable by the Group to acquire leasehold lands located in the
PRC. These leasehold lands are with lease periods of 48-50 years
and there are no ongoing payments to be made under the terms of
the land leases.

At 31 December 2024, a certain amount of the Group’s bank loans
(see Note 19) were secured by the Group’s interests in leasehold
lands with the aggregate carrying amount of RMB103,602,000
(2023: RMB112,385,000).

At 31 December 2024, the Group obtained the land use right
certificate of all pieces of land of the Group. At 31 December
2023 land use right certificate of certain pieces of land of the
Group with a carrying amount of RMB6,307,000 were yet to be
obtained. The directors of the Company consider that there is
no legal restriction for the Group to access and use such land
and it should not lead to any significant adverse impact on the
operations of the Group.

Biat -

U]

(i)

(iii)

REBEBRARAR o

FAREERAEERWBMLAPENE
ErHEAFREMN—RERE - 2SR
S+ BRI A48E50F - BARE LA
EMRRBEBFENLR

M2024%F 128310 » AEENE FHRIT
EReHE(BEME19) UAEEREAER
A AR #103,602,0007T (20234%F : AR
ﬁﬁ&%&mﬁﬂ%ﬁ%iﬁ%é#ﬂ

M2024F 128318  AEBEH 2 I
T EL 1S £ it fF R R o 2023512
B31A AEBHMAMREAEAEARY
6,307,0007T BV & F £ i BN 15 L #th {55 F 4
B ARAEERAAEEAEEAREA
AL E NS EAEERS - BET
%g$%W¥i§%?§iﬁﬁi1f1ﬂ§k$*ﬂ

)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
B F2024F 12H31HILFE

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries
which principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the
Group as at 31 December 2024 and 2023. The class of shares
held is ordinary unless otherwise stated:

T RED HR2024F K20235F12A31H
HAEENEE  EESLABREAEE
WK B RABFE - BRI BEHBEN > FTIFR
M EZERER

Percentage of ownership interest

RERREEAL
Place of Particulars
incorporation/ of registered/  The Group’s
establishment issued and effective  Held by the  Held by the
Name of company and business paid up capital interest ~ Company subsidiaries  Principal activities
HRAL/HIR it/ BRGR ASEN  AALE  BKEAA
AAER 3513 BRERHE ERER KA K5 IEXE
Cangzhou Canggang Railway The PRC RMB347,884,681 100% - 100%  Provision of rail freight
Company Limited transportation and related
(“Canggang Company”) ancillary services by
(BMEBEBERAA) operating freight railway
and railway yards
ENERERERAT (REAR)) hER Y AR#347,884,6817 100% - 100% BESEEEARRARIES
RUEREERRBRHRY
Hebei Jinghai International Logistics The PRC RMB60,000,000 51% - 51%  Provision of logistics agency
Development Company Limited services
(“Jinghai International”)
(T RBERIRERA )
WA REERDRERAT hERY AE%60,000,0007 51% - 51% REMRAERH
(TRBER)"
Inner Mongolia Zhaohai Energy The PRC RMB20,000,000 100% - 100%  Trading business
Compant Limited and RMB205,000
(WELXBERERAF)
AEEXSRRARAT hER ABR20,0000007 & 100% - 100% E5%H
AR 205,000
Inner Mongolia Jihai International The PRC RMB20,000,000 100% - 100%  Trading business
Logistics Company Limited and RMB300,000
(AWELEBERNRERAA)
NEEEBERIRERL T hER ABR20,0000007 % 100% - 100% E5%%H
ARE300,0007T
Cangzhou Canggang Supply Chain The PRC RMB10,000,000 100% - 100%  Trading business
Management Company Limited? and RMB5,050,000
(RN AR EEERERAF)
BNABRERERERAR" hER ABR10,0000007 % 100% - 100% E5%H
AR#5,050,0007
Note: Bta

* The official names of these entities are in Chinese. The English
translations are for identification purpose only. These companies
are limited liability companies established in the PRC.

# Incorporated in 2024.
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The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-controlling

interests (“NCI”):

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B F20244F12H31H IF F/&E

TRETEEEEEAFEZRES ([3F
EREZDNIEZEMBEBARFE -

Place of and
Name of incorporation/ Proportion of ownership interests Total comprehensive
subsidiary business and voting rights held by NCI loss allocated to NCI Accumulated NCI
AL/ FERBERBNAERR ARTHERERN
HEARER RIRERBE AL 2EERER ZitFERER
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
2024 20238 2024F 2023E 20248 2023€
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBT R ARBT T ARBTT AE¥TR ARBTT
Jinghai International The PRC 49% 49% (1,465) (412 21,665 29,130
REER ]
Individual immaterial subsidiaries with NCI 86 -
BREEFERESNEEANELA
21,151 29,130

The following table lists out the information relating to Jinghai
International. The summarised financial information presented

TR EEEBEBENER - THIH
ERBERAFEEAQATIRYE AN

below represents the amounts before any inter-company 2 o
elimination.
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR®ET T
NCI percentage FEREZE ST 49% 49%
Non-current assets IRBEE 60,651 62,741
Current assets REEE 2,954 4,995
Current liabilities REEE (7,146) (8,287)
Net assets EEFE 56,459 59,449
Carrying amount of NCI FERERREE 27,665 29,130
Revenue Ui = 1,806 3,096
Loss and total comprehensive loss FEFBERZHEEARE
for the year (2,990) (841)
Loss and total comprehensive loss FERERELFERSE
for the year attributable to NCI RE2EEBRARE (1,465) (412)
Cash flows from operating activities RETHMEBRERE (283) 2,138
Cash flows from investing activities RETBMBRERE 9) (60)
Cash flows from financing activities METEMEBRERE (191) (2,385)
REBEEERAT o 2024%5%H 159
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

B F2024F 12531 H 1F /&

14 INVENTORIES

(@) Inventories in the consolidated statement of financial

position comprise:

14 78

(a) FEMBRARANEFERRE

2024 2023

20245 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARE T AR T

Fuel R 3,384 2,425
Coal j-87q 17,241 27,406
Gravel WA 19,310 18,954
Materials and consumables MR R FE M 6,729 7,311
46,664 56,096

(b) The analysis of the amounts of inventories recognised

(b) ERRBABMIAFTABENFESH

as an expense and included in profit or loss is as WM :
follows:

2024 2023
2024 % 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBT T
Carrying amount of inventories used EEAFENREE 24,176 31,673
Write down of inventories FE MR - 3,000
24,176 34,673
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

B F20244F12H31H IF F/&E
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT AR®BTR

Trade receivables g 5 EWRIE 58,261 47,370
Bills receivables (Note (ii)) FE UK I8 (K aL (i) 23,013 23,986

81,274 71,356
Notes: WEE

(i)  All of the trade and bills receivables, net of loss allowance, are
expected to be recovered within one year.

(i) At 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of the Group’s bills
receivables that have been endorsed to the Group’s suppliers and
other creditors for the settlement of the Group’s trade and other
payables but have not been derecognised in the consolidated
financial statements were RMB Nil (2023: RMB2,200,000).

Aging analysis
At the end of the reporting period, the aging analysis of

trade receivables, based on the invoice date and net of loss
allowance, is as follows:

() FIAESEEFEREWRRE GIREE
BB B R - FRRE -

(i) A2024F128318 » KREBBE B EF K
SEHEEREMERAUGEREEN
B REMEMREEERAGETHER
REBAVEREZENREEBEASARE
Z T (20234 : AR#2,200,0007T) °

AR 2 A

RIBEMR - ERBZ AR RENBRER
BERANEZREERRITOT :

2024 2023
2024 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT AR®BTR

Within 1 month 1EA R 32,304 32,643
1-6 months 12618 A 14,755 11,270
6-12 months 6Z2121@ A 8,597 3,383
More than 12 months 128 KL £ 2,605 74

58,261 47,370

Trade receivables are mainly due within 30 days from the
date of billing. Bills receivables are with maturity of within 180
days. Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit
risk arising from trade and bills receivables are set out in Note
25(a).

ESREWFEFTENHEZEAHEF30XRA
EH - EWEEMEEARI180KA - F
BAEEEEREREESEWRFEBERE
WEEMEEEERBNE - DSHBEAR
FMzE25(a) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
B F2024F 12H31HILFE

2024 2023
20244 2023%
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR®TF T
Receivables relating to disposal of property, ERHHEW¥ - BERREER
plant and equipment Y FE WL 5k 8 2,884 5,635
Receivables relating to liquidation of an BE-REE N NREEERENE
associate WK FRIE - 3,281
Receivables relating to disposal of an HEE-RHBELE LR EENE
associate K18 700 1,139
Other receivables HibpE W 18 3,088 -
Loan to a third party (Note (i) mE=HER(HE®G)) - 29,000
Financial assets measured at amortised cost REHE R AT ENESHEE 6,672 39,055
Value-added tax recoverable o] Uy [B] 1B 1,374 1,636
Prepayments for constructions EEFEARE 39,273 3,780
Deposits for other purpose HitABRWZES 1,480 2,912
Prepayments for purchase of inventories FERBRAIRERBEMNEX
and prepaid expenses 36,500 61,007
85,299 108,390
Less: Non-current portion B EREH S
- Prepayments for constructions — BEHRFBMNFIE (39,273) (3,780)
- Receivables relating to disposal of - BHBHEENE -BER
property, plant and equipment REERANER
;IE - (1,891)
Current portion of prepayments and other ~ FE{fFIE K H b B R E K
receivables B HAEF & 46,026 102,719
Notes: Hiat

(U]

(i)

On 19 December 2023, Canggang Company and Beijing Tianrun
Botian Investment Management Co., Ltd. (b KM KEE
EHEAIR/E])*, entered into a short-term loan agreement of
RMB29,000,000 with a loan period from 19 December 2023 to 22
January 2024 and an interest rate of 15% per annum. The loan
receivable and interest was fully settled on 22 January 2024.

* The official name of this entity is in Chinese. The English
translation name is for identification purpose only.

Except for the non-current portion of prepayments for
constructions, other prepayments and other receivables, net of
loss allowance, are expected to be recovered or recognised as
expenses within one year.
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(i)

M2023F 128190 BB A FEAL R X
HEAREEEERAA T LEHER
& - EE 5 A AR%29,000,0007T
& R H H20235F12 8190 # 202441
B22H  IREFEI5%EE - BIWERKR
FIEBR2024F1B22R&F

O RZEBNEAEBATXEBo®
NEBEMERZA -

BREZFRBNRENFNBRIMD I - HbTE
IR K H b FEUCER (EHIBRE B EME)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

Bl Z2024F 12H31H IF F &
17 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 17 ZBREZ R AT EHFENE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Financial assets measured at FVTPL:

MEE
EBBHERAFENBNSBEE :

2024 2023
2024 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT AR®BTRT

Equity securities listed in Hong Kong EBELETRAES
(Note (i) (K1a£() 34,454 -
Unlisted equity securities (Note (ii)) 3k LR A S (ML) 3,964 -
38,418 -

Notes: Btat -

() The above listed equity investments represent ordinary shares of () LEREFTHRAZBSE-—RBEBLTEEN
an entity listed in Hong Kong. These investments are not held for ZER ZEREVWHIFIEEST  MEF
trading, instead, they are held for long-term strategic purposes. EEREXBERAEZ AATEERIENEZ
The directors of the Company have elected to designate these ERETEREEEAEBERZEATE
investments in equity instruments as at FVTPL. R

(i) The above unlisted equity investments represent the Group’s (i) L EMRABHIEAEER—BESP
equity interest in a private entity established in the PRC. The BRI WAEEENRAER - AATE
directors of the Company have elected to designate these EEEEZEREIEREIEEAERIE
investments in equity instruments as at FVTPL. R ATFEITE

18 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 18 BEREELEEIER
(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise (a) BEehBEESEEHEBEHERE

2024 2023

2024 2023%F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARBT T

Bank deposits RITER 155,989 112,389

Cash on hand FHEES 3 3

Cash at bank and on hand in the
consolidated statement of financial

REMBARRRAWRITRF
EREURGERERER

position and cash and cash equivalents AR SRR SEEEH

in the consolidated cash flow
statement

155,992 112,392
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
B F2024F 12H31HILFE

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities

The tables below detail changes in the Group’s liabilities
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash flows
will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated cash flow
statements as cash flows from financing activities.

(b)

MEETBRELEAEENYHE

TRHALAEEERETHEENE
BENEE (BFRASRFERESEE) o
RETBEENEERAERERED
ARBEERENEAEBFERERE
KRN BERRIEARERETE
Eﬁfﬂﬁulbiﬂ’JEJE °

Bank and
other loans
BITR
Hih B R
RMB’000
AR T
At 1 January 2024 1202451818 492,756
Changes from financing cash flows: BMERESREEH
Proceeds from new bank and other loans  IEET R HEMERWATERE 245,000
Repayments of bank and other loans EERITREMER (216,321)
Borrowing costs paid 2 &R A (29,257)
Total changes from financing cash flows MERSREE AL (578)
Other changes: Hith& g :
Interest expenses on bank and other loans $R{TR EMERF ER X (#:26(a))
,,,,, woteo@) " 2989
At 31 December 2024 A2024%12H31H 521,767
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

B 22024F 12531 H L F/E
18 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 18 RERFAELZEHER (HA)
(continued)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (b) MEFHRELEEBENYER (E)
activities (continued)
Bank and
other loans
RITR
HthE ™
RMB’000
AR®ET T
At 1 January 2023 7®2023%F181H 457,412
Changes from financing cash flows: MEREREEEH
Proceeds from new bank and other loans FIBRITREMERNAMBRIE 221,000
Repayments of bank and other loans EERITREMER (186,663)
Borrowing costs paid [SENREEDEN (24,861)
Total changes from financing cash flows MEREREZHERE 9,476
Other changes: Hﬁﬂﬁiﬂ
Interest expenses on bank and other loans TREMERFEMAX
(Note 6(a)) ( Ktit6(a)) 24,868
Deposits for loans EXRRES 1,000
Total otherchanges  HAt®®#&s& 25,868
At 31 December 2023 "2023%F12831H 492,756
(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c) HERESRHHALE
Amounts included in the consolidated cash flow statement HAGEHERERNBESEEIE
for leases comprise the following: AT &8 :
2024 2023
2024%F 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARET T
Within operating cash flows: EREREREN
- Lease rental paid - EfHERS (99) (247)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

B F2024F 12531 H 1F /&
19 BANK AND OTHER LOANS 19 BITREMERK
(a) The Group’s bank and other loans comprise: (a) X"EEBNRTREMEREHE

2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET ARET

Bank loans: RITER:
— Secured — BiK# 378,504 383,526
- Unsecured — HIEH 48,059 47,071
426,563 430,597

Other loans: HMERK:
- Secured - A 93,652 60,659
- Unsecured — IR 1,552 1,500
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 95,204 62,159
521,767 492,756
All of the bank and other loans are carried at amortised FEHRTREMETIREBHEK K

costs. BE o
(b) The bank and other loans were repayable as follows: (b) RITREMEREEFEZWT :

2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AR¥ET
Within 1 year or on demand —FRARZER 157,155 202,073
After 1 year but within 2 years —FHRERMER 187,744 128,266
After 2 years but within 5 years MEREBRAEFER 176,868 162,417
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 364,612 290,683
521,767 492,756

166 Canggang Railway Limited e Annual Report 2024



19 BANK AND OTHER LOANS (continued)

(c)

(d)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

At 31 December 2024, the Group’s secured bank (c)
loans of RMB378,504,000 (2023: RMB383,526,000)

were secured by the following assets and future rail
transportation revenue of the Group:

B 85 ¥ AR B RE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024F 12531 H IE FE

19 RITRHEMER (F)

A2024F128318 - Z&E B AH A
K #378,504,000 T (2023%F : A K
#5383,526,000Tt) WA EIFLRTE
R UREBH T MREER R RE R
EmbkSERR:

2024 2023
2024 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRE AR¥TR

Carrying amount: BREE :
Property, plant and equipment ME - BERZE
(Note 11(ii)) (K1aF11(ii) 6,976 7,297
Right-of-use assets (Note 12(ii) EREERE (Ba12(i) 103,602 112,385
110,578 119,682

Included in the Group’s secured bank loans as at 31
December 2024, RMB48,048,000 (2023: RMB50,041,000)
were also guaranteed by Cangzhou Railway Logistics
Services Company Limited (“Cangzhou Logistics”), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

At 31 December 2024, the Group’s secured other loans (d)
of RMB93,652,000 (2023: RMB60,659,000) were secured
by the following assets of the Group:

RE B A2024F12A31 8 1Y A K 47
RITERT » HBHAKY48,048,000
7t (20234 : A K ¥50,041,0007T)
HNEBETHAMNEBEYRERQT
(FaMNRD (RAT—HEE2EHB
AR RHEER -

N2024F12H318 ' ZEBAE A
K #93,652,0007T (2023F : AK¥
60,659,0007T) WE KB EMERT

DUAEEMNTMREEERKT
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRE AR®¥TR

Carrying amount: BRMEE :
Property, plant and equipment MHE - BERZE
(Note 11(iii) (B2E11(iii))

190,193 127,860

Included in the Group’s secured other loans as at 31
December 2024, RMB63,130,000 (2023: RMB9,020,000)
were guaranteed by Cangzhou Logistics and
RMB30,523,000 (2023: RMB51,639,000) were secured by
equity interests of Canggang Company held by Cangzhou
Logistics.

R E B A2024F 128318 1Y A K 7
HtER+ » BB ARY63,130,000
7t (2023%F : A K%9,020,0007T) &Y
SHEBAMNIRIEHRER  ZSAHA
R #£30,523,0007T (2023%F : AR
51,639,0007T) K< 8 B LUR M ¥R
EEWRBARRAERIERI o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
B B2024F 12531 H 1L FE

19 BANK AND OTHER LOANS (continued)

(e) As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s unsecured
bank loans amounting to RMB48,059,000 (2023:
RMB47,071,000), guaranteed by Cangzhou Logistics,
are interest-bearing at 4.50% (2023: 5.50%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s unsecured other
loans amounting to RMB1,552,000 (2023: RMB1,500,000)
are interest-bearing at 4.75% (2023: 4.75%) per annum.

20 TRADE PAYABLES

21

168 Canggang Railway Limited

All of the trade payables are expected to be settled within one
year or are repayable on demand. As of the end of the reporting
period, the aging analysis of the Group’s trade payables, based

on the invoice date, is as follows:

19 RITRHEMER (F)

A2024%F12H318 ' AEBE KN EIR
HIRITER A A K %48,059,000T
(2023%F : AR *¥47,071,0007T) ' H
BEMNYRIERIER > REFEL50%
(20234 : 5.50%) 5t & °

(e)

MA2024F 128310 » AEBE M EE
HHMEZ A AR1,552,0007T
(20234 : A R #1,500,0007T) * &
F R ZRL.75% (20235F : 4.75% ) 5t
B o

20 EFFENRE

FEEZRBARBERBEN-—FAEES
AEEREE - RBEHPR  AEEEZ
EAREERZZRHNRERIFTOT

2024 2023
2024 % 2023%
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T ARBEF T
Within 1 month 1B BN 13,320 11,831
1 to 3 months 12318 B 3,923 2,906
3 to 6 months 3Z6{8 A 2,638 3,515
6 to 12 months 6E1218 B 1,663 349
Over 12 months 1218 B L £ 1,900 897
23,444 19,498
OTHER PAYABLES 21 HAib B KA
2024 2023
2024 % 2023%
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T ARBEF T
Payables for acquisitions of property, plant UWEBY% - BE &R & EN
and equipment IE 203 7,449
Payables for acquisitions of right-of-use WiEFEREEENEMARIEA
assets - 5,530
Payables for staff costs and BIRAREMEEH
other labor costs XS FE S FR 8 1,912 5,052
Dividends payable BARE 2,432 2,380
Others Hitb 3,162 3,492
Financial liabilities measured at amortised IREERAFTENEHERS
cost 7,709 23,903

All of the other payables are expected to be settled within one

year or are repayable on demand.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 85 ¥ AR B RE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B F20244F12H31H IF F/&E
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT AR®BTR

Prepayments received from customers for HEHZEFUWEREKREER HE8

rail freight transportation and related & B AR 7 7R 9 I8
ancillary services 3,268 4,084
Prepayments received from customers for HEFWHMHNWE 5 £
trading business EARE 3,001 3,029
6,269 7,113
The Group receives prepayments from certain customers on RIEZEMTER  KEFZHE TEFIWE
acceptance of the orders. The prepayments are recognised FENFE ENFENEIBENERE
as contract liabilities until the Group recognised the related BEEAREEBRIBBAKRSSLL -
revenue.
Movements in contract liabilities SHEERT
2024 2023
20244 2023%
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARET T
Balance at 1 January M1A1B &R 7,113 2,377

Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of R NI EAE?JJ*)\A?’J

recognising revenue during the year that %E’\JUQ%&FE BWANEE

was included in the contract liabilities at the JE 4

beginning of the year (7,113) (2,377)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of EERRBHAHAREFRE

billing in advance of performance at the BNEHNE BN

end of the year 6,269 7,113
Balance at 31 December M12831 B W& 6,269 7,113
No contract liabilities are expected to be recognized as revenue TEEANEEEHENBE —FEEIA
after more than one year. IRz o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
B B2024F 12531 H 1L FE

23 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

23 HREHBRRARANAER

(@) Movements of current taxation in the consolidated
statement of financial position are as follows:

(a) HFEMBRRRAEDHHRENE S W
T:

2024 2023

2024%F 2023%F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR%T T AR®F T

Income tax payable at 1 January M1A1BENFRER 7,632 13,812
Provision for the year (Note 7(a)) FARE (7)) 16,160 26,700
Income tax paid 2 13 15 Bt (15,427) (32,880)
Income tax payable at 31 December R12A31BEWERFIBH 8,365 7,632

(b) Deferred tax assets recognised

(b) ERRELHRIBEEE

170 Canggang Railway Limited

The deferred tax assets recognised in the consolidated

FRRGS PR REZELED

statement of financial position and the movements during BHEERSEWUOT :
the year are as follows:
2024 2023
2024 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARBT T
Deferred tax assets BEERIBEEE 961 6,381
Depreciation Credit loss
of property,  Impairment of  Depreciation allowance Loss Dividend
EERAEER plantand property, plant of ight-of-use  ontrade  allowanceon  withholding
Deferred tax assets arising from: AT & EES | equipment  and equipment assets  receivables  inventories fax Others Total
0% HER 0% EER BRE E5EUAD

RERE  REHE  EEFE GEFERE GHEEERE  REEAR B it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARRTT  ARRTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARMTR  ARETR  ARMTR
At 1 January 2023 HO03E1R 1A 3,028 29 1,83 897 - - 356 5793
Credited/(charged) to profitorloss i A/ (1B E) E& 109 @ 106 7 750 (1,000) 590 588
At 31 December 2023 H2023E12A31H 3137 187 1,389 a2 750 (1,000) 946 6,381
Charged to profit or loss Lt (763) (37 (1,716) @) (688) (1,400) (174 (5,420)
At 31 December 2024 H004E12R31A 2374 150 (327) %0 62 (2,400) 112 %!
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(c)

(d)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Deferred tax assets not recognised

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note
2(qg), the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets
in respect of cumulative tax losses of RMB6,755,000 at
31 December 2024 (2023: RMB5,180,000), as it is not
probable that future taxable profits against which the
losses can be utilised will be available to the relevant
subsidiaries. The tax losses expire within the next five
years from it incurred.

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

At 31 December 2024, taxable temporary differences
relating to the undistributed profits of the Group’s
subsidiaries established in the PRC (excluding Hong Kong)
amounted to RMB504,384,000 (2023: RMB553,174,000),
where deferred tax liabilities in respect of the PRC
Withholding Tax that would be payable on the distribution
of these profits, have not been recognised as the Company
controls the dividend policy of these subsidiaries and it
has been determined that it is probable that such profits
will not be distributed in the foreseeable future.

(c)

(d)

REBEBRARAR o

B 85 ¥ AR B RE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024F 12531 H IE FE

AEANELEHAEE

RIBMF2Q)MEMNEFTEE K&
B 37 2 5L A2024F12B31H €5 A
AR#¥6,755,0007T (2023%F : AREE
5,180,0007t) K 2T HIBE 18R IE
ERIEEE  FE2BEMNBLATT
KA B8 R SR FE SR i I LUK 85 7] fit
BRAHIERE BREBERELR
FFEREH -

AEANEEHEARR

MA2024F128318 - EAREFR &
B (TBEEE)RIHNKE QTN
AOTENEENEREHERZES
A R #504,384,0007T (20234 : A
R #553,174,0007t) * EHhEBERD
IRZEER SRS REEINFRNIE
EREEEERER  EERAQT
BHZEWBARNRKRERE » 1B
BEEBEGFAETENAARKRR
DK °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 AR B A

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B 22024412531 H IF &
(a) Movements in components of equity (a) ERARBOWEEH
The reconciliation between the opening and closing REBFREEZSHEKIBD P EME
balance of each component of the Group’s consolidated EREGBNERINGEERZEH
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes Ko
in equity.
Details of the changes in the Company’s individual 7R BB BIHE %5 48 B 28 o HA HA ) ER HR
components of equity between the beginning and the end RNBEEBTHN T -
of the period are set out below.
Share held for
share award Exchange  Accumulated
Share capital Share premium scheme reserve losses Total
Rty kBita
kx RHEE frisi b ESiff RitER @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTRL  ARMTR  ARETR  AR®TR  ARETR  AR%T:R
At 1 January 2023 2023%1A1A 8,607 107,871 (49,916) (8,107) (8,218) 50,237
Changes in equity for the year ~ B Z2023F12A318 L £E
ended 31 December 2023: MEREE:
Profit for the year EERR - - - - 26,239 26,239
Total comprehensive income EE2ANGES
for the year - - - - 26,239 26,239
Dividends approved in respect ~ $tL-FEHERE
of the previous year - - - - (28,000) (28,000)
Puchaseof wnshares  BARSESE o S el o T (e
At 31 December 2023 R2023F12A31R 8,607 107,871 (94,542) (8,107) (9,979 3,850
Changes in equity for the year ~ EZ204F12A318 L £E
ended 31 December 2024: MEREE:
Profit for the year EERT - - - - 56,130 56,130
Total comprehensive income EEEANGEE
for the year - - - - 56,130 56,130
Dividends approved in respect ~ $tL—FEHERE
oftepeisyer S - - L I 2L
At 31 December 2024 R2024F12A31R 8,607 107,871 (94,542) (8,107) 24,150 37,979
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 85 ¥ AR B RE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024F 12531 H IE FE

24 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS/ 24 B - EERRE DK

DISTRIBUTIONS (continued) (48)
(b) Dividends (b) BE
()  Dividends payable to owners of the Company () FRENEKLGEBEANIEKE
attributable to the year
2024 2023
2024F 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000

(i)

ARBTRT AR®BTR

Final dividend proposed after the $REBARBEZNREARES

end of the reporting period of REBERARK06SD

RMBO0.6 cent per ordinary share (20235 : AR®0.6%)

(2023: RMBO0.6 cent) 24,000 24,000
The final dividend proposed after the end of the BREPREEZHRPRENAR
reporting period has not been recognised as a liability HFHRREBERLEE -
at the end of the reporting period.

Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the (i) RAFEEHERIFNT L —FEE
Company attributable to the previous year, approved 1T R e EB A IR 2
and paid during the year
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT AR®BTR

Final dividend in respect of the RAEAFEMERKST E—F
previous year, approved and paid ENRPRESRZTERA
during the year, of RMBO0.6 cent K#0.67 (2023%F : AR
per ordinary share 2.8047)
(2023: RMB2.80 cents) 22,001 28,000
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B %5 AR B A

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B F2024F 12H31HILFE

(c) Share capital (c) B
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
No. of shares No. of shares
ROHAE ROHE
’000 HK$’000 000 HK$’000
TR TET TR TER
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.0025 & £0.0025% Jt (2023
(2023: HK$0.01) each F:0.018T) HE
(Note (})) BR (M)
At 1 January M1B1H 10,000,000 100,000 10,000,000 100,000
Share subdivision (Note (i) B2 2 1 (F1:%()) 30,000,000 - - -
31 December M12A831H 40,000,000 100,000 10,000,000 100,000
2024 2023
20244 20235
No. of shares No. of shares
ROHAE ROHE
’000 HK$’000 000 HK$’000
TR TET TR FTER
Ordinary shares, issued EETRBARCEER
and fully paid
At 1 January M1 B1H 1,000,000 8,607 1,000,000 8,607
Share subdivision (Note (i) B %2 37 (A132()) 3,000,000 = - -
31 December M12831H 4,000,000 8,607 1,000,000 8,607
Note: Yoz
(i) On 19 January 2024, the shareholders of the Company () 2024518198 RAFABE
approved the proposed share subdivision, in which each NBEBRAS L ERSIRG
issued and unissued share with a par value of HK$0.01 each S EhES KR EME.01ETH
be subdivided into four (4) subdivided shares with a par CRATARAETRMDFBMNAE)
value of HK$0.0025 each and such share subdivision was BR 4 IR E {E0.0025% 7T 19 IF 40 R
effective on 23 January 2024. Upon the share subdivision 5 TR {ﬁ’;}?ﬁEEAZO24¢1H23
becoming effective, 4,000,000,000 subdivided shares are in BEM - RBHODIFENE B
issue and fully paid or credited as fully paid. The authorised 4,000,000,00003 2 & 2 5 A IS B
share capital of the Company has become HK$100,000,000 i%ﬁEE'JE%{T?ﬁiH]Hxﬁ AT
divided into 40,000,000,000 subdivided shares of par value 3 BB 248 B 5100,000,0005E 7T -
of HK$0.0025 each. Details are set out in the Company’s % $40,000,000, OOOHxi BRE A
circular dated 3 January 2024. 0.002 5r§7l: Eﬁﬁgﬁgﬁﬁ Bt R
AARATF BEA2024F1 A3 WA
BK o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Share premium

The application of the share premium account is
governed by the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands.

Other reserve

The balances of other reserve at 31 December 2024
and 2023 represent the capital reserve of Canggang
Company and Puji Global Limited, wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Company.

Statutory reserve

In accordance with the relevant PRC laws and
regulations, the Company’s subsidiaries established
and operated in Mainland China are required to
transfer 10% of their net profit to the statutory
reserve until the reserve balance reaches 50% of
the respective registered capital. The transfer to
this reserve must be made before distributions to
equity holders. This reserve can be utilised in setting
off accumulated losses or increase capital of the
subsidiaries and is non-distributable other than in
liquidation.

Safety production fund reserve

The Group is engaged in freight transportation
business. In accordance with the regulations issued
by Ministry of Finance and State Administration of
Work Safety of the PRC, the Group is required to
establish a special reserve namely safety production
fund reserve, which is calculated at 1% of the regular
freight transportation revenue and 1.5% of the
dangerous goods freight transportation revenue of
the previous year. The safety production fund reserve
is mainly used for the acquisitions and maintenance
of safety equipment and facilities. For the purpose
of financial statements, such reserve is established
through an appropriation from retained earnings
based on the aforementioned method and is utilised
when the related expenditures are incurred.

B 85 ¥ AR B RE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024F 12531 H IE FE

(d) RENEERAE

()

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

REBEBRARAR o

R E

RO EERNEASHERS
NEEFE22F (1961F 5E355 5%
5l BIERERIEE]) EE -

Htuf# e

FA2024 % F2023F12A31A MY
HibhfREERIERB AT REE
BREERAT (K2 ANEEH
BT WERGEE -

EE W E

RIBHEMRBEZNER A2
B R B 1 R 37 K B Y B
RNEAEBRERBN10%ER
BREZEEMRE  BERBEER
EINEBEMEARNS0% - @
ZFFHELHNERARCOERE
BAELDIRATEL - BREEE
A AR IR 85 R AT A IR Sk B 2 7]
2E - BRERN - FAUARD
ik °

2L ERLWHE

AEBEREEEER - RIEPH
FHRREERZEEEEEEE
HARBEMNEAE  RAEBEER
VEIEFE(NZ2EERSK
%) BE/BEIRLEL-—RBAFEE
—REEREN1IvKkEERE
BWREMNIS%TE -Z24EE
HeRmBITEARBEREE
ZERBRERE o I ERE M
S EHEREEINERLARGEESR
BREBENBRMEL » WHEE
EEERZEEA -

2024 E®H 175



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 AR B A

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B F2024F 12H31HILFE

(d)

(e)

176 Canggang Railway Limited e

(continued)
Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)
(v) Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
difference arising from the translation of the financial
statements of the companies comprising the Group
into the Group’s presentation currency. The reserve is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies
set out in Note 2(t).

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns
for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders,
by pricing products and services commensurately with
the level of risk and by securing access to finance at a
reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between the
higher shareholders returns that might be possible with
higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and
security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes
adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in
economic conditions.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject
to any externally imposed capital requirements.
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(e)

EENEER AR (&)
(v) [EZFE
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(f)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)
Share award scheme

A share award scheme was adopted by the Company on
28 September 2022 (the “Share Award Scheme”). The
objective of the Share Award Scheme is to recognise and
motivate the contributions of the eligible participants to
align the interests of the eligible participants with those of
the Company and strive for the future development and
expansion of the Group and to attract suitable personnel
for further development of the Group through the Share
Award Scheme to the selected participants.

The awarded shares will be subscribed for and/or
purchased by an independent trustee (the “Trustee”) from
the open market by utilising the funds to be allocated by
the directors and/or authorised person of the Company
out of the Company’s resources. The maximum number of
awarded shares to be subscribed for and/or purchased by
the Trustee for the purpose of the Share Award Scheme
shall not exceed 10% of the total number of issued share
capital from time to time.

The Share Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for a
period of 10 years commencing from 28 September 2022
or may be terminated earlier as determined by the Board of
Directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Trustee
has not purchased shares of the Company. During
the year ended 31 December 2023, the Trustee has
purchased 15,252,000 shares of the Company on the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange, with an aggregate amount
of approximately RMB44,626,000. The Trustee had
repurchased a total of 59,878,000 shares as of 31
December 2023. Upon the share subdivision becoming
effective on 23 January 2024, a total of 239,512,000
shares had been repurchased as of 31 December 2024. No
shares were granted to any person under the share award
scheme as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The consideration paid for the purchase of the Company’s
shares is reflected as a debit in share held for share
award scheme of the Company. The fair value of the
employee services received in exchange for the grant
of shares is recognised as staff costs in profit or loss
with a corresponding increase in capital reserve, which
is measured based on the grant date share price of the
Company.

(f)

ABEEAERAT o 2024FFIH
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f 10 82 b =1 &

RRATER2022F9 A28 H KA IR 17
ZEETE (TR ERETE]) - Ripie
BB EER TN HBEERSEHE
EHER BEBMETSHEERHBR
PREBFE > BEERSHEENRZE
HEARNTBRZEE > MBOEEK
EEPRRERRER  WKSIEE
ATSHAEENE —FBE -

BYZTEATZRADFMAARLF
BEER ABRBALTEEADAER
FOERNES OB SRBR,
HBERBR - B REEET
= EREATRBR RBENRS
REROHHBETSEBIRESEITR
RBEH10% °

IR 1 2% B =t 815 B 2022F9 A28 H i
STEHERENREN  HUTHES
BREREKL-

B ZE2024F12B31B L EE &5
AN AR D TR M o B E2023
F12A31HILFEE ZEACESR
78 B 32 AT B8 A 15,252,0008% &K A 7]
B BEENEARYAL4,626,000
7T ° A2023%F12H31H ' T AL
#8[E 4 1£59,878,00008 R 17 » IR0 2
FH2024F1 B23 B £ %% » 2024
F12831H » 4 #£239,512,0008% f%
7B F @ - }A20245F K20235F12
B318 » WERIER D EBTEET
WMAEEFRS -

BEARAROIAHRERRERT
ARRB RO RBTEFRERG - &
BRERRTROMEENERSE 2D
FEDREETEIABETIHAL &
BEFRHZARARAROERTENE
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
B F2024F 12H31HILFE

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest, currency and price rate
risks arises in the normal course of the Group’s business.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to
manage these risks are described below.

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to
the Group. The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable
to trade receivables. The Group’s exposure to credit
risk arising from cash and cash equivalents and bills
receivable is limited because the counterparties are banks
and financial institutions with high credit ratings assigned
by the management of the Group, for which the Group
considers to have low credit risk.

The Group does not provide any guarantees which would
expose the Group to credit risk.

Trade receivables

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer rather than
the industry or country in which the customers operate
and therefore significant concentrations of credit risk
primarily arise when the Group has significant exposure to
individual customers. At the end of the reporting period,
44% (2023: 5%) of the total trade receivables was due
from the Group’s largest customer and 70% (2023: 20%)
of the total trade receivables was due from the five largest
customers.

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all
customers requiring credit over a certain amount. These
evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of making
payments when due and current ability to pay, and take
into account information specific to the customer as well
as pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customer operates. Trade receivables are due within 30
days from the date of billing. Normally, the Group does not
obtain collateral from customers.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(@) Credit risk (continued)
Trade receivables (continued)

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables
and contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs,
which is calculated using a provision matrix. As the
Group’s historical credit loss experience does not indicate
significantly different loss patterns for different customer
segments, the loss allowance based on past due status
is not further distinguished between the Group’s different
customer bases.

The following table provides information about the Group’s
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables at
the end of each reporting period:

B 85 ¥ AR B RE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024F 12531 H IE FE

(a) FERR(H)

EBEZREWNIE (&)

FEEEEERE2HEAREEHEN
SHABESRUBTERSNEER
BRE ARSEDERREER
E5H dARAEEBEFEEBREL
RIEBERTEAEF DMHBBRERX
BEARER  AURREBEHMRRE
REERERIBEAEETRETF
HeBEFE-SED -

TREHBAASENSH/ENRE
HWEERRREESBRRERBRE
EFENER

2024
20244
Expected loss  Gross carrying Loss
rate amount allowance
RHERE BEEEE BREEE
% RMB’000 RMB’000

% AR®TR AR®TR

Current and less than 6 months past Bl HA & 81 88 T~ 2618 A

due 0.38% 48,908 203
6-12 months past due w6 ZE 1218 A 3.88% 8,546 373
Over 12 months past due B EAEB1218 B 15.61%-100.00% 4,635 3,252

62,089 3,828
2023
2023F
Gross carrying Loss
Expected loss rate amount allowance
RABEXR BEERE BREE
% RMB’000 RMB’000

% ARBTR ARBTR

Current and less than 6 months past ENHi % B~ 2618 B

due 0.48% 44,123 211
6-12 months past due mEeZE 1218 A 7.72% 3,666 283
Over 12 months past due HEBBE12EA 48.29%-100.00% 3,465 3,390

51,254 3,884
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
B F2024F 12H31HILFE

(a)

(b)

180 Canggang Railway Limited e

Credit risk (continued)
Trade receivables (continued)

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience
over the past 3 years. These rates are adjusted to reflect
differences between economic conditions during the year
over which the historic data has been collected, current
conditions and the Group’s view of economic conditions
over the expected lives of the receivables.

Movements in the loss allowance account in respect of
trade receivables are as follows:

(a)

FERR (&)
BEZRWIE (&)

RHEERDEARNBE=FNERES
BERSTESH - 2SHREFHAR
LU BR U SR R SR BB F B Y AR B AR
W B RTAR O B R [ P W SRR TR
SAEHRAEERRNE LR ZBHNE
Ho

B RWRBAEESERERNES
W

2024 2023

2024 2023%F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® T AR¥ET T

At the beginning of the year REA) 3,884 3,592

Impairment loss (reversed)/recognised F R (@) AW

during the year VERIEESE ] (56) 292

At the end of the year REXR 3,828 3,884
Liquidity risk (b) REBESEMR

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending covenants
to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and
adequate committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short
and longer term.

The following tables show the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of each reporting period of the
Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities, which are based
on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest
payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating,
based on rates current at the end of the respective
reporting period) and the earliest dates the Group can be
required to pay:

Annual Report 2024
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 85 ¥ AR B RE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B F20244F12H31H IF F/&E
25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 25 TRIEREEREMIARD
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL 1B (&)
INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (continued) (b) RBELRER (&)
2024
20245
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
ENRREASRT
More than More than
Within 1year 2 years but
1 year or but less than less than Carrying
on demand 2 years 5 years Total amount
-FR BB-F BEBWE
FREX  EOREE EOREE At EEE

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARETR AR%TR ARBTR ARET:R

Bank and other loans BIREMER 181,497 199,611 180,997 562,105 521,767
Trade payables EFEARE 23,444 - - 23,444 23,444
Other payables HitfE (R 7,709 - - 7,709 7,709

212,650 199,611 180,997 593,258 552,920

2023
2023%
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
BNREBRERE
More than More than
Within 1year 2 years but
1 yearor butless than less than Carrying
on demand 2 years 5 years Total amount
—FRX BB-F BBMF
FREX  BIRWE BIREE @t REE

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETR ARBTR ARBTR ARETR ARETR

Bank and other loans RITRAMER 222,137 141,121 176,809 540,067 492,756
Trade payables EFEARE 19,498 - - 19,498 19,498
Other payables HtEARE 23,903 - - 23,903 23,903

265,538 141,121 176,809 583,468 536,157
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

B B2024F 12531 H 1L FE
25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 25 cRiEEEREMIARN
AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL FE(E)
INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(c) Interest rate risk (c) F=E=REbx
The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from interest- AEBNANZRREERBTEAE
bearing borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable rates F o IFHAREEENREHNE
and at fixed rates expose the Group to cash flow interest HESAREESHEHBEESRENER
rate risk and fair value interest rate risk, respectively. M AP ERMEREBE -
(i) Interest rate profile (i) FIZEHE
The following table details the interest rate profile of TRINHEAEEASHREHRN
the Group’s borrowings at the end of each reporting ERFREEFHE
period:
2024 2023
2024%F 2023%F
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
BERF= ERFIZ
% RMB’000 % RMB’000
% ARETR % ARETR
Fixed rate borrowings EEFEER
Bank loans RITEN 3.65%-5.5% 383,005 3.0%-5.5% 430,597
Other loans HitEX 4.0%-6.56% 95,204  4.0%-4.75% 62,159
478,209 492,756
Variable rate borrowings FBARER
Bank loans RITEN 4.8% 43,558 - -
Total borrowings ERAR 521,767 492,756
Fixed rate borrowings as a B E R ZERIEER
percentage of total borrowings BENADL 92% 100%
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(c) Interest rate risk (continued)
(i)  Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2024, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest
rates, with all other variables held constant, would
have decreased/increased the Group’s profit after tax
and retained profits by approximately RMB328,000
(2023: RMB Nil).

The sensitivity analyses above indicate the Group’s
exposure to cash flow interest rate risk arising from
floating rate non-derivative instruments held by
the Group at 31 December 2024. The impact on
the Group’s profit after tax (and retained profits) is
estimated as an impact on interest expense or income
of such a change in interest rates. The analysis is
performed on the same basis for 2023.

(d) Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
receivables, payables and cash balances that are
denominated in a foreign currency, a currency other than
the functional currency of the operations to which the
transactions relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk
are primarily HK$.

The Group ensures that the net exposure is kept to an
acceptable level, by buying or selling foreign currencies
at spot rates where necessary to address short-term
imbalances.

(c)

(d)

B 85 ¥ AR B RE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024F 12531 H IE FE

FRE b (&)
(i) BBE DY

H20245F 128318 » R A=
BELEH T EI100MEE B 1
5t MEATBEEMEERETE
BEHRXREBNRBREZRZAR
REBABD ENHARE
328,000 (2023F : ARKEZ
JT) °

i SRESTBERNEERE
A2024F12831B FriE 2 B3k
TTETEMEENBRESRENR
Bk o  BAEBBRFREERN (K
REBEF) WL IR EER =R
SR EAIHRA NG
5o b D AT IR E2023F HEE
FEHET o

EW AR

AEEEHNEERREZREN
SN (R ZHBAXBNNEER
LLONE ) SHE R B WFOIR - B
FMIER B SRR o SIBULTHERARNE
WEERBIT-

AEEEHEARE B R A DLBD B R
BEAREHNEUABREM RGNS
o RS FRE R ARFRAEZ K

7 o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
B B2024F 12531 H 1L FE

25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 25 SREAREEREMIAR

AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL ¥1E(F)

INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(d) Currency risk (continued) (d) E¥REKE(E)

()  Exposure to currency risk () FTERE N E R

The following table details the Group’s exposure at TREVAEBRFEHRAE
the end of the reporting period to currency risk arising HSERUEBEESREINEE UINNE
from recognised assets or liabilities denominated in B ENEEIREEREREM
a currency other than the functional currency of the EENERRER - R2HENM
entity to which they relate. For presentation purposes, = FEBERRNESIEUIRFELE
the amounts of the exposure are shown in RMB, HHEHEZBRENARES
translated using the spot rate at the year end date. R~ °

Exposure to
foreign currencies
(expressed in RMB)
SIS L B
(LAR®IIR)

2024 2023
2024 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBT T

Cash and cash equivalents HeNBEESEEER 3,600 5,473
Prepayment and other receivables FE A FUIE e H Ath FE UK R IB 2,518 8
Other payables Hth B FR1E (2,432) (2,380)
Exposure arising from recognised BERREEREBEBELE

assets and liabilities Y [ B 3,686 3,101
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(d) Currency risk (continued)

(i)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the instantaneous
change in the Group’s profit after tax (and retained
profits) that would arise if foreign exchange rates to
which the Group has significant exposure at the end
of the reporting period had changed at that date,
assuming all other risk variables remained constant.

B 85 ¥ AR B RE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024F 12531 H IE FE

(d) E%WEE (&)
(i) BHERE DT

TREREBERREREN (R
REER) EAEERREHR
AZEXERIERNZARE
B (BRRAA A EERE
EEFTE)NBERTUEHER
BVBNBS 2 o

2024 2023

20244 2023%F
Increase/ Increase/
Increase/  (decrease) in Increase/ (decrease) in
(decrease) profit after tax (decrease)  profit after tax
in foreign and retained in foreign and retained
exchange rates profits  exchange rates profits
BRE&ERR BB RN R
Ex RE T Ex REEA
E#/(FR)  #m/(AY) L#/(TE)  &0/06P)
% RMB’000 % RMB’000
% ARETR % ARBTR
HK$ BT 5% 184 5% 155
(5%) (184) (5%) (155)

Results of the analysis as presented in the above table
represent an aggregation of the instantaneous effects
on each of the Group entities’ profit after tax and
retained profits measured in the respective functional
currencies, translated into RMB at the exchange
rate ruling at the end of the reporting period for
presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in
foreign exchange rates had been applied to remeasure
those financial instruments held by the Group which
expose the Group to foreign currency risk at the
end of the reporting period, including inter-company
payables and receivables within the Group which are
denominated in a currency other than the functional
currencies of the lender or the borrower. The analysis
is performed on the same basis for 2023.

EREINDIMERAKREEE
FEERREADEERTENR
B &R A &% AR &R A B & 5 ENES
T8 WH2IENMRREH
RAWERERBEDARYE -

BHBED T BRRBEHREEF
ALhEERSHEHTERNER
FriEEtERAEBmEINER
BMHNERMIE  BEEEANATE
BB S RMEH e E B LNNE
HEETHE R FEAS FOE K EURFRE o
I 2 7 3% B22023F fH [F) B
1T
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
B F2024F 12H31HILFE

(e)

(f)

186 Canggang Railway Limited e

Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its
investments in equity securities measured at FVTPL. The
Group has appointed a special team to monitor the price
risk and will consider hedging the risk exposure should the
need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses have been determined based on
the exposure to equity price risk at the reporting date.
Sensitivity analyses for unquoted equity securities with
fair value measurement categorised within Level 3 were
disclosed in Note 25(f).

If the prices of the equity instruments with fair value
measurement categorised within Level 1 had been
10% higher/lower, the profit after tax for the year
ended 31 December 2024 would increase/decrease by
RMB3,445,000 as a result of the changes in fair value of
investments at FVTPL.

(e) ERER

AEEBRBEBBRRAFETEN
BARSREMYREEERRER - &
SEEZR—XEFHEBRERERER
B WEEAZERZEETAEY
9B o

BRED M IRARE B FTEE W
REBREREHE - A FEFTEHT
BEIFNERERAZHNHBE
DR 250 E -

HAFEFTERINEFIRBERAR
BENERLEHA " THEI0% B2
2024F12A31HELEENKBRIKR %
BAEEBEBEZRATETEN
REBESBMEN, B AR
3,445,0007T ©

Fair value measurement () AFEFZ
The following table analysed the financial instruments TREBREPRUDNFETENET TS
which are measured at fair value at the end of the reporting TER=ZHMERDW -
period into the three-level hierarchy.
Fair value Valuation techniques Significant
Fair value hierarchy and key inputs unobservable inputs
AVE LYEER GERMRBERANE EATUERBAHE
2024 2023
20245 2023F
RMB’000  RMB'000
AR¥TR ARBTR
Financial assets HHEE
Quoted prices in active
Level 1 market N/A
Listed securities IS 34,454 - BB ERMELNRE TER
Level Asset-based approach Net asset value (Nofe ()
Unlisted equity securities £ EmRAE% 3,964 - #34 BEHEL EEREMWH))

38,418 -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Fair value measurement (continued)
Note:
(i) The Group has determined that the net asset value

represents the fair value at the end of the reporting period.
The higher the net assets value, the higher the fair value.

There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 during the
year.

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

(f)

B 85 ¥ AR B RE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024F 12531 H IE FE

AT @B (H)

S

() AEBAT AEFERRNEE
MANATE - REFELE 2
FEAE -

RER - BEEEIRRE2R 2EH
B

FEIR R FEBHIE AR

Financial

assets at

FVTPL

EBER

RRAFE

AR

cTHEE

RMB’000

AR TR

At 1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 72023%F181H K2023F12H31H -
Purchased BE 4,000
Net loss arising from change in fair value NP ESBHELENBE R (36)
At 31 December 2024 R2024F12831H 3,964

Of the total gains or losses for the period included in profit
or loss, RMB36,000 loss (2023: RMB Nil) relates to unlisted
equity securities held at the end of the current reporting
period. Fair value gains or losses on unlisted equity
securities are included in “other income, net”.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments
carried at cost or amortised cost are not materially
different from their fair values as at 31 December 2024 and
2023.

ABEEAERAT o 2024FFIH

AT AEENKREREEELEE
o B8 A R %36,0007T (20234 -
ARBER)ERAREPRFTEIE
FABRAESEE FELTREAES
MAFEKREREBEEHATE AU
ASREE] -

A2024F K 2023F 128318 » & &

B3 R AN AT BRI SR T A
MIREEREAFPETEERNEER -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE2024F 12831 A 1L FE
Capital commitments outstanding at the end of each reporting A 3R & H R 18 R 2 ATE 4 R R B S 3R 3k
period not provided for in the financial statements were as STIRBENEREENT
follows:
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT ARBTRT

Commitments in respect of property, plant BEY%  BER

and equipment: R EIE
- Contracted for - BE & 61,163 2,082
The material related party transactions entered into by the REBRFARATINERBELSIRZER
Group during the year and the balances with related parties at ZMEHAREBEF 2BNERET M
the end of each reporting period are set out below. T o
(a) Key management personnel remuneration (a) FEEBEAESFHMH
Remuneration for key management personnel of the AEBFEEBAEBNHFHN (BES
Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s directors AR AT EEWEIE (M 8T it
as disclosed in Note 8 and certain of the highest paid B)IRENETHRSHFMEENARIE
employees as disclosed in Note 9, is as follows: (WM EEOFRIRTE) ) 0T
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AR®F T
Short-term employee benefits HHEERF 923 808
Total remuneration is included in “Staff costs” (see Note HFNAZEST ATE T RA] (RIHsE
6(b)). 6(b)) °
(b) Transactions with related parties during the year (b) FREBFELETHRS
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBETRT AR®TR

Short-term lease charges Cangzhou EHEEWE
Chengyu Railway Company Limited EMNTEFEREREMT
(“Chengyu Company”) AR (TEFLA] 10 10
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

B 22024F 12531 H L F/E
27 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 271 EXBELIRGREHR (E)
TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES
(continued)
(c) Balances with related parties (c) EARAESF W& &R
The Group’s balances with related parties at the end of AEERSREPREREL 2BH
each reporting period are as follows: BRI ¢
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT AR®BTR

Payables for short-term leases EHE S RN FIE

- Chengyu Company - BFAF - 3

(d) Other related party transactions (d HtBEELIRS

On 12 August 2019, Chengyu Company has granted the M2019F 88128  BFELA A EASE
Group a gratuitous right to use its leasehold land for BIEHEEEMNUFERAEAE L MK
operating the Group’s railway and rail yards for a period of EREENERRERAES  BE
20 years. No rental was charged during the years ended 31 204 o R & £2024%F K 2023F 121
December 2024 and 2023. BTALFELEWEEFEE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 AR B A

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Bt FE20244 12831 H 1 EE
2024 2023
20244 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Ff = ARE T AR¥T T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries* REBRAEHKRE" 13 = -
Financial assets at fair value EBEZEAFEFEDN
through profit or loss TREE 34,454 -
34,454 -
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables Hua e g 3,018 8
Amounts due from subsidiaries  FEURF B A T B 957 936
Cash and cash equivalents HehREEEEHR 9,655 12,022
13,630 12,966
Current liabilities REBEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEA B A B IE 6,811 6,361
Other payables H fih fE {4 FR 18 3,294 2,755
10,105 9,116
Netcurrentassets =~ #"®#E®%E = 38525 3,850
NET ASSETS EEFE 37,979 3,850
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF

FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)

B 85 ¥ AR B RE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
B 22024F 12531 H IE FE

28 1 B B B AR 3= (A7)

2024 2023
2024 % 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
M=t AR®T ARET T

Capital and reserves EXRFE 24
Share capital [N 8,607 8,607
Reserves 1 29,372 (4,757)
TOTAL EQUITY EREH 37,979 3,850

Amounts less than RMB1,000

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issued by the board of directors on 26 March 2025 and are
signed on its behalf by:

Liu Yongliang
8k 5=
Chairman

EFETE

29 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING

PERIOD

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, the Group has no other events after reporting
period.

30 IMMEDIATE PARENT AND ULTIMATE

CONTROLLING PARTY

The directors of the Company consider the immediate parent
and the ultimate controlling party of the Company at 31
December 2024 to be Jinghai Group Investment Limited
(“dinghai Group”) and Mr. Liu Yongliang respectively. Jinghai
Group does not produce financial statements available for
public use.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
EFEMBERE

For the year ended 31 December
BZE12A31ALLFE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
2024 20234 20224 20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR%TR AR®BTRT AR%®TR AR®TR

Revenue Uk = 258,934 349,048 333,430 355,990 361,474
Operating profit TR 106,251 109,546 116,384 128,079 116,815
Profit before taxation B F B E 76,662 84,678 91,132 104,769 89,729
Income tax expense FriSHiE < (21,580) (26,112) (23,209) (27,011) (25,174)
Profit for the year FEER 55,082 58,566 67,923 77,758 64,555
Total comprehensive FEZAEARSE

income for the year Fak-C] 53,915 59,090 66,586 74,938 60,546

As at 31 December
A12H31H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20244 2023%F 2022%F 2021% 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE AREBTT ARETT ARETRT ARETT

Total assets REE 1,374,549 1,325,983 1,318,965 1,281,912 1,318,926
Total liabilities neE 567,554 550,902 530,384 477,479 549,338
Total equity ERBE 806,995 775,081 788,617 804,433 769,588

The summary above does not form part of the audited consolidated LB A EREBERGES M ERRNW—I0
financial statements. o o
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